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It was the result of bit of luck and lot

of dedication We had just been spun

off in October from Pioneer Corpora-

tion and our employees were being told

by former colleagues that the company

couldnt survive the first year

Then in late November the coldest

winter in haifa century swept across

West Texas and the freezing tempera

tures lasted fir weeks We sold more

natural gas than ever and we made lot

of money that first year

The employees who came with us were

courageous and was dedicated to them

was determined to do whatever we had

to do to survive think that same dedi

cation and courage and determination

still exist at Atmos Inergy today

Pocus You have to maintain the focus

that will carry your vision forward

In the past our corporate vision was

about growth and development through

acquisitions That strategy requires

appropriate .risk-taking bit of gambling

and lot of courage

Bob Best was extremely courageous

as CEO in taking steps that tripled the



size of the company Current CEO Kim

Cocklin is showing great deal of cour

age too by investing billions of dollars

in the companys infra structure through

strategic capital spending Not to nsem

bun hes already made tough choices to

divest operations when it made sense It

takes courage to sell profitable opera

lions But its all based on your focus for

the future

Thu becou on induniry rirverirk

in lote 98.5 who you launched iTh

Ti ri.evrr.r hoii in to knauer crf uhidy

We had to do something or the company

wouldnt have survived Our service

territory was limited to West Texas

and it was not growing Whats more

the natural gas business in this country

was being deregulated So with support

from the board we devised plan to

expand and made tender offer for

Trans Louisiana Gas Company which

had recently been in play

CEOs at other utilities and securities

analysts told me was crazy that the deal

would never close But in time our

negotiations turned friendly and we

completed the acquisition Buying Trans

La increased our number ot customers

by about 25 percent We also added many

large industrial rssers to our customer

mix and we diversified operations with

different economy different customer

demands and difidrent state regulations

Most important of all we proved we

could grow by acquiring utility assets

We could build on bigger base so that

we could buy an even larger property

the next time around And thats what

we did again and again

Were investing in growth by putting

pipe in the ground rather than by

the companys mission today not what

it was when Bob was CEO or when

was CEO Kim is brilliant thinker and

financial
strategist as well as dedicated

people person Hes transi tioning the

company focus from acquiring assets

to investing in existing assets hes rein

forcing the infrastructure to seek stable

earnings growtls in the years ahead

acquiring companies Kim is focusing on



hIow 10 .oo o/E the boo term

ture evren tret be so Ito rested

present

theres more to success than just the bot

tom line and the latest quarterly finan

cials Kim Bob and share common

commitment to Atmos Energyb employ

ees That dedication to the employees has

built stronger base than anything else

this company could ever have done

You can talk to company meter

reader you see on the streetand Ive

literally
done itand hell tell you how

much he and his fellow employees love

this company and how dedicated they

are to its success Ith quite contagious

Bob carries this enthusiasm for people

forward and Kim demonstrates the

same passion too With such spirit ith

easier to see the longer-term larger pic

tore thats what makes Atmos Energy

enduring financially or otherwise

The uteety Inrlrestry rio 500
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One thing that should never change is

whats inside youhonesty good moral

character integrity and dedication to

those around you selfish view of the

world undercuts your own effort and

career while it causes the company to

.start going downhill Im confident

Atmos Energy is prepared for the

future because of the strong character



In my case guess th iks sshere igno

rance came in ss as thorn in the side

of management ssas Iways looking

for better ways to do things and was

always curious roanred around all the

departments after was transferred

to the eomp my headqe arters saw

things that could be ti together to be

improved So was aiss ays in my bosss

oflmee eeommending how could do

things better

as nosy id wasnt afraid to speak

up lAs lien you speak up it should never

one to flip gave lip
raises and stock

options so em iployees could get them

could have sold the
company and made

lot of money personally and retired

But could nevei take advantage of the

situation br pcisonal gain had woiked

my way up from humble beginnings and

so had most cit the coilipams einplosees

The trust among us would never have

allowed inc to betray their dedication to

the company

If you want good clean high qualit

company you have to ike decsions

that are good clean and high quality

How do you stay true to your prom

ise gain its toeus Many leaders begin

to think they ie untouchable Once they

get to the top thet get carried away aiid

go off in selfish directions lisey want

to hemy this ompany expand into that

temrmtory join the
tet set or at mtes er

And when loerk at our co vipany

leaders today its the sam lhievme

isurkiug tuethier pulling the team

needed personahi different from inc

to run the eonipany Pvc needed son

one to succeed me ho could take tt

com viny the next lesel took in

while to find the right perso hut knew

what qualities were cedi md thu h0jr

agreed with sm After tew sttenrpts

wei finally able to lii Best arid he

was truly the right he sder leeting in

gave me the physical and in ntal freeelo is

to move on because knew the company

would be itt the righ bands

feel good however otter feel
guilty

about the management sts Is had

use Needless to say in loi king at the

onipany today feel good thom she vi

it is and where its geftmsg
Ihe uture is so

bright fer vtmos wrgy tl solid

leadership inotivats empl wees

sound businesi model and ilua 5k Son

trihut ions tIre communi us sei

Iheir decision making de norat from

whats good for the omparrv to what

exciting for them

hat kind of thinking war form se

be about you but about all of us and the

good ot the company as whole knew it was time Ic change lAse

of its employees Our uccess is due to

the individual integri and morality of We crc heulding company to last not

each employee
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ill tell you what feel the best about

Atmos Energy is in really good shape

Like Charlie Vaughan left at the right

time wanted the company to he not

only financially strong but culturally

sound as well

We completed six mHor acquisitions

We improved customer service put in

new customer-support systems built

world-class technical training center set

up community foundation and forged

supportive political alliances

Most important we developed an

engaging culture Our culture continues

to bloom our people are engaged fts

exciting to see the company progressing

so well in so many ways

Working at Atmos Energy has been

the highlight of my career wouldnt

have had that opportunity had Charlie

not called me one Sunday mormng at

the urging of his wife Barbara cant

thank Charlie and Barbara enough for

all their support and friendship for my

family and me through the years deeply

respect and love them both

am also proud of working with

Charlie and the board to bring Kim

Cocklin to Atrnos Energy Kim and

have been friends for more than 30

years He is an excellent leader who

cares deeply about our enaployees He

is doing an exceptional job as CEO

How wii HInt rOt Erro spys culture corn

tinue to move tho corn po ny hurwn

Ive always said if you make business

about busmess itS bard to rally your

employees It really is Instead youve

St



got to build business rn the foundation

of great culture

in cultivate great ulture means

lot of things It means picking the right

people promoting the ight people and

treating everyone fairly What employees

believe di iv es everything attitude

and
spirit

drive custom service ss hich

is our reputation safety practices coin

rnunity service and fin ncial perfor

mance Culture drives rirything

You hase to focus or financial
per

tormance too becaus ssere measured

by our results But to gow the tinancial

performance you
have to create the right

ehenustry and the
right environment

Unlike most companies Atmos Energy

has had tremendous cc ntinuity with

harhe Vaughan my If and nms Kim

Cocklin Our genuine irutual respect

admu ation and friend hip show that

we are like minded about the value of

creating great culture

Its always intrigued me that
companies

spend niillions dollars on what

would call techn cal tr ining Yet they

dont spend much on hat call spiritual

training to develop th individual in his

or her career

When was first nuned CEO of

another company at age thought

you could tell people hrw to behave But

everyone hears it differently if theres no

common language bout dehired

eultuie that every employee eon see and

experience theres no sense of commu

nrty feeling or persona commitment

So when we embarked on our Atmo

Spirit training relt str ngly that culture

isnt
just something for the rank arid file

Its for everyone and our companys

leaders are re Wired to participate as

muds if not more than
everyone

else

AtmnoSpinrt is hands on experience

In
group meetings our employees

discuss different situations and role play

concepts lilce What does teanrwork

meant that does coaching mean

In erne example participant is blind

folded arid instructed to hit bulls
eye

on target with dart which is almost

impossible Ihen the group leader says

Well lets fry harder ItS obvious that

kind of indircctrcrn is not coaching But

once the
group

leader tells the employee

that the target is feet
away

and feet

high the employees chances of lntf mg

the bulU eye go rip dramatically thats

coaching arid thats the essence of tire

crrltnrre wc instill

People talk about d.ccisrons is though

theyre right or wrong
black or white

Decisions arent innately right or wrong

they are decisions arid they usually are

colored with lots of
grays

You might decide ditlercrmtlv than

ssould yet somebody has tc he the

quarterback Somebodys got to he the

coach Somebodys got to rnalce critical

decisions arid
you

cant disregard plays

sent rn frorir tire sidelines

So you take every thing into account

make the best decision you cars at the

time and their ss atch the resents

No one bats l00 So is nlways

that you crnrsot let pride ego or just

plain
stubbornness eep vo Iron mod

ifyng clecmsmon to make it betti lOs

are riot ons risc ienrt or irifillible were

just
herman beings

My dad vs is oacl so ally thoerghrt

might hcccin cc ich cii day toy

floss ever lie passed assay si hers was

sophomore irs high choc srid decider

not to go that roerte feel much rave

beers cc ich in business cttrng

cIting people tc erndc rstand th in

roles reatinf the right errs ironnierit

Picking the ri lit pm ple bros
reig

thm

might clrenruistry ectinrg em tarn things

of people Sskirrg ople to york tof ether

arid creating comnrsion
gil

flirts

coaching arid
wimrrnrrsg

irs ho imsess the

financial score fe coach rr has hem in

ins calling
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has Atm erssrav so Atousec on

busness

Weve stuck to our knitting Weve had

clear
strategic and tactical path as to what

we need to get done Weve stayed focused

on what we know with our eye on the

ball Weve gotten vera good at it and

were improvmg our game all the time

-a the Don cnsd

505 1hct .shksn

dostDed .a of Atmos ED

The vision of Charlie and the hoard was

clear expectation that the company

would grow through acquisitions As

result Atmos Energy made 10 major

acquisitions Each one added growth and

diversity and expanded the foundation

to make succeeding acquisitions The

company became very good at managing

infrastructure transitioning systems and

integrating new customers It also had

reputation for sound culture and

deep commitment to i.ts employees

Acquiring the TXU Gas assets in

2004 was the largest acquisition the

company had made it doubled our size

It was exciting because we acquired

outstanding assets extremely talented

employees and the opportunity to serve

550 additional communities in TOxas

as well as Dallas the city where we arc

headquartered
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We have worked to improve our rate

sti ucture to he our custoinei and

se company

When you re ins esti ig billions of do

lars in infrastructure improvements the

saying time is money is very true We

have sought to begin re covermg in rates

the investments we iii in mu astruc

ture as soon as possihk as well as to

stait earning turn those invest

nients Regulator lag is its called can

hinder such vigorous replacement and

expansion program lik ours We want

our pipelines compressor stations arid

othei facilities that liver natural gas

to be in top woi king or let to ensure safe

and eliable sei vu for our customers

and cot smumties

s\e also want oui in ome to be mdc

pendent from our customers consunip

ton Weather patterns more efficient

appliances customer conservation even

igh gas prices none of is hich we can

conti ol can dramatic ally affect total

throughput And that anse volatility

can play havoc with tlu customers bills

or the .onipanys earn ngs

lhciefore we have ut in place rate

mechanisms based on the ins estments

weve made in our
sy

sfi md fall

ompensation for the stility service we

deliver We earn our Income trom

opcrating niaintainmg arid eiihancing

our infrastructure not from the
pr

of

gas we delive or the volumes of gas we

deliver hat way our customers get the

best deal from the natural gas they use

vs bile promotmg energy efficiency to

help the ens ironment

Its tar more cert un vs ay to manage

gas distribution system while it provides

the quality ot service customers demand

Not surprisingly our regulators have

agreed with this approach too

Strictly detincd natural gas is fossil

fuel having finite volume locked

within the arth The supply is not un

ending like that of wind or solar energy

Nevertheless for years even energy

experts tend to underestimate the gas

resource base and the role technology

could play in obtaining mo natural is

Not that long ago people ur own

industry we re warm ig
th it vs eli have is

shortages or un out entirely

Natural gas is an ibunds it and ver

satik fuel Its the best fuel cooki ig

heating water heating and ndustiial

manufacturing On of the biggest cli

lenges for our industry is to explam the

enormous potential of ga Coal alis ays

outflanked us in the past but the claim

of clean co ml is an oxymoron heres

no such thing Now Americans
finally

are conung arc und to realize how energy

ethcient and erivironnientally beneficial

natural gas is for the country

It was alis ays my go Ito ret re when th

company is as in cx ellent shape an to

leave with dignity ually important

to me vs as to be vie wed as ne ho ia

stayed true to Ins peisonal alues ard

had wade decisions based on str ng

moral compass

hope to be iemenibeied for reatint

culture in which employees are rr

spected appreciated and se loped both

personally and professionally Also us

proud that with th help many Ire

along the way we were able to grow tI

companys isset base three ald and to

develop talented leadershp ti am to

guide the mpany nto the future

mm full of
grati

ride fo he wonde ci

opportunity was sen to cad stmos

nergy orporation for sears With

Kim in place as and Us the
stmoimg

support of the boar of dric tors and

our enterpi ise leader ship ham Atnsos

l.nergys future is very bright indeed
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loilowing Charles Vaughan and Bob

Best is like taking over at quarterback

for team that had tom Brady or

Peyton Manning playing The whole

was always greater than the sum of the

parts with Charlie and Bob They always

helped all the players on the team seek

to reach their full potential They made

them better

What Ive learned from them is

tremendous recipe for success They

took genuine interest in everybody

they met They built great company by

developing great team

The road to recovery in this economy is

natural
gas We must have affordable

energy telecommunications financial

services and consumer products Those

are the four food groups necessary fur

strong economy

Natural
gas is all-American ItY

affordable and abundant and its going

to remain abundant for decades into the

future Cs also environmentally clean

and safe

To President Obamas credit he has

pushed for national
energy policy

that takes advantage of natural
gas At

the same time the public is starting to

understand the
lnarw

benefits of natural

gas So the future seems very bright

Whn ynurvaw

ThereS no better spot to be than in

natural gas right now especially if

youre delivering gas to residential and

commercial users Toads prtmarilv wham

we do for living at Atmos Energy We

touch more than million natural
gas

12



customers in positive way and we

contribute to the economic well-being of

the 1406 communities we serve because

our continuing investments in infra

structure and people

05.1 1555 fl.y nonrequiot

buEness 33 hHr vu.uef

Tbday theres more pipe and inure

suppiy for natural gas than ever Much of

it is the result of shale-gas development

Therefore our nonregulated business

doesnt seek to make money from selling

the gas itself hut from delivering it

Our natural gas marketing group

provides value-added service to more

than 1000 steady customers including

municipalities smaller commercial busi

nesses and some industrial customers

that do not have an energy manager

For example the City of Rising Star

Texas hires our gas marketing company

to provide the energy services that the

city
needs to serve the community

Atmos Energy Marketing essentially

contracts for transportation and storage

It buys the gas supply and nominates

that supply at the welihead It schedules

the delivery at the
city gate It lillsthe

city
and then allocates those hills for the

residential commercial and industrial

customers

Our nonregulated segment is gener

ating about 10 cents of annual earnings

per diluted share which is tremendous

contribution Many other natural gas

marketing companies are struggling or

out of business but we have lot of

traction around how were managing

our gas marketing company In fact

our adoption of delivered-gas energy

services model was part of the reason

that Standard Poors upgraded Atmos

Energy in late 2013

When became CEO Atinos Energy was

distributing natural gas in 12 states Our

acquisitions had helped us to grow in

size but we also needed to grow smarter

After healthy discussion and debate

with Charlie arid Bob and the hoard we

stepped back and evaluated the cons

panyb portfolio of assets looking at it

urisdiction by jurisdiction

The key question was Were we get

ting too stretched oLit WOre there costly

inefficiencies For instance we had

5000 customers fri Iowa Did it nsakc

sense to serve only 5000 customers in

one state that requires the lihngs taxes

licensing fees and compliances as does

state where we have significantly larger

customer base

Consequently we elected to sell our

operations in Iowa Illinois Missouri and

Georgia svhen we were approached with

an oiler Its better situation for us but

inure importantly its better deal for

our former employees customers and

communities there too
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For regulated utility ratemaking is how

rates of compensation are set for serving

customers lot of technical know-how

goes into the process But ultimately the

focus should he on win-win outcomes

Ratemaking is all about balancing

the economic interests of the consumer

against the operational needs of the utility

The
utilitys

needs are always to invest in

assets to enhance safety and reliability---

not necessarily to make money hut to

modernize assets and ensure that theyre

rehabilitated or replaced or repaired

sufficiently so that youre continuing to

serve customers safely
and reliably

You can never win rate case at the

expense of the customers If you do

its going to be very very short-lived

Thats why weve sought out negotiated

solutions with our communities Weve

developed rate mechanisms with fair

compromises to avoid
filing rate cases

every year And we have opted ihr settle

ments whenever we can achieve them

If you consider ratemaking not as an

adversarial exercise but as relationship

building this otherwise mandatory

process can help establish long-term

partnerships

VVhct the 4ce ire ienerqy

sri..dure hcday

Weve invested more than $1.4 billion

during the past three years to improve

safety and reliability while not increasing

our customers bills About 85 percent

of an average gas customerS bill is the

cost of natural gas Our customers have

seen average winter gas-heating bills at

or below what they experienced three

years ago The difference between todays

lower cost of natural gas and our allowed

rate allows us to invest more in our coin-

munities natural gas infrastructure

Unlike other entities that havent paid

attention to the state of their infrastruc

tore natural gas utilities have done

14



good job ge ting ahead of the need for

mode rniation Mmos Lnergy own

inhiastructure is strong safe and read to

support more natural gas customers

ulture is going to tiuinp strategy ever

time You have to
gis enipluyees niore

than just pa check heeau theyre

looking fbr more than mone We have

culture that is worth belonging to lvei

company has busin ss plan or finan

cial plan IR plan or stiategic plan But

most of them doni have culture plan

because they dont knoss how to create it

ike it and measure it We do

People aie mystilid by mopirit

they have absolutely no idea how wt

can invest iii that
rogrii and take thc

time that we dedicite toil You in gh

think that\ the soft stuti ut re ilky

that the gray matter It integral

success md our icsults ove it works

In 10 year stock return ttmos
Fnergy

ranks with haxon Mobil \1 ori
Cola Johnson Johnson the 1ow SP
JPMoi gaim

Chase and Mur of our

success has to do with AtnioSpirit

MO do It you get the right results the

right way with the right people can

its the ight thing to do then youre

going to he sr ceess ul and the nur he is

usually take aie then wh es Now
thatS not to

say we dont is ainturi keen

eye on orir financi New rtlse ess we

dont judge or perlorman by numbers

alone Real outcons mre niuch mere

about how we operate oppoiti nit es

we create the peopte we serve and the

returns our sharely lders eon from th ii

ins stments



Earnings per diluted share went up 27

cents over fiscal 2012 results to $2.64

Consolidated net income rose 12

percent year over year to $243.2 million

marking our 11th consecutive year
of

increased earnings

Return on average
shareholders equi

ty was 97 percent and total shareholder

return was 23 percent

Shareholders received annual divE

dends per share of $140 In November

2013 the board of directors raised

the dividend by cents share or 5.7

percent to an annual indicated rate of

$1.48 in fiscal 2014 Taking into account

the effcts of the companys mergers and

acquisitions our dividend has increased

every year for the past 30 years

Our results came from successfully

executing our strategy of investing in

our natural gas distribution system and

seeking recovery oh and earnings on

such investments as soon as possible

We received approvals during fiscal

2013 for $122.3 miHion in annualized

operating income increases as result

of rate filings
and the effects of efficient

rate mechanisms

We also recorded netot-1ax gain of

$5.3 million or cents per diluted share

Cm iiCn

President and Chief Executive Officer

from the sale of our natural gas distribu

tion assets in Georgia The sale proceeds

of $153 million were redeployed to fund

growth opportunities in the remaining

jurisdictions the company serves By

selling those assets we streamlined our

regulated operations to eight states and

became more geographically efficient

Regulated operations provided 95

percent of fiscal 2t13 consolidated net

inconie with natural gas distribution

contributing 67 percent and regulated

transportation and storage providing

28 percent
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Noisregulated oper itioiss cunti ibuted

the reinarniiig percci of net income

in fiscal 2011 lire segments $11 million

of ear nmgs reflected 51 ong perfoi niance

horn focusing on its core delis ered gas

husuiess Our is marl eting husin ss

continues to score higl ratings in cus

toiner satisfaction md to maintain the

loyalty of our long tirn gas customers

About perccnt of ir consolidated net

income today conies ns predictahk

rate base driven earnings Our focused

strategy is to modemniie our infra

structure and ensure fe and reliable

operations

3M have invested mare than $1.4 hil

lion during the past tl ice years to repair

rehabilitate or replace ging segments of

our pipeline network lYe plan to accel

eratc our capital spend ng through the

end of fiscal 2018 to Ivanec our highest

priorities of safety anc reliability

Ins cstors are appian Ting itural gas

utilities for in ikiug these critical infra

structure ins estinents The market tee

ogniies the potential gains and reduced

operational risks for nr sovative disiribu

tion companies like At mios Fur rgy
that

increase safe8uards fur the public ihis

support was esident on November 14

2013 when our share price set an all

time high of $47.44

In fiscal 2013 we invested record

$845 million in capital expenditures

primarily for system impmovements For

nearly 93 percent of that investment we

expect to begin ear mng return on it

within one year Approxnnatel

percent or s589 mrllmnn of our fiscal

2011 capital spending was dedicated to

safety and reliahilits projects

lire $112.1 million year over year

increase in our fiscal 2013 capital

expenditures was clue to major pipeline

expansion projects arid moie spend

ing on cathochc protection to pres cut

corrosion of pipelines in our regulated

tr mnsinrssion and stor age segment

tmos Pi1 dine lexas III oui

regulated intrastate transrnmssioir and

storage unit completed nrajor pipeline

expansicns that added capacity and

capability to erve local gas utility distni

bution system including our Mid lex

Division Of note wss the installation

cf 69 miles of inch Line WX west of

Iort Worth

API also added two 1590 hcusepowd

ccmmpressors at the \3aha Hub which is

confluence of seseral large pipelines

gas treatinc nt planrs arid oi icessoms

southwest of Monal ans lexas lhdse

powerful cornpmessd rs riser ase tIme

opportunity tc connect nm natur ml gas

supplies finns the Pcrmia.r Issni

Atmnos Energys solid finan ial foun

dation is reflected by its rong balance

sheet At fiscal ye mm end on September

30 2013 our debt capital zrtrori ratio

was 52 percent comparec with ii

percent at September 30 212 At year

end available
liciuicIrt

of mpproxrinately

$71s million was su iicrerrt to meet our

anticipated ne ds

In Janu rry 2013 we rcclueeci the

wcighted average cost of cur long tenrir

debt 106.21 pdrcermt whemr we issued

$3110 nnllion of 4.1 percent 30 year

senior notcs arlmer in Dc ober 20 we

executed forward starting iterest rate

swaps Ihese 5W mps
effectri lv fixer the

tre isury cmmi onenrt of futi re debt sse es

at 313 peicent fhr expected 5500mm ii

lion issuance iii hsc il 21t md rt

percc mit for air expi ted $2 lIrn is

issuance in fiscal 2017

ihe conrpa sys dl vrdcrrd
iyocrt rio

whu Is we ecp ct to bete ccii

cent and rcent in fmsc 11 allo vs

for comrtincrecl livid mdl gm Is

Recognizing thc streng of tire

company tinumcmal posit rr Star dand
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business risk profile from an increas

ing contribution of earnings from our

regulated operations and the focus ot

our nonregulated operations on its core

delivered-gas business

We expect to invest between $830 mil

lion and $850 million in capital improve

ments in fiscal 2014 For the fiscal years

2015 to 2018 we estimate that our

annual capital spending will average

between $850 million and $95t million

per year We plan to finance our capital

spending with cash flows long-term

debt and to lesser eztent equity

W6 project that our rate base of regu

latory assets will increase from approxi

mately $4.4 billion today to between $6.9

billion and $7.1 billion by the end

of fiscal 2018

Due to our growing rate base we

estimate that our earnings per diluted

share will rise at compounded average

growth rate of between percent and

percent annually from fiscal 2013

through fiscal 20118

For fiscal 2014 we forecast that earn

ings per diluted share will he between

$2.66 and $2.76 excluding unrealized

margins For fiscal 2018 we project

earnings per diluted share could he

between $3.45 and $3.65

Charles Vaughan who retired from

the board of directors and as lead

director on 1ecemher 27 2012 was

named by the hoard to serve as honorary

director

After becoming chairman president

and chief executive office in 1911.3 Charlie

virtually saved the company from

imminent failure and
likely acqulsition

by much larger utility
His watchwords

of independence and prosperity led to

his devising an innovative strategy to

expand and diversify operations As re

suIt he built Atmos Emerge into leader

in the natural gas distrihution industry

With more than 56 years of service

to the company Charlie continues to

provide his wise counsel and strength

of character to help guide and encour

age our progress We thank him for

his willingness to continue serving our

shareholders customers and employees

with the deep dedication that he has

nl emonstrated throughout his career

On April 2013 Robert IV Best

retired as executive chairman and as an

employee of the company Subsequent to

his retirement the hoard of directors ap

pointed him to be chairman of the hoard
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Bob joined Atmos neigy in l99i as

rhair man president ai chief executive

officer He was respor CbIe foi complet

ing six major acquisitions that tripled

the size of the compan \.lso undei his

leadership the compar added non

regulated operitrons iodei med its

customer sers ice facibties and technologs

systems rebranded un icr the Atrnos

Fnergy trademark in d1 states where

it had
operations built the Charles

Vaughan Center for training employees

and put heightened en phasis on excel

lenc in ustome ser cc

Bob also stressed community service

lie has long been aLti in national and

local civic charitable ducational and

industry organizations having served as

haii man of the Ame can is ssocia

tion Anserican ias oundation South

em Gas Association the Dallas Regional

Chamber United Way of Greater Dallas

the Senior Source and many other

organizations

us foremost achicsemnent though

was deseloping our Atniospirit culture

which retlects in so many ways his own

genuine respect for eseiyone and his
gilt

as coach who brings out the best in

people ve thank Bob for all that he has

contributed during the past 16 years and

wish bins the best in retirement esen

though he still devotes many hours in

the office workmg to make Atmos Lnergy

eve mx better

All of us at Atmos Energy appreciate

your ownership of the company

Investing in natural gas distribution

company is wise choice today because

gas is an exceptior fuel Natural gas

pros ides comtort ax el cons nience an

abu idane ot supply energy effidicnev

environmental benefits id the seuurt

of an all American energy soui cc

Atmos Fncrgy is proud to deliver

natural gas to its million Lustomcrs in

1406 ommunities

We pledge as we contm ic to invest

for rfet rid to build for tie tutur

always to seek the right things br the

right reasons with the righ people

Kim ocklmn

Pm rddent anti Chief xecul ci Officer

Den niber 201





Operating revenues

Gross profit

Natural gas distdbution net income continuing operations

Natural gas distribution net income discontinued operations

Regulated transmission ond storage net income

Nonregulated net income continuing operations

Nonregulated net loss -- discontinued operations

Total

Total assets

Total capitalization

Net income per share from continuing operations diluted

Net income per share from discontinued operations diluted

Net income per share diluted

Cash dividends per shars

Book value per share at end of year

Natural gas distribution throughput continuing operations MMcf
Natural gas distribution throughput discontinued operations MMcf
Consolidated natural gas distribution throughput MMcf
Consolidated regulated ransmission and storage transportation volumes MMcf
Consolidated norrregulated delivered gas sales volumes MMcf

Meters in service at end of year

Return on average shareholders equity

Shareholders equity as percentage of total capitalizatiorr

including shorh-term debt at end of year

Shareholders of record

Weighted average shares outstanding diluted 000s

Total capitalication represrrots the sum at shareholders equity nod toog.term debt esdudisg current maturitius

3438483

1323739

7495675

$4315548

2.10

127

2.37

1.38

26.14

483%

17775

91172

21.8%

47.61%

8.2%

11 9.0%

00.0%

122%

The financial information presented in this report about Atmos Energy Corporation is condensed Our coniplete financial statements including notes as

well as managements ciscussian and analysis of firrancial condition and results of operations are presented irt our Anrrual Report on Form 11K Atmos

Energys chief executive officer and its chief financial officer have executed all certifications with respect to the financial staterrrents corrtained therein

and have corrrpleted nronagements report on internal control aver financial reporting which are required under the Sarhanes.Oxley Act of 2002 and

all related rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission Investors may request without charge our Arrnuol Report on Form 10-K

for the fiscal year ended September 30 2013 by calling Investor Relations at 9718513729 between a.m and p.m Central tinre Our Arrrruol

Report on Fame 10.1 also is available on Atmos Energys website at www.atmosenergy.com Additional investor information is preserrted on pages 31

and 32 of this report

123848

24521

63059

5289

216717

5.9%

16.7%

19.0%

48.115

11.4%

1.4%

8.9%

3%

74.115

1.5%

0.1%

.3%

.4Yu

43%

372688

18295

390983

466527

351628

3116589

9.3%

1.015

6.315

0.6%
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Residential

Commercial

Industrial

Pubfc authority and other

Total meters

Actual weighted average

Percent of normal

Resadential

Commercal

lndustriol

Pubhc authority and other

Natural gas distribution sales revenues

Residential

Commercal

Industrial

Public authority and other

Total gas distrbution sales revenues

Transportation revenues

Other gas revenues

Total natural gas distribution revenues

Regulated transmission and storage revenues

Nonregulated revenues

Gross plant 000s

Net plant 000s

Miles of pipe

Employees

2846134

258386

1891

10178

3116589

2692

97%

137049

82516

15673

9228

244466

132595

377061

11259

7036

4373

390983

466527

.351628

$1351479

587651

71960

54334

2065424

53924

25028

2144376

92604

1201.503

$3438483

$7134470

$5475604

73875

4759

Total

Heatnq degree days are adiusted tar serace rrreas vdth weathervrarmahzed operatiass



Net property plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable less allowance far doubtful accaunts of

$20624 in 2013 and9425 in 2012

Gas stored underground

Other current assets

Total current assets

Common stack no par value stated at $005 per share

200000000 shares authorized issued and outstanding

2013 9064021 shares 2012 90239900 shores

Additional paidin capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income lass

Retairred earnings

Sharehalders ecuity

Total capitalization

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Other current liabilities

Shartterm debt

Current maturities of long4erm debt

Total current liabilities

6860358

274112

71 34470

1658866

5475604

64239

234526

256415

272782

827962

740847

451262

7495675

451

1745467

47607

660932

2359243

1956305

4315548

215229

489665

570929

i31

1275954

1015083

381164

457196

50730

675
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Natural gas distbbution segment

Regulated transmission and storage segment

Nonregulated segment

ntersegment eliminations

Natural gas distribution segment

Regulated transmission and storage segment

Nonregulated segncenf

Intersegment eliminations

2145330

247351

1351303

305501

3438483

$5470664

219373

2024893

42849.5

4286435

Operation and rnoiotenance

Depreciation and amortization

Tbxes other than income

Asset impairments

Total operating expenses

Income from continuing operations before income taxes

Income from
contirruing operations

Income from discontinjed operations net of tax $3986 $10066 and $12372

Gon on sale of discontinued operations net of tax $2909 $3519 and $0

Net income

Inconre per share from continuing operations

income per share from discontinued operations

Net irrcome per shore basic

1122587

1296179

304022

2114744

1323739

453613

237525

181073

5288

877499

446240

14644

141174

290422

98226

192196

18172

6349

.216717

212

027

239

1452721

1959893

426999

2985615

1300820

442965

223832

177767

30270

874834

425986

21184

150763

296407

106819

189388

18013

207601

208

020

228

Income
per

share from continuing operations

Income per share from discontinued operations

Net income per share diluted

Diluted

210

0.27

237

207

0.20

227

90150

91 172

90201

90652
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Asset impairments

Gain on sale of discontinued operations

Depreciation and omortization

Charged to depmciation and amortization

Charged to other accounts

Deferred income toxef

Stock-based compensation

Debt financing coso

Other

Changes in assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

.54..h
rr

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from the saD of discontinued operations

Other net

Net cash used in investing activities

Net increase decrease in short-term debt

Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt

Settlement of Treasury lock agreements

Unwinding of Treasury lock agreements

Repayment of long-te.nr debt

Cash dividends paid

Repurchase of common stock

Repurchase of equity awards

Issuance of common stock

Net cash provided by used in financing activities

Net increase decrease cash and cash equivalents

5288

9868

216717 $207601

246093

484

104319

19222

8147

493

586917

233155

228

117353

11586

9438

961

25.826

582844

732858

128223

4625

609260

622965

4421

627386

354141

257034

125796

12535

5219

1606

44837

671 80

131419

64239

83306

394466

20079

27803

360131

124011

5299

7796

44009

533
131952

131419



We have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30 2013

and 2012 and the reloted consolidated statements of income comprehensive income shareholders

equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30 2013 not presented

separately herein and in our report doted November 13 2013 we expressed an unqualified opinion on

those consolidated finuncial statements

In our opinion the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements

is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements from which

has been derived

We also hove audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the effectiveness of Atmos Energy Corporations internal control over financial

reporting as of September 30 2013 hosed on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 1992

framework and our report dated November 13 2013 not presented separately herein expressed on

urtqualrfied opinion thereon

7LLP
Dallas Texas

November 13 2013
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Capital expenditures

Net property plant and equipment

Working capital

Toto assets

Sharehalders equity

Longterm debt escluding current maturities

Total capitalization

Operating revenues 000s

Gross profit 000s

Income from continuing operations 000s

Income from discontinued operations net of tax 000sl

Net income 000s

Income per share from continuing operationsdiluted

Income per share from discontinued operationsdiluted

Net income per diluted share

732858

5475604

47992

7495675

2359243

1956305

431 5548

$3438483

1323739

192196

24521

216717

2.10

0.27

2.37

Shares outstanding l000s

End of year

Weighted overage diluted

Cash dividends per shore

Shareholders of record

Market price High

End of year

Book value per share at end of year

Price/Earnings ratio at end of year

Market/Book ratio at end of year

Annualized dividend yield at end of year

622965 542636 509494

5147918 4793075 4439103

143355 290887 91519

7282871 6763791 6367083

2255421 2178348 2176761

2206117 1809551 2169400

4461538 3987899 4346161

$4286435 $4661060 4793248

1300820 1314136 1297682

89588 189851 75026

18013 15988 15952

207601 205839 190978

2.07 2.03 1.90

0.20 0.17 017

2.27 2.20 2.07

90296 90164 92552

90652 92422 91620

1.36 134 1.32

18680 19738 20790

34.98 30.06 28.80

28.87 26.41 20.20

32.45 29.25 28.18

24.98 24.16 23.52

4.30 3.30 3.61

1.30 1.21 1.20

42% 4.6% 47%

289927 322628 2821 17

Low

90240

91172

1.38

17775

36.94

30.60

35.79

26.14

15.10

1.37

3.9%

Consolidated distribution gas sales volumes MMcf
Consolidated distribution gas transportation

volumes MMcf
Consolidated distribuhon throughput MMcf

Consolidated transmissiorr and storage

transportation volumes MMcf
Consolidated nonreguloted delivered gas

sales volumes MMcf
Metew in service at end of year

Gas distribution average cost of gas per Mcf sold

Gas distribution average transportation fee per Mcf

255725

135258 134093 131547 126768

390983 424020 454175 408885

466527

351628

3116589

4.64

.43

Return on average shareholders equity

Number of employees

Net gas distribution plant per meter

Gas distribution operatinn and maintenance

expense per meter

Meters per employeegas distribution

Times interest earned before income taxes

435012

384799

3213191

5.30

.46

9.1%

4949

1362

111

676

3.13

9.3%

4759

1468

428599

353853

3186040

5.77

.46

9.1%

491.3

1243

114

676

3.09

528689

370569

317844
6.95

.46

89%

4891

1165

116

678

2.82

118

680

3.27



President and

Chief Executive Officer

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Senior Vice President

General Counsel and

Corporate Secretary

kVY

President

Kentucky/Mid-States Division

President

Atmas PipelineTexas Division

President

Mississippi Division

Senior Vice President

Human Resources

Senior Vice President

Utility Operations

President

Colorado-Kansas Division

President

Louoiana Division

Prerudent

Mid-Tes Divoion

President

West Texas Division
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President

Atmos Energy Holdings Inc

Vice President

Governrnentol and

Public Affairs

Vice President

Customer Service

Vice President and Controller

Vice President

Investor Relotions

Vice President and

Chief Information Officer

Vice Pesiderrt

Strategic Planning

Vice Presideni

Gas Supply and Services

Vice President

Pipeline Safety

Vice President Tax

Vice President and Treasurer



Chairmançf the Board

Atmos Energy Corporation

Dallas Texas

Board riember since 1997

Commitee Executive

Chairrsran

President and

Chief Executive Officer

Atmos Energy Corporation

Dallas Texas

BooM member since 2009

Executive Vice President

Jones Lang LaSafle LLC

Dallas Texas

Board member since 2007

Committees Human

Resources Nominating and

Corporate Governance

Work Session/Annual Meeting

Vice President for

Community and Corporate

Relahons UT Southwestern

Medical Center

Dallas Texas

Board member since 2008

Committees Audit

Hurrran Resources

General Partner

Juniper Capital LP and

Juniper Energy LP

Houston Texas

Board member since 2001

Committees Human

Resources Chairman

Executive Nominating and

Corpornte Governarrce

Retired Managing Director

and Client Adviser

JPMorgnn Chase Co

Denver Colorado

Board rsmember since 2012

Comm4tees Audit Human

Resources

Partner Kelly Hart

Hallman LLP

Fort Worth Texas

Board merrrber since 2009

Committees Audit

Humarr Resources

Work Session/Annual Meeting

Retired Senior Vice President

and Gerreral Manager

Mdstream Dvi siorr

The Williams Companies Inc

Fort Myers Beach Florida

Board member once 2005

Comrndtee Work Session/

Annual Meeting
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Independent Energy

Consultant

East Hamptorr New York

and Key Biscoyne Florida

Board member sirrce 2004

Lead Director since 2013

Committees Audit Chair

Executive Nomssnasng and

Corporate Gover norrce

Honorcrry Director

Retired Chairman

of the Board and Lead Etirector

Atmos Energy Corporation

Dallas Texas

Board member from

1983 to 2012
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington D.C 20549

Form 10-K

Mark One
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d SEC

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 tI
Processing

For the fiscal year ended September 30 2013 Sertion

OR
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d 13

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 lflgfr
vflb

For the transition period from to 404

Commission file number 1-10042

Atmos Energy Corporation
Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

Texas and Virginia 75-1743247

State or other jurisdiction of IRS employer

incorporation or organization identification no

Three Lincoln Centre Suite 1800

5430 LBJ Freeway Dallas Texas 75240

Address of principal executive offices Zip code

Registrants telephone number including area code

972 934-9227

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act
Name of Each Exchange

Title of Each Class on Which Registered

Common stock No Par Value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities

Act Yes No LI

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the

Act Yes LI No LI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports

and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site if any every
Inter

active Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of this chapter during the

preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 229.45 is not contained herein

and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference

in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller

reporting company See definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the

Exchange Act Check one

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

Do not check if smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act Yes LI No LI

The aggregate market value of the common voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the last business day of the

registrants most recently completed second fiscal quarter March 31 2013 was $3816801052

As of November 2013 the registrant had 90912251 shares of common stock outstanding

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

AEC

AEH

AEM

AOCI

APS

ATO

Bcf

CFTC
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ERISA
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FERC
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GAAP

GRIP

GSRS

ISRS

KPSC

LTIP

Mcf

MDWQ
Mid-Tex Cities

MMcf

Moodys

NYMEX

NYSE

PAP

PPA

RRC

RRM

RSC

SP
SEC

SRF

WNA

Atmos Energy Corporation

Atmos Energy Holdings Inc

Atmos Energy Marketing LLC

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Atmos Pipeline and Storage LLC

Trading symbol for Atmos Energy Corporation common stock on the

New York Stock Exchange

Billion cubic feet

Commodity Futures Trading Commission

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974

Financial Accounting Standards Board

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

Fitch Ratings Ltd

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program

Gas System Reliability Surcharge

Infrastructure System Replacement Surcharge

Kentucky Public Service Commission

1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Thousand cubic feet

Maximum daily withdrawal quantity

Represents 440 of the 441 incorporated cities or approximately 80

percent of the Mid-Tex Divisions customers with whom
settlement agreement was reached during the fiscal 2008 second

quarter

Million cubic feet

Moodys Investor Services Inc

New York Mercantile Exchange Inc

New York Stock Exchange

Pension Account Plan

Pension Protection Act of 2006

Railroad Commission of Texas

Rate Review Mechanism

Rate Stabilization Clause

Standard Poors Corporation

United States Securities and Exchange Commission

Stable Rate Filing

Weather Normalization Adjustment



PART

The terms we our us Atmos Energy and the Company refer to Atmos Energy Corporation and

its subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise

ITEM Business

Overview and Strategy

Atmos Energy Corporation headquartered in Dallas Texas and incorporated in Texas and Virginia is

engaged primarily in the regulated natural gas distribution and transmission and storage businesses as well as

other nonregulated natural gas businesses We deliver natural gas through regulated sales and transportation

arrangements to over three million residential commercialpublic authority and industrial customers in eight

states located primarily in the South which makes us one of the countrys largest natural-gas-only distributors

based on number of customers We also operate one of the largest intrastate pipelines in Texas based on miles of

pipe

Over the last two fiscal years we have sold our natural
gas

distribution operations in four states to stream

line our regulated operations On April 2013 we completed the divestiture of our natural
gas

distribution

operations in Georgia representing approximately 64000 customers and in August 2012 we completed the sale

of our natural gas distribution operations in Missouri Illinois and Iowa representing approximately 84000 cus

tomers

Through our nonregulated businesses we provide natural gas management marketing transportation and

storage
services to municipalities local gas

distribution companies including certain of our natural gas
dis

tribution divisions and industrial customers principally in the Midwest and Southeast

Our overall strategy is to

deliver superior shareholder value

improve the quality and consistency of earnings growth while operating our business exceptionally well

invest in our people and infrastructure

enhance our culture

We have delivered excellent shareholder value by growing our earnings and increasing our dividends for

over 25 consecutive
years

Over the last five years we have achieved growth by implementing rate designs that

reduce or eliminate regulatory lag and separate the recovery of our approved margins from customer usage pat

terns In addition we have developed various commercial opportunities within our regulated transmission and

storage operations

Our core values include focusing on our employees and customers while conducting our business with

honesty and integrity We continue to strengthen our culture through ongoing communications with our employ

ees and enhanced employee training

Operating Segments

We operate the Company through the following three segments

The natural gas
distribution segment which includes our regulated natural gas

distribution and related

sales operations

The regulated transmission and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage oper

ations of our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division and

The nonregulated segment which includes our nonregulated natural gas management nonregulated natu

ral gas transmission storage
and other services



These operating segments are described in greater detail below

Natural Gas Distribution Segment Overview

Our natural gas distribution segment is comprised of our six regulated natural gas distribution divisions

This segment represents approximately 65 percent of our consolidated net income The following table summa
rizes key information about these divisions presented in order of total rate base See Note 16 in the consolidated

financial statements for description of the completed sales of our Missouri Illinois Iowa and Georgia service

areas We operate in our service areas under terms of non-exclusive franchise agreements granted by the various

cities and towns that we serve At September 30 2013 we held 998 franchises having terms generally ranging

from five to 35
years significant number of our franchises expire each year which require renewal prior to the

end of their terms We believe that we will be able to renew our franchises as they expire

Communities Customer

Division Service Areas Served Meters

Mid-Tex Texas including 550 1560409
the Dallas/Fort

Worth

Metroplex

Kentucky/Mid-States Kentucky 230 179708

Tennessee 123590

Virginia 20358

Louisiana Louisiana 300 342187

West Texas Amarillo 80 293802
Lubbock
Midland

Mississippi Mississippi 110 255730

Colorado-Kansas Colorado 170 99654

Kansas 136542

Our natural gas distribution business is seasonal business Gas sales to residential and commercial custom

ers are greater during the winter months than during the remainder of the year The volumes of gas sales during

the winter months will vary with the temperatures during these months Historically this generally has resulted in

higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each fiscal year and

lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through Sep
tember of each fiscal year However rate design changes implemented during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 in

our Mid-Tex and West Texas Divisions should change this trend The rate design approved in these regulatory

proceedings includes an increase to the customer base charge and decrease in the consumption charge applied

to customer usage The effect of this change in rate design allows our rates to be more closely aligned with the

natural gas distribution industry standard rate design In addition we anticipate these divisions which represent

approximately 50 percent of the operating income for our natural gas distribution segment will earn their operat

ing income more ratably over the fiscal year as they are now less dependent on customer consumption

Revenues in this operating segment are established by regulatory authorities in the states in which we oper

ate These rates are intended to be sufficient to cover the costs of conducting business and to provide reasonable

return on invested capital In addition we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system

Rates established by regulatory authorities often include cost adjustment mechanisms for costs that are

subject to significant price fluctuations compared to our other costs ii represent large component of our cost

of service and iiiare generally outside our control

Purchased
gas cost adjustment mechanisms represent common form of cost adjustment mechanism Pur

chased
gas cost adjustment mechanisms provide natural gas distribution companies method of recovering pur

chased
gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing rate case because they provide dollar-for-dollar offset to

increases or decreases in natural
gas distribution gas costs Therefore although substantially all of our natural gas

distribution operating revenues fluctuate with the cost of gas that we purchase natural
gas

distribution
gross

profit which is defined as operating revenues less purchased gas cost is generally not affected by fluctuations in

the cost of gas



Additionally some jurisdictions have introduced performance-based ratemaking adjustments to provide

incentives to natural gas distribution companies to minimize purchased gas costs through improved storage

management and use of financial instruments to lock in gas costs Under the performance-based ratemaking

adjustment purchased gas costs savings are shared between the utility and its customers

Regulatory authorities have approved weather normalization adjustments WNA for approximately 97

percent of residential and commercial margins in our service areas as part of our rates WNA minimizes the

effect of weather that is above or below normal by allowing us to increase customers bills to offset the effect of

lower gas usage when weather is warmer than normal and decrease customers bills to offset the effect of higher

gas usage when weather is colder than normal

The following table provides jurisdictional rate summary for our regulated operations This information is

for regulatory purposes only and may not be representative
of our actual financial position

Authorized

Effective Authorized DebtJ Authorized

Date of Last Rate Base Rate of Equity Return

Division Jurisdiction Rate/GRIP Action thousands Return Ratio on Equity

Atmos Pipeline Texas Texas 05/01/2011 $807733 9.36% 50/50 11.80%

Atmos Pipeline Texas

GRIP Texas 05/07/2013 979324 9.36% N/A 11.80%

Colorado-Kansas Colorado 01/04/2010 86189 8.57% 50/50 10.25%

Kansas 09/01/2012 160075

Kentucky/Mid-States Kentucky 06/01/2010 221340

Tennessee 11/08/2012 201359 8.28% 49/51 10.10%

Virginia 11/23/2009 36861 8.48% 1/49 9.50% 10.50%

Louisiana Trans LA 04/01/2013 105527 7.94% 52/48 10.00% 10.80%

LGS 07/01/2013 298642 8.08% 52/48 10.40%

Mid-Tex Cities Texas 12/04/20 12 1512986 8.57% 48/52 10.50%

Mid-TexDallas Texas 06/01/2013 1619429 8.35% 48/52 10.10%

Mississippi Mississippi 11/01/2012 287646 8.04% 49/51 9.64%

West Texas5 Texas 10/01/20 12 271590

Annual

Bad Debt Rate Infrastructure Performance-Based

Division Jurisdiction Rider6 Mechanism Mechanism Rate Program7 WNA Period

Atmos Pipeline Texas .. Texas No No Yes N/A N/A

Colorado-Kansas Colorado Yes8 No Yes No N/A

Kansas Yes No Yes No October May

Kentucky/Mid-States Kentucky Yes No Yes Yes November April

Tennessee Yes No No Yes October April

Virginia Yes No Yes No January December

Louisiana Trans LA No Yes No No December -March

LGS No Yes No No December -March

Mid-Tex Cities Texas Yes Yes Yes No November -April

Mid-Tex Dallas Texas Yes Yes Yes No November -April

Mississippi Mississippi No Yes No Yes November -April

West Texas5 Texas Yes No Yes No October -May

The rate base authorized rate of return and authorized return on equity presented in this table are those from

the most recent rate case or GRIP filing for each jurisdiction These rate bases rates of return and returns on

equity are not necessarily indicative of current or future rate bases rates of return or returns on equity



rate base rate of return return on equity or debtlequity ratio was not included in the respective state

commissions final decision

Kentucky rate base consists of $184.7 million included in the June 2010 rate case and $36.6 million included

in the October 2012 PRP surcharge total of $36.6 million of the Kentucky rate base amount was granted

in the annual PRP filing with an effective date of October 2012 an authorized rate of return of 8.74 per

cent and an authorized return on equity of 10.50 percent

The Mid-Tex Rate Base amounts for the Mid-Tex Cities and Dallas areas represent system-wide or 100

percent of the Mid-Tex Divisions rate base

On October 2012 rate case settlement was approved by the Texas Railroad Commission RRC that

combined the former Amarillo Lubbock and West Texas jurisdictions into single West Texas juris

diction

The bad debt rider allows us to recover from ratepayers the gas cost portion of uncollectible accounts

The performance-based rate program provides incentives to natural gas distribution companies to minimize

purchased gas costs by allowing the companies and its customers to share the purchased gas costs savings

The Company and Commission Staff have agreed to roll the recovery of the gas portion of uncollectible

accounts back into base rates as part of the current rate proceeding

Our supply of natural
gas

is provided by variety of suppliers including independent producers marketers

and pipeline companies and withdrawals of
gas

from proprietary and contracted storage assets Additionally the

natural gas supply for our Mid-Tex Division includes peaking and spot purchase agreements

Supply arrangements consist of both base load and swing supply peaking quantities and are contracted

from our suppliers on firm basis with various terms at market prices Base load quantities are those that flow at

constant level throughout the month and swing supply quantities provide the flexibility to change daily quanti

ties to match increases or decreases in requirements related to weather conditions

Except for local production purchases we select our natural gas suppliers through competitive bidding

process by periodically requesting proposals from suppliers that have demonstrated that they can provide reliable

service We select these suppliers based on their ability to deliver
gas supply to our designated firm pipeline

receipt points at the lowest reasonable cost Major suppliers during fiscal 2013 were Anadarko Energy Services

Company BP Energy Company ConocoPhillips Company Devon Gas Services L.P Enterprise Products

Operating LLC Iberdrola Energy Services LLC Sequent Energy Management L.P Targa Gas Marketing LLC
Tenaska Marketing Ventures Texia Energy Management Inc and Atmos Energy Marketing LLC our natural

gas marketing subsidiary

The combination of base load peaking and spot purchase agreements coupled with the withdrawal of gas

held in storage allows us the flexibility to adjust to changes in weather which minimizes our need to enter into

long-term firm commitments We estimate our peak-day availability of natural gas supply to be approximately

4.4 Bcf The peak-day demand for our natural gas distribution operations in fiscal 2013 was on January 15 2013
when sales to customers reached approximately 3.1 Bcf

Currently our natural gas distribution divisions except for our Mid-Tex Division Utilize 35 pipeline trans

portation companies both interstate and intrastate to transport our natural gas The pipeline transportation

agreements are firm and many of them have pipeline no-notice storage service which provides for daily

balancing between system requirements and nominated flowing supplies These agreements have been negotiated

with the shortest term necessary while still maintaining our right of first refusal The natural gas supply for our

Mid-Tex Division is delivered primarily by our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division

To maintain our deliveries to high priority customers we have the ability and have exercised our right to

curtail deliveries to certain customers under the terms of interruptible contracts or applicable state regulations or

statutes Our customers demand on our system is not necessarily indicative of our ability to meet current or

anticipated market demands or immediate delivery requirements because of factors such as the physical limi

tations of gathering storage and transmission systems the duration and severity of cold weather the availability

of gas reserves from our suppliers the ability to purchase additional supplies on short-term basis and actions by



federal and state regulatory authorities Curtailment rights provide us the flexibility to meet the human-needs

requirements of our customers on firm basis Priority allocations imposed by federal and state regulatory agen

cies as well as other factors beyond our control may affect our ability to meet the demands of our customers

We anticipate no problems with obtaining additional gas supply as needed for our customers

Regulated Transmission and Storage Segment Overview

Our regulated transmission and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of

our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division APT APT is one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas

with heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central northern and eastern Texas

extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins

of West Texas It transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division transports natural gas for third parties and

manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipe

line industry including parking and lending arrangements and sales of excess gas This segment represents

approximately 30 percent of our consolidated operations

Gross profit earned from our Mid-Tex Division and through certain other transportation and storage
services

is subject to traditional ratemaking governed by the RRC Rates are updated through periodic formal rate

proceedings and filings made under Texas Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program GRIP GRIP allows us to

include in our rate base annually approved capital costs incurred in the prior calendar year provided that we file

complete rate case at least once every
five years Atmos Pipeline Texas existing regulatory mechanisms

allow certain transportation and storage
services to be provided

under market-based rates with minimal regu

lation

Nonregulated Segment Overview

Our nonregulated operations are conducted through Atmos Energy Holdings Inc AEH wholly-owned

subsidiary of Atmos Energy Corporation and represent approximately five percent of our consolidated net

income

AEH primary business is to buy sell and deliver natural gas at competitive prices to approximately 1000

customers located primarily in the Midwest and Southeast areas of the United States AEH accomplishes this

objective by aggregating and purchasing gas supply arranging transportation and storage logistics and effectively

managing commodity price risk

AEH also earns storage and transportation demand fees primarily from our regulated natural gas
distribution

operations in Louisiana and Kentucky These demand fees are subject to regulatory oversight and are renewed

periodically

Ratemaking Activity

Overview

The method of determining regulated rates varies among the states in which our regulated businesses oper

ate The regulatory authorities have the responsibility of ensuring that utilities in their jurisdictions operate in the

best interests of customers while providing utility companies the opportunity to earn reasonable return on their

investment Generally each regulatory authority reviews rate requests and establishes rate structure intended to

generate revenue sufficient to cover the costs of conducting business and to provide reasonable return on

invested capital

Our rate strategy focuses on reducing or eliminating regulatory lag obtaining adequate returns and provid

ing stable predictable margins which benefit both our customers and the Company As result of our rate

making efforts in recent years Atmos Energy has

Annual ratemaking mechanisms in place in four states that provide for an annual rate review and adjust

ment to rates for approximately 69 percent of our natural gas
distribution gross margin

Accelerated recovery
of capital for approximately 74 percent of our natural gas distribution gross margin



Enhanced rate design that allows us to defer certain elements of our cost of service until they are included

in rates such as depreciation ad valorem taxes and pension costs

WNA mechanisms in seven states that serve to minimize the effects of weather on approximately 97 per

cent of our natural gas distribution gross margin

The ability to recover the gas cost portion of bad debts for approximately 75 percent of our natural gas

distribution gross margin

Although substantial progress
has been made in recent years by improving rate design across Atmos

Energys operating areas we will continue to seek improvements in rate design to address cost variations that are

related to pass-through energy costs beyond our control Further potential changes in federal energy policy and

adverse economic conditions will necessitate continued vigilance by the Company and our regulators in meeting

the challenges presented ty these external factors

Recent Ratemaking Activity

Substantially all of our regulated revenues in the fiscal years ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011

were derived from sales at rates set by or subject to approval by local or state authorities Net operating income

increases resulting from ratemaking activity totaling $98.1 million $30.7 million and $72.4 million became

effective in fiscal 2013 2012 and 2011 as summarized below

Annual Increase to Operating
Income For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30

Rate Action 2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Infrastructure programs $30936 $19172 $15033

Annual rate filing mechanisms 9152 7044 35216

Rate case filings 56700 4309 20502

Other ratemaking activity 1322 167 1675

$98110 $30692 $72426

Additionally the following ratemaking efforts were initiated during fiscal 2013 but had not been completed

as of September 30 2013

Operating Income

Division Rate Action Jurisdiction Requested

In thousands

Colorado-Kansas Rate Case Colorado $10891

Kentucky/Mid-States Rate Case Kentucky 13133

PRP2 Kentucky 2493

PRP2 Virginia 213

Mid-Tex Division GRIP3 Railroad Commission Environs 768

RRM4 Mid-Tex Cities 17077

Mississippi Stable Rate Filing5 Mississippi

$44575

This rate case seeks multi-year step increase in annual operating income of $4.5 million on January

2014 $2.9 million on July 12014 and $3.5 million on July 12015

The Pipeline Replacement Program PRP surcharge relates to long-term program to replace aging infra

structure The Kentucky and Virginia PRPs were implemented on October 2013

The Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program GRIP surcharge relates to replacing aging infrastructure as well

as other changes in net plant The surcharge is calculated on system-wide basis but is only filed with the

Railroad Commission for unincorporated areas served by the Mid-Tex Division



The Rate Review Mechanism RRM is an annual rate filing mechanism that allows us to refresh our rates on

periodic basis without filing formal rate case The current RRM program was approved by the Mid-Tex

Cities in the summer of 2013 The first filing under the mechanism was made in July of 2013 and has been

settled for $12.5 million to be implemented on November 2013

The Stable Rate Filing shows no deficiency thus no change in operating income is anticipated from the cur

rent year filing

Our recent ratemaking activity is discussed in greater detail below

Infrastructure Programs

As discussed above in Natural Gas Distribution Segment Overview and Regulated Transmission and

Storage Segment Overview infrastructure programs such as GRIP allow our regulated divisions the opportunity

to include in their rate base annually approved capital costs incurred in the prior calendar year We currently have

infrastructure programs in Texas Kansas Kentucky and Virginia The following table summarizes our infra

structure program filings with effective dates during the fiscal years
ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011

Incremental Net

Period Utility Plant Increase in Annual Effective

Division End Investment Operating Income Date

In thousands In thousands

2013 Infrastructure Programs

Atmos Pipeline Texas 12/2012 $156440 $26730 05/07/2013

Colorado-Kansas Kansas 09/2012 5376 601 01/09/2013

Kentucky/Mid-States Georgia2 09/2011 6519 1079 10/01/2012

Kentucky/Mid-States Kentucky2 09/2013 19296 2425 10/01/2012

Kentucky/Mid-States Virginia 09/2013 756 101 10/01/2012

Total 2013 Infrastructure Programs $188387 $30936

2012 Infrastructure Programs

Mid-Tex Unincorporated Environs3 12/2011 $145671 744 06/26/2012

Atmos Pipeline Texas 12/2011 87210 14684 04/10/2012

Kentucky/Mid-States Georgia2 09/20 10 7160 1215 10/01/2011

Kentucky/Mid-States Kentucky2 09/2012 17347 2529 10/01/2011

Total 2012 Infrastructure Programs $257388 $19172

2011 Infrastructure Programs

Atmos Pipeline Texas 12/20 10 72980 $12605 07/26/2011

Mid-Tex/Environs 12/20 10 107840 576 06/27/2011

West Texas/Lubbock WT Cities Environs 12/2010 17677 343 06/01/2011

Kentucky/Mid-States Kentucky2 09/2011 3329 468 06/01/2011

Kentucky/Mid-States Missouri4 09/20 10 2367 277 02/14/2011

Kentucky/Mid-States GeorgiaX2 09/2009 5359 764 10/01/2010

Total 2011 Infrastructure Programs $209552 $15033

On April 2013 we completed the sale of our Georgia operations to Liberty Energy Georgia Corp an

affiliate of Algonquin Power Utilities Corp The increase in operating income arising from the

implementation of new rates is included as component of discontinued operations through March 31 2013

The Pipeline Replacement Program PRP surcharge relates to long-term program to replace aging infra

structure

Incremental net utility plant investment represents the system-wide incremental investment for the Mid-Tex

Division The increase in annual operating income is for the unincorporated areas of the Mid-Tex Division

only

Infrastructure System Replacement Surcharge ISRS relates to maintenance capital investments made since

the previous rate case
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Annual Rate Filing Mechanisms

As an instrument to reduce regulatory lag annual rate filing mechanisms allow us to refresh our rates on

periodic basis without filing formal rate case However these filings still involve discovery by the appropriate

regulatory authorities prior to the final determination of rates under these mechanisms We currently have annual

rate filing mechanisms in our Louisiana and Mississippi divisions and in portion of our Texas divisions These

mechanisms are referred to as Dallas annual rate review DARR andrate reviewmechanisms RRM in our

Mid-Tex Division stable rate filings in the Mississippi Division and the rate stabilization clause in the Louisiana

Division The following table summarizes filings made under our various annual rate filing mechanisms

Increase

Decrease in

Annual

Operating Effective

Division Jurisdiction Test Year Ended Income Date

In thousands

2013 Filings

Louisiana LGS 12/31/2012 908 07/01/2013

Mid-Tex City of Dallas 9/30/2012 180O 06/01/2013

Louisiana TransLa 9/30/2012 2260 04/01/2013

Kentucky/Mid-States Georgia 9/30/2013 743 02/01/2013

Mississippi Mississippi 6/30/2012 3441 11/01/2012

Total 2013 Filings 9152

2012 Filings

Louisiana LGS 12/31/2011 2324 07/01/2012

Mid-Tex Dallas 9/30/2011 1204 06/01/2012

Louisiana Trans La 9/30/2011 11 04/01/2012

Kentucky/Mid-States Georgia 9/30/2011 818 02/01/2012

Mississippi Mississippi 6/30/2011 4323 01/11/2012

Total 2012 Filings 7044

2011 Filings

Mid-Tex Mid-Tex Cities 12/31/2010 5126 09/27/2011

Mid-Tex Dallas 12/31/2010 1084 09/27/2011

West Texas Lubbock 12/31/2010 319 09/08/2011

West Texas Amarillo 12/31/2010 492 08/01/2011

Louisiana LGS 12/31/2010 4109 07/01/2011

Mid-Tex Dallas 12/31/2010 1598 07/01/2011

Louisiana TransLa 9/30/20 10 350 04/01/2011

Mid-Tex Mid-Tex Cities 12/31/2009 23122 10/01/2010

Total 2011 Filings $35216

On April 2013 we completed the sale of our Georgia operations to Liberty Energy Georgia Corp an

affiliate of Algonquin Power Utilities Corp The increase in operating income arising from the

implementation of new rates is included as component of discontinued operations through March 31 2013

From 2008 through fiscal 2011 the Mid-Tex Division had an annual rate review mechanism RRM for

approximately 80 percent of its customers which allowed it to update rates annually without the necessity of fil

ing general rate case In fiscal 2013 new RRM was approved for these customers
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Since June 2011 the Mid-Tex Division has operated under Dallas Annual Rate Review Mechanism

DARR that provides the ability for it to annually update rates for its City of Iallas customers without the

necessity of filing general rate case The first rates were implemented under the DARR in June 2012

During fiscal 2011 the RRC Division of Public Safety issued new rule requiring natural gas
distribution

companies with operations in Texas to develop and implement risk-based program for the renewal or replace

ment of distribution facilities including steel service lines The rule allows for the deferral of all expenses asso

ciated with capital expenditures incurred pursuant to this rule until the expenses are included in rates including

the recording of interest on the deferred expenses

Rate Case Filings

rate case is formal request from Atmos Energy to regulatory authority to increase rates that are

charged to customers Rate cases may also be initiated when the regulatory authorities request us to justify our

rates This process is referred to as show cause action Adequate rates are intended to provide for recovery of

the Companys costs as well as fair rate of return to our shareholders and ensure that we continue to safely

deliver reliable reasonably priced natural
gas

service to our customers The following table summarizes our

recent rate cases

Increase in Annual

Division State Operating Income Effective Date

In thousands

2013 Rate Case Filings

Mid-Tex Texas $42601 12/04/2012

Kentucky/Mid-States
Tennessee 7530 11/08/2012

West Texas Texas 6569 10/01/2012

Total 2013 Rate Case Filings
$56700

2012 Rate Case Filings

Colorado-Kansas Kansas 3764 09/01/2012

West Texas Environs Texas 545 11/08/2011

Total 2012 Rate Case Filings
4309

2011 Rate Case Filings

West Texas Amarillo Environs Texas 78 07/26/2011

Atmos Pipeline Texas Texas 20424 05/01/2011

Total 2011 Rate Case Filings $20502
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Other Ratemaking Activity

The following table summarizes other ratemaking activity during the fiscal years ended September 30 2013

2012and2011

Increase in

Annual

Operating Effective

Diviaton Jurisdiction _Rate Activity Income Date

In thousands

2013 Other Rate Activity

Colorado-Kansas Kansas Act Valorem $1322 02/01/2013

Total 2013 Other Rate Activity $1322

2012 Other Rate Activity

Colorado-Kansas Kansas Act Valorem 167 01/14/2012

Total 2012 Other Rate Activity ... 167

2011 Other Rate Activity

West Texas Triangle Special Contract 641 07/01/2011

Colorado-Kansas Kansas Act Valorem 685 01/01/2011

Colorado-Kansas Colorado AMI2 349 12/01/2010

Total 2011 Other Rate Activity $1675

The Ad Valorem filing relates to collection of property taxes in excess of the amount included in our Kan

sas service areas base rates

Automated Meter Infrastructure AM relates to pilot program in the Weld County area of our Colorado

service area

Other Regu1aton

Each of our natural gas distribution divisions and our regulated transmission and storage division is regu

lated by various state or local public utility authorities We are also subject to regulation by the United States

Department of Transportation with respect to safety requirements in the operation and maintenance of our trans

mission and distribution facilities In addition our distribution operations are also subject to various state and

federal laws regulating environmental matters From time to time we receive inquiries regarding various

environmental matters We believe that our properties and operations substantially comply with and are operated

in substantial conformity with applicable safety and environmental statutes and regulations There are no admin

istrative or judicial proceedings arising under environmental quality statutes pending or known to be con

templated by governmental agencies which would have material adverse effect on us or our operations Our

environmental claims have arisen primarily from former manufactured
gas plant sites

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission FERC allows pursuant to Section 311 of the Natural Gas

Policy Act gas transportation services through our Atmos Pipeline Texas assets on behalf of interstate pipe

lines or local distribution companies served by interstate pipelines without subjecting these assets to the juris

diction of the FERC Additionally the FERC has regulatory authority over the sale of natural gas in the

wholesale gas market and the use and release of interstate pipeline and storage capacity The FERC also has

authority to detect and prevent market manipulation and to enforce compliance with FERC other rules policies

and orders by companies engaged in the sale purchase transportation or storage of natural
gas

in interstate

commerce We have taken what we believe are the
necessary

and appropriate steps to comply with these regu

lations
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Competition

Although our natural gas
distribution operations are not currently in significant direct competition with any

other distributors of natural gas to residential and commercial customers within our service areas we do compete

with other natural gas suppliers and suppliers of alternative fuels for sales to industrial customers We compete in

all aspects of our business with alternative energy sources including in particular electricity Electric utilities

offer electricity as rival energy source and compete for the space heating water heating and cooking markets

Promotional incentives improved equipment efficiencies and promotional rates all contribute to the acceptability

of electrical equipment The principal means to compete against alternative fuels is lower prices and natural gas

historically has maintained its price advantage in the residential commercial and industrial markets

Our regulated transmission and storage operations historically have faced limited competition from other

existing intrastate pipelines and
gas

marketers seeking to provide or arrange transportation storage and other

services for customers However in the last few years several new pipelines have been completed which has

increased the level of competition in this segment of our business

Within our nonregulated operations AEM competes with other natural gas
marketers to provide natural gas

management and other related services primarily to smaller customers requiring higher levels of balancing

scheduling and other related management services AEM has experienced
increased competition in recent years

primarily from investment banks and major integrated oil and natural gas companies who offer lower cost basic

services The increased competition has reduced margins most notably on its high-volume accounts

Employees

At September 30 2013 we had 4720 employees consisting of 4611 employees in our regulated operations

and 109 employees in our nonregulated operations

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K and

other reports and amendments to those reports
and other forms that we file with or furnish to the Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC are available free of charge at our website www.atmosenergy.com under

Publications and Filings under the Investors tab as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically

file these reports with or furnish these reports to the SEC We will also provide copies of these reports free of

charge upon request to Shareholder Relations at the address and telephone number appearing below

Shareholder Relations

Atmos Energy Corporation

P.O Box 650205

Dallas Texas 75265-0205

972-855-3729

Corporate Governance

In accordance with and pursuant to relevant related rules and regulations of the SEC as well as corporate

governance-related listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange NYSE the Board of Directors of the

Company has established and periodically updated our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Conduct

which is applicable to all directors officers and employees of the Company In addition in accordance with and

pursuant to such NYSE listing standards our Chief Executive Officer during fiscal 2013 Kim Cocklin certi

fied to the New York Stock Exchange that he was not aware of any violations by the Company of NYSE corpo

rate governance listing standards The Board of Directors also annually reviews and updates if necessary the

charters for each of its Audit Human Resources and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees All of

the foregoing documents are posted on the Corporate Governance page of our website We will also provide

copies of all corporate governance documents free of charge upon request to Shareholder Relations at the address

listed above
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ITEM 1A Risk Factors

Our financial and operating results are subject to number of risk factors many of which are not within our

control Although we have tried to discuss key risk factors below please be aware that other or new risks may

prove to be important in the future Investors should carefully consider the following discussion of risk factors as

well as other information appearing in this report These factors include the following

The Company is dependent on continued access to the credit and capital markets to execute our business

strategy

Our long-term debt is currently rated as investment grade by Standard Poors Corporation Moodys

Investors Services Inc and Fitch Ratings Ltd Similar to most companies we rely upon access to both short-term

and long-term credit and capital markets to satisfy our liquidity requirements If adverse credit conditions were to

cause significant limitation on our access to the private and public capital markets we could see reduction in our

liquidity significant reduction in our liquidity could in turn trigger negative change in our ratings outlook or

even reduction in our credit ratings by one or more of the three credit rating agencies Such downgrade could

further limit our access to private credit and/or public capital markets and increase our costs of borrowing

Further if our credit ratings were downgraded we could be required to provide additional liquidity to our

nonregulated segment because the commodity financial instrument markets could become unavailable to us Our

nonregulated segment depends primarily upon an intercompany lending facility between AEH and Atmos Energy

to finance its working capital needs supplemented by two small credit facilities with outside lenders Our ability

to provide this liquidity to AEH for our nonregulated operations is limited by the terms of the lending arrange

ment with AEH which is subject to annual approval by one state regulatory commission

While we believe we can meet our capital requirements from our operations and the sources of financing

available to us we can provide no assurance that we will continue to be able to do so in the future especially if

the market price of natural gas increases significantly in the near term The future effects on our business liquid

ity and financial results of deterioration of current conditions in the credit and capital markets could be material

and adverse to us both in the ways described above or in other ways that we do not currently anticipate

We are subject to state and local regulations that affect our operations and financial results

Our natural gas distribution and regulated transmission and storage segments are subject to regulatory over

sight from various state arid local regulatory authorities in the eight states that we serve Therefore our returns

are continuously monitored and are subject to challenge for their reasonableness by the appropriate regulatory

authorities or other third-party intervenors In the normal course of business regulated entity often needs to

place assets in service and establish historical test periods before rate cases that seek to adjust our allowed returns

to recover that investment can be filed Further the regulatory review process can be lengthy Because of this

process we suffer the negative financial effects of having placed assets in service without the benefit of rate

relief which is commonly referred to as regulatory lag The regulatory process also involves the risk that regu

latory authorities may review our purchases of natural gas and adjust the amount of our gas costs that we pass

through to our customers or ii limit the costs we may have incurred from our cost of service that can be recov

ered from customers

The continuation of recent economic conditions could adversely affect our customers and negatively impact

our financial results

The slowdown in the U.S economy in the last several years together with increased mortgage defaults and

significant decreases in the values of homes and investment assets has adversely affected the financial resources

of many domestic households It is unclear whether the administrative and legislative responses to these con

ditions will be successful in continuing to improve economic conditions including the continued lowering of

current high unemployment rates across the U.S As result our customers may seek to use even less
gas

and it

may become more difficult for them to pay their gas bills This may slow collections and lead to higher than

normal levels of accounts receivable This in turn could increase our financing requirements and bad debt

expense Additionally our industrial customers may seek alternative energy sources which could result in lower

sales volumes
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Inflation and increased gas costs could adversely impact our customer base and customer collections and

increase our level of indebtedness

Inflation has caused increases in some of our operating expenses
and has required assets to be replaced at

higher costs We have process in place to continually review the adequacy of our natural gas distribution gas

rates in relation to the increasing cost of providing service and the inherent regulatory lag in adjusting those gas

rates Historically we have been able to budget and control operating expenses
and investments within the

amounts authorized to be collected in rates and intend to continue to do so However the ability to control

expenses is an important factor that could impact future financial results

Rapid increases in the costs of purchased gas would cause us to experience significant increase in short-

term debt We must pay suppliers for gas when it is purchased which can be significantly in advance of when

these costs may be recovered through the collection of monthly customer bills for gas delivered Increases in

purchased gas costs also slow our natural gas distribution collection efforts as customers are more likely to delay

the payment of their gas bills leading to higher than normal accounts receivable This could result in higher

short-term debt levels greater
collection efforts and increased bad debt expense

We are exposed to market risks that are beyond our control which could adversely affect our financial

results and capital requirements

We are subject to market risks beyond our control including market liquidity commodity price volatility

caused by market supply and demand dynamics and counterparty creditworthiness and interest rate risk Our

regulated operations are generally insulated from commodity price risk through its purchased gas cost mecha

nisms With respect to interest rate risk we have been operating in relatively low interest-rate environment in

recent years compared to historical norms for both short and long-term interest rates However increases in

interest rates could adversely affect our future financial results

Although our nonregulated operations represent approximately
five percent of our consolidated results

commodity price volatility experienced in this business segment could lead to some volatility in our earnings

Our nonregulated segment manages margins and limits risk exposure on the sale of natural gas inventory or the

offsetting fixed-price purchase or sale commitments for physical quantities of natural gas through the use of

variety of financial instruments However contractual limitations could adversely affect our ability to withdraw

gas
from storage which could cause us to purchase gas at spot prices in rising market to obtain sufficient

volumes to fulfill customer contracts We could also realize financial losses on our efforts to limit risk as result

of volatility in the market prices of the underlying commodities or if counterparty fails to perform under con

tract Any significant tightening of the credit markets could cause more of our counterparties to fail to perform

than expected In addition adverse changes in the creditworthiness of our counterparties could limit the level of

trading activities with these parties and increase the risk that these parties may not perform under contract

These circumstances could also increase our capital requirements

Although we manage our business to maintain no open positions related to our physical storage there are

times when limited net open positions may occur on short-term basis Net open positions may increase vola

tility
in our financial condition or results of operations if market prices move in significantly favorable or

unfavorable manner before the open positions can he closed The determination of our net open position as of the

end of any particular trading day requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances including the use of

gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions Because the price risk associated

with any net open position at the end of such day may increase if the assumptions are not realized we review

these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities Further if the local physical markets do not move

consistently with the NYMEX futures market upon which most of our commodity derivative financial instru

rnents are valued we could experience increased volatility in the financial results of our nonregulated segment
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The concentration of our distribution pipeline and storage operations in the State of Texas exposes our

operations andfinancial results to economic conditions and regulatory decisions in Texas

Over 50 percent of our natural gas distribution customers and most of our pipeline and storage assets and

operations are located in the State of Texas This concentration of our business in Texas means that our oper

ations and financial results may be significantly affected by changes in the Texas economy in general and regu

latory decisions by state and local regulatory authorities in Texas

Our operations are subject to increased competition

In residential and commercial customer markets our natural
gas

distribution operations compete with other

energy products such as electricity and propane Our primary product competition is with electricity for heating

water heating and cooking Increases in the price of natural gas could negatively impact our competitive position

by decreasing the price benefits of natural gas to the consumer This could adversely impact our business if as

result our customer growth slows reducing our ability to make capital expenditures or if our customers further

conserve their use of gas resulting in reduced gas purchases and customer billings

In the case of industrial customers such as manufacturing plants adverse economic conditions including

higher gas costs could cause these customers to use alternative sources of energy such as electricity or bypass

our systems in favor of special competitive contracts with lower per-unit costs Our regulated transmission and

storage operations historically have faced limited competition from other existing intrastate pipelines and gas

marketers seeking to provide or arrange transportation storage and other services for customers However in the

last few years several new pipelines have been completed which has increased the level of competition in this

segment of our business

Finally within our nonregulated operations AEM competes with other natural gas marketers to provide

natural gas management and other related services primarily to smaller customers requiring higher levels of bal

ancing scheduling and other related management services AEM has experienced increased competition in recent

years from competitors who offer lower cost basic services

Adverse weather conditions could affect our operations or financial results

We have weather-normalized rates for over 95 percent of our residential and commercial meters in our natu

ral gas distribution business which substantially mitigates the adverse effects of warmer-than-normal weather for

meters in those service areas However there is no assurance that we will continue to receive such regulatory

protection from adverse weather in our rates in the future The loss of such weather-normalized rates could have

an adverse effect on our operations and financial results In addition our natural
gas

distribution and regulated

transmission and storage operating results may continue to vary
somewhat with the actual temperatures during

the winter heating season Sustained cold weather could adversely affect our nonregulated operations as we may
be required to purchase gas at spot rates in rising market to obtain sufficient volumes to fulfill some customer

contracts Additionally sustained cold weather could challenge our ability to adequately meet customer demand

in our natural gas distribution and regulated transmission and storage operations

Our growth in the future may be limited by the nature of our business which requires extensive capital

spending

We must continually build additional capacity in our natural gas distribution system to enable us to serve

any growth in the number of our customers The cost of adding this capacity may be affected by number of

factors including the general state of the economy and weather In addition although we should ultimately

recover the cost of the expenditures through rates we must make significant capital expenditures to comply with

rules issued by the RRCs Division of Public Safety that require natural gas distribution companies to develop

and implement risk-based programs for the renewal or replacement of distribution facilities including steel serv

ice lines Our cash flows from operations generally are sufficient to supply funding for all our capital

expenditures including the financing of the costs of new construction along with capital expenditures necessary

to maintain our existing natural gas system Due to the timing of these cash flows and capital expenditures we

often must fund at least portion of these costs through borrowing funds from third-party lenders the cost and
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availability of which is dependent on the liquidity of the credit markets interest rates and other market con

ditions This in turn may limit our ability to connect new customers to our system due to constraints on the

amount of funds we can invest in our infrastructure

The costs of providing health care benefits pension and postretirement health care benefits and related

funding requirements may increase substantially

We provide health care benefits and cash-balance pension plan and postretirement health care benefits to

eligible full-time employees The costs of providing health care benefits to our employees could significantly

increase over time due to rapidly increasing health care inflation the impact of the Health Care Reform Act of

2010 HCR and any future legislative changes related to the provision of health care benefits Although the HCR

is not expected to have direct material impact when number of its more significant provisions become effec

tive in 2014 the impact of costs incurred by the insurance industry arising from the implementation of HCR on

the Company are difficult to measure at this time

The costs of providing cash-balance pension plan and postretirement health care benefits to eligible full-

time employees and related funding requirements
could be influenced by changes in the market value of the

assets funding our pension and postretirement health care plans Any significant declines in the value of these

investments could increase the costs of our pension and postretirement health care plans and related funding

requirements in the future Further our costs of providing
such benefits and related funding requirements are also

subject to number of factors including changing demographics including longer life expectancy of benefi

ciaries and an expected increase in the number of eligible fonner employees over the next five to ten years and

ii various actuarial calculations and assumptions which may differ materially from actual results due primarily

to changing market and economic conditions and higher or lower withdrawal rates

The costs to the Company of providing these benefits and related funding requirements could also increase

materially in the future depending on the timing of the recovery if any of such costs through our rates

We may experience increased federal state and local regulation of the safety of our operations

We are committed to constantly monitoring and maintaining our pipeline and distribution system to ensure

that natural gas
is delivered safely reliably and efficiently through our network of more than 72000 miles of

pipeline and distribution lines The pipeline replacement programs currently underway in several of our divisions

typify the preventive maintenance and continual renewal that we perform on our natural gas distribution system

in the eight states in which we currently operate The safety and protection of the public our customers and our

employees is our top priority However due primarily to the unfortunate pipeline incident in California in 2010

natural gas distribution and pipeline companies are facing increasing federal state and local oversight of the

safety of their operations Although we believe these costs should be ultimately recoverable through our rates the

costs of complying with such increased regulations may have at least short-term adverse impact on our operat

ing costs and financial results

Some of our operations are subject to increased federal regulatory oversight that could affect our operations

and financial results

FERC has regulatory authority over some of our operations including sales of natural gas in the wholesale

gas market and the use and release of interstate pipeline and storage capacity FERC has adopted rules designed

to prevent market power abuse and market manipulation and to promote compliance with FERCs other rules

policies and orders by companies engaged in the sale purchase transportation or storage of natural gas
in inter

state commerce These rules carry
increased penalties

for violations Although we have taken steps to structure

current and future transactions to comply with applicable current FERC regulations changes in FERC regu

lations or their interpretation by FERC or additional regulations issued by FERC in the future could also

adversely affect our business financial condition or financial results
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We are subject to environmental regulations which could adversely affect our operations or financial

results

We are subject to laws regulations and other legal requirements enacted or adopted by federal state and

local governmental authorities relating to protection of the environment and health and safety matters including

those that govern discharges of substances into the air and water the management and disposal of hazardous

substances and waste the clean-up of contaminated sites groundwater quality and availability plant and wildlife

protection as well as work practices related to employee health and safety Environmental legislation also

requires that our facilities sites and other properties associated with our operations be operated maintained

abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities Failure to comply with these

laws regulations permits and licenses may expose us to fines penalties or interruptions in our operations that

could be significant to our financial results In addition existing environmental regulations may be revised or our

operations may become subject to new regulations

Our business may be subject in the future to additional regulatory and financial risks associated with global

warming and climate change

There have been number of federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives proposed in recent years

in an attempt to control or limit the effects of global warming and overall climate change including greenhouse

gas emissions such as carbon dioxide The adoption of this type of legislation by Congress or similar legislation

by states or the adoption of related regulations by federal or state governments mandating substantial reduction

in greenhouse gas emissions in the future could have far-reaching and significant impacts on the energy industry

Such new legislation or regulations could result in increased compliance costs for us or additional operating

restrictions on our business affect the demand for natural gas or impact the prices we charge to our customers

At this time we cannot predict the potential impact of such laws or regulations that may be adopted on our future

business financial condition or financial results

Distributing transporting and storing natural gas involie risks that may result in accidents and additional

operating costs

Our natural
gas

distribution and pipeline and storage businesses involve number of hazards and operating

risks that cannot be completely avoided such as leaks accidents and operational problems which could cause

loss of human life as well as substantial financial losses resulting from property damage damage to the

environment and to our operations We maintain liability and property insurance coverage in place for many of

these hazards and risks However because some of our pipeline storage and distribution facilities are near or are

in populated areas any loss of human life or adverse financial results resulting from such events could be large

If these events were not fully covered by insurance our operations or financial results could be adversely

affected

Cyber-attacks or acts of cyber-terrorism could disrupt our business operations and information technology

systems or result in the loss or exposure of confidential or sensitive customer employee or Company

information

Our business operations and information technology systems may be vulnerable to an attack by individuals

or organizations intending to disrupt our business operations and information technology systems We use such

systems to manage our natural gas distribution and intrastate pipeline operations and other business processes

Disruption of those systems could adversely impact our ability to safely deliver natural gas to our customers

operate our pipeline systems or serve our customers timely Accordingly if such an attack or act of terrorism

were to occur our operations and financial results could be adversely affected In addition we use our

information technology systems to protect confidential or sensitive customer employee and Company
information developed and maintained in the normal course of our business Any attack on such systems that

would result in the unauthorized release of customer employee or other confidential or sensitive data could have

material adverse effect on our business reputation increase our costs and expose us to additional material legal

claims and liability Even though we have insurance coverage in place for many of these cyber-related risks if

such an attack or act of terrorism were to occur our operations and financial results could be adversely affected
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Natural disasters terrorist activities or other significant events could adversely affect our operations or

financial results

Natural disasters are always threat to our assets and operations In addition the threat of terrorist activities

could lead to increased economic instability and volatility in the price of natural gas that could affect our oper

ations Also companies in our industry may face heightened risk of exposure to actual acts of terrorism which

could subject our operations to increased risks As result the availability of insurance covering such risks may

be more limited which could increase the risk that an event could adversely affect our operations or financial

results

ITEM lB Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable

ITEM Properties

Distribution transmission and related assets

At September 30 2013 in our natural gas
distribution segment we owned an aggregate of 67146 miles of

underground distribution and transmission mains throughout our gas distribution systems These mains are

located on easements or rights-of-way which generally provide for perpetual use We maintain our mains through

program of continuous inspection and repair and believe that our system of mains is in good condition Through

our regulated transmission and storage segment we owned 5628 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines as

well as 110 miles of gas
transmission and gathering lines through our nonregulated segment

Storage Assets

We own underground gas storage facilities in several states to supplement the supply of natural gas in peri

ods of peak demand The following table summarizes certain information regarding our underground gas storage

facilities at September 30 2013

Maximum

Total Daily Delivery

Usable Capacity Cushion Gas Capacity Capability

State Mc Mcf Mc Mc

Natural Gas Distribution Segment

Kentucky 4442696 6322283 10764979 105100

Kansas 3239000 2300000 5539000 45000

Mississippi 2211894 2442917 4654811 48000

Total 9893590 11065200 20958790 198100

Regulated Transmission and Storage

Segment Texas 46143226 15878025 62021251 1235000

Nonregulated Segment

Kentucky 3438900 3240000 6678900 67500

Louisiana 438583 300973 739556 56000

Total 3877483 3540973 7418456 123500

Total 59914299 30484198 90398497 1556600

Cushion gas represents the volume of gas
that must be retained in facility to maintain reservoir pressure

20



Additionally we contract for storage service in underground storage facilities on many of the interstate pipe

lines serving us to supplement our proprietary storage capacity The following table summarizes our contracted

storage capacity at September 30 2013

Maximum
Maximum Daily

Storage Withdrawal

Quantity Quantity

Segment Division/Company MMBtu MDWQ
Natural Gas Distribution Segment

Colorado-Kansas 1ivision 4261909 108489

Kentucky/Mid-States Division 11081603 344706

Louisiana Division 2736539 161393

Mid-Tex Division 1000000 75000

Mississippi Division 3695429 162402

West Texas Division 3375000 106000

Total 26150480 957990

Non regulated Segment

Atmos Energy Marketing LLC 8026869 250937

Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline Inc 1674000 67507

Total 9700869 318444

Total Contracted Storage Capacity 35851349 1276434

Maximum daily withdrawal quantity MDWQ amounts will fluctuate depending upon the season and the

month Unless otherwise noted MDWQ amounts represent the MDWQ amounts as of November which is

the beginning of the winter heating season

Offices

Our administrative offices and corporate headquarters are consolidated in leased facility in Dallas Texas

We also maintain field offices throughout our service territory the majority of which are located in leased facili

ties The headquarters for our nonregulated operations are in Houston Texas with offices in Houston and other

locations primarily in leased facilities

ITEM Legal Proceedings

See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements

ITEM Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Our stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol ATO The high and low sale

prices and dividends paid per share of our common stock for fiscal 2013 and 2012 are listed below The high and

low prices listed are the closing NYSE quotes as reported on the NYSE composite tape for shares of our com

mon stock

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Dividends Dividends

High Low Paid High Low Paid

Quarter ended

December 31 $36.86 $33.20 $0.35 $35.40 $30.97 $0345

March31 42.69 35.11 0.35 33.15 30.60 0.345

June 30 44.87 38.59 0.35 35.07 30.91 0.345

September30 45.19 39.40 0.35 36.94 34.94 0.345

$1.40 $1.38

Dividends are payable at the discretion of our Board of Directors out of legally available funds The Board

of Directors typically declares dividends in the same fiscal quarter in which they are paid The number of record

holders of our common stock on October 31 2013 was 16746 Future payments of dividends and the amounts of

these dividends will depend on our financial condition results of operations capital requirements and other fac

tors We sold no securities during fiscal 2013 that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933 as

amended
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Performance Graph

The performance graph and table below compares the yearly percentage change in our total return to share

holders for the last five fiscal years with the total return of the SP 500 Stock Index and the cumulative total

return of customized peer company group the Comparison Company Index The Comparison Company Index

is comprised of natural gas distribution companies with similar revenues market capitalizations and asset bases

to that of the Company The graph and table below assume that $100.00 was invested on September 30 2008 in

our common stock the SP 500 Index and in the common stock of the companies in the Comparison Company

Index as well as reinvestment of dividends paid on such investments throughout the period

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return

among Atmos Energy Corporation SP 500 Index

and Comparison Company Index

$230

I60

$150

$80
9/30/08 9/30/09 9/30/10 9/30/11 9/30/12 9/30/13

Atmos Energy Corporation SP 500 A-Peer Group

Cumulative Total Return

9/30/2008 9/30/2009 9/30/2010 9/30/2011 9/30/2012 9/30/2013

Atmos Energy Corporation 100.00 111.68 121.63 140.75 161.81 199.54

SP500 100.00 93.09 102.55 103.72 135.05 161.17

Peer Group 100.00 98.11 130.03 153.00 184.92 217.15

The Comparison Company Index contains hybrid group of utility companies primarily natural
gas

dis

tribution companies recommended by our independent executive compensation consulting firm and approved by

the Board of Directors The companies included in the index are AGL Resources Inc CenterPoint Energy

Resources Corporation CMS Energy Corporation Integrys Energy Group Inc National Fuel Gas NiSource

Inc ONEOK Inc Piedmont Natural Gas Company Inc Questar Corporation Vectren Corporation and WGL
Holdings Inc
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The following table sets forth the number of securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensa

tion plans at September 30 2013

Number of Number of securities remaining

securities to be issued Weighted-average available for future issuance

upon exercise of exercise price of under equity compensation

outstanding options outstanding options plans excluding securities

warrants and rights warrants and_rights
reflected in column

Equity compensation plans approved

by security holders

1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan 7930 $25.96 1403439

Total equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 7930 25.96 1403439

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders

Total 7930 $25.96 1403439

On September 28 2011 the Board of Directors approved program authorizing the repurchase of up to five

million shares of common stock over five-year period The program is primarily intended to minimize the dilu

tive effect of equity grants under various benefit related incentive compensation plans of the Company Although

the program is authorized for five-year period it may be terminated or limited at any time Shares may be

repurchased in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions in amounts the Company deems appro

priate We did not repurchase any shares during fiscal 2013 At September 30 2013 there were 4612009 shares

of repurchase authority remaining under the program

ITEM Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financial data of the Company and should be read in conjunction with

the consolidated financial statements included herein

Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

In thousands except per share data

Results of Operations

Operating revenues $3886257 $3438483 $4286435 $4661060 $4793248

Gross profit $1412050 $1323739 $1300820 $1314136 $1297682

Income from continuing operations 230698 192196 189588 189851 175026

Net income 243194 216717 207601 205839 190978

Diluted income per share from

continuing operations
2.50 2.10 2.07 2.03 1.90

Diluted net income per share 2.64 2.37 2.27 2.20 2.07

Cash dividends declared per share 1.40 1.38 1.36 1.34 1.32

Financial Condition

Net property plant and equipment2 $6030655 $5475604 $5147918 $4793075 $4439103

Total assets $7940401 $7495675 $7282871 $6763791 $6367083

Capitalization

Shareholders equity $2580409 $2359243 $2255421 $2178348 $2176761

Long-term debt excluding current

maturities 2455671 1956305 2206117 1809551 2169400

Total capitalization $5036080 $4315548 $4461538 $3987899 $4346161

Financial results for fiscal years 2012 2011 and 2009 include $5.3 million $30.3 million and

$5.4 million pre-tax loss for the impairment of certain assets

Amounts shown for fiscal 2012 and 2011 are net of assets held for sale
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ITEM Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

This section provides managements discussion of the financial condition changes in financial condition

and results of operations of Atmos Energy Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries with specific

information on results of operations and liquidity and capital resources It includes managements interpretation

of our financial results the factors affecting these results the major factors expected to affect future operating

results and future investment and financing plans This discussion should be read in conjunction with our con

solidated financial statements and notes thereto

Several factors exist that could influence our future financial performance some of which are described in

Item 1A above Risk Factors They should be considered in connection with evaluating forward-looking state

ments contained in this report or otherwise made by or on behalf of us since these factors could cause actual

results and conditions to differ materially from those set out in such forward-looking statements

Cautionary Statementfor the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform

Act of 1995

The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain forward-looking statements

within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking state

ments made in good faith by us and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 When used in this Report or any other of our documents or

oral presentations the words anticipate believe estimate expect forecast goal intend

objective plan projection seek strategy or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking

statements Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results

to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to our strategy operations mar

kets services rates recovery of costs availability of gas supply and other factors These risks and uncertainties

include the following our ability to continue to access the credit markets to satisfy our liquidity requirements

regulatory trends and decisions including the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commis

sions the impact of adverse economic conditions on our customers the effects of inflation and changes in the

availability and price of natural gas market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities

including market liquidity commodity price volatility increasing interest rates and counterparty creditworthi

ness the concentration of our distribution pipeline and storage operations in Texas increased competition from

energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy adverse weather conditions the capital-intensive nature of our

gas distribution business increased costs of providing pension and postretirement health care benefits and

increased funding requirements along with increased costs of health care benefits possible increased federal

state and local regulation of the safety of our operations increased federal regulatory oversight and potential

penalties the impact of environmental regulations on our business the impact of possible future additional regu

latory and financial risks associated with global warming and climate change on our business the inherent haz

ards and risks involved in operating our gas distribution business the threat of cyber-attacks or acts of cyber

terrorism that could disrupt our business operations and information technology systems natural disasters

terrorist activities or other events and other risks and uncertainties discussed herein all of which are difficult to

predict and many of which are beyond our control Accordingly while we believe these forward-looking state

ments to be reasonable there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the

expectations derived from them will be realized Further we undertake no obligation to update or revise any of

our forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judg

ments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of

contingent assets and liabilities We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions

that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ from estimates
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Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note to our consolidated financial statements The

accounting policies discussed below are both important to the presentation of our financial condition and results

of operations and require management to make difficult subjective or complex accounting estimates Accord

ingly these critical accounting policies are reviewed periodically by the Audit Committee of the Board of Direc

tors

Critical Factors Influencing

Accounting Policy Summary of Policy Application of the Policy

Regulation Our natural gas distribution and regulated trans- Decisions of regulatory

mission and storage operations meet the criteria of authorities

cost-based rate-regulated entity under account-
Issuance of new

ing principles generally accepted in the United
regulations

States Accordingly the financial results for these

operations reflect the effects of the ratemaking and Assessing the probability

accounting practices and policies of the various of the recoverability of

regulatory commissions to which we are subject deferred costs

As result certain costs that would normally be

expensed under accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States are permitted to be

capitalized or deferred on the balance sheet

because it is probable they can be recovered

through rates Further regulation may impact the

period in which revenues or expenses are recog

nized The amounts to be recovered or recognized

are based upon historical experience and our

understanding of the regulations

Discontinuing the application of this method of

accounting for regulatory assets and liabilities

could significantly increase our operating

expenses as fewer costs would likely be cap

italized or deferred on the balance sheet which

could reduce our net income

Unbilled Revenue We follow the revenue accrual method of account- Estimates of delivered

ing for natural gas distribution segment revenues sales volumes based on

whereby revenues attributable to gas delivered to actual tariff information

customers but not yet billed under the cycle bill- and weather information

ing method are estimated and accrued and the and estimates of customer

related costs are charged to expense consumption and/or

behavior

On occasion we are permitted to implement new Estimates of purchased

rates that have not been formally approved by our gas costs related to esti

regulatory authorities which are subject to refund mated deliveries

We recognize this revenue and establish reserve
Estimates of uncollectible

for amounts that could be refunded based on our
amounts billed subject to

experience for the jurisdiction in which the rates
refund

were implemented
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Critical Factors Influencing

Accounting Policy Summary of Policy Application of the Policy

Pension and other

postretirement plans Pension and other postretirement plan costs and General economic and

liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis market conditions

using September 30 measurement date and are
Assumed investment

affected by numerous assumptions and estimates
returns by asset class

including the market value of plan assets esti

mates of the expected return on plan assets Assumed future salary

assumed discount rates and current demographic increases

and actuarial mortality data The assumed discount

Projected timing of future
rate and the expected return are the assumptions

cash disbursements
that generally have the most significant impact on

our pension costs and liabilities The assumed Health care cost

discount rate the assumed health care cost trend
experience trends

rate and assumed rates of retirement generally

have the most significant impact on our
Participant demographic

postretirement plan costs and liabilities
information

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculat-
Actuarial mortality

ing the actuarial present value of our pension and assumptions

postretirement obligations and net periodic pen- Impact of legislation

sion and postretirement benefit plan costs When

establishing our discount rate we consider high

quality corporate bond rates based on bonds avail

able in the marketplace that are suitable for set

tling the obligations changes in those rates from

the prior year and the implied discount rate that is

derived from matching our projected benefit dis

bursements with currently available high quality

corporate bonds

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is

utilized in calculating the expected return on plan

assets component of our annual pension and post-

retirement plan costs We estimate the expected

return on plan assets by evaluating expected bond

returns equity risk premiums asset allocations the

effects of active plan management the impact of

periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical per

formance We also consider the guidance from our

investment advisors in making final determination

of our expected rate of return on assets To the

extent the actual rate of return on assets realized

over the course of
year

is greater than or less than

the assumed rate that years annual pension or

postretirement plan costs are not affected Rather

this gain or loss reduces or increases future pension

or postretirement plan costs over period of

approximately ten to twelve years

The market-related value of our plan assets repre

sents the fair market value of the plan assets

adjusted to smooth out short-term market fluctua

tions over five-year period The use of this meth

odology will delay the impact of current market

fluctuations on the pension expense for the period
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Critical

Accounting Policy

Contingencies

Financial instruments and

hedging activities

Summary of Policy

We estimate the assumed health care cost trend

rate used in determining our postretirement net

expense
based upon our actual health care cost

experience the effects of recently enacted legis

lation and general economic conditions Our

assumed rate of retirement is estimated based

upon our annual review of our participant census

information as of the measurement date

In the normal course of business we are con

fronted with issues or events that may result in

contingent liability These generally relate to

uncollectible receivables lawsuits claims made

by third parties or the action of various regulatory

agencies We recognize these contingencies in our

consolidated financial statements when we

determine based on currently available facts and

circumstances it is probable that liability has

been incurred or an asset will not be recovered

and an amount can be reasonably estimated

Actual results may differ from estimates depend

ing on actual outcomes or changes in the facts or

expectations surrounding each potential exposure

Changes in the estimates related to contingencies

could have negative impact on our consolidated

results of operations cash flows or financial posi

tion Our contingencies are further discussed in

Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements

We use financial instruments to mitigate commod

ity price risk and interest rate risk The objectives

for using financial instruments have been tailored

to meet the needs of our regulated and non-

regulated businesses These objectives are more

fully described in Note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements

We record all of our financial instruments on the

balance sheet at fair value as required by account

ing principles generally accepted in the United

States with changes in fair value ultimately

recorded in the income statement The recognition

of the changes in fair value of these financial

instruments recorded in the income statement is

contingent upon whether the financial instrument

has been designated and qualifies as part of

hedging relationship or if regulatory rulings require

different accounting treatment Our accounting

elections for financial instruments and hedging

activities utilized are more fully described in Note

12 to the consolidated financial statements

Factors Influencing

Application of the Policy

Currently available facts

Managements estimate of

future resolution

Designation of contracts

under the hedge account

ing rules

Judgment in the applica

tion of accounting guid

ance

Assessment of the

probability that future

hedged transactions will

occur

Changes in market con

ditions and the related

impact on the fair value of

the hedged item and the

associated designated

financial instrument

Changes in the effective

ness of the hedge relation

ship
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Summary of Policy

The criteria used to determine if financial instru

ment meets the definition of derivative and

qualifies for hedge accounting treatment are

complex and require management to exercise

professional judgment Further as more fully

discussed below significant changes in the fair

value of these financial instruments could materi

ally impact our financial position results of oper

ations or cash flows Finally changes in the

effectiveness of the hedge relationship could

impact the accounting treatment

The fair value of our financial instruments is sub

ject to potentially significant volatility based on

numerous considerations including but not lim

ited to changes in commodity prices interest rates

maturity and settlement of these financial instru

ments

Prices actively quoted on national exchanges are

used to determine the fair value of most of our

assets and liabilities recorded on our balance sheet

at fair value Within our nonregulated operations

we utilize mid-market pricing convention the

mid-point between the bid and ask prices for

determining fair value measurement as permitted

under current accounting standards Values

derived from these sources reflect the market in

which transactions involving these financial

instruments are executed

We utilize models and other valuation methods to

determine fair value when external sources are not

available Values are adjusted to reflect the poten

tial impact of an orderly liquidation of our posi

tions over reasonable period of time under then-

current market conditions

We believe the market prices and models used to

value these financial instruments represent the

best information available with respect to the

market in which transactions involving these

financial instruments are executed the closing

exchange and over-the-counter quotations time

value and volatility factors underlying the con

tracts

General economic and

market conditions

Volatility in underlying

market conditions

Maturity dates of financial

instruments

Creditworthiness of our

counterparties

Creditworthiness of

Atmos Energy

Impact of credit risk miti

gation activities on the

assessment of the cred

itworthiness of Atmos

Energy and its counter-

parties

Critical

Accounting Policy

Factors Influencing

Application of the Policy

Fair Value

Measurements We report certain assets and liabilities at fair val

ue which is defined as the price that would be

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer

liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date exit price
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Critical Factors Influencing

Accounting Policy Summary of Policy Application of the Policy

Fair-value estimates also consider our own cred

itworthiness and the creditworthiness of the coun

terparties involved Our counterparties consist

primarily of financial institutions and major

energy companies This concentration of counter-

parties may materially impact our exposure to

credit risk resulting from market economic or

regulatory conditions We seek to minimize coun

terparty credit risk through an evaluation of their

financial condition and credit ratings and the use

of collateral requirements under certain circum

stances

Impairment assessments .. We review the carrying value of our long-lived General economic and

assets including goodwill and identifiable market conditions

intangibles whenever events or changes in

Projected timing and
circumstance indicate that such carrying values

amount of future dis

may not be recoverable and at least annually for
counted cash flows

goodwill as required by U.S accounting stan

dards

The evaluation of our goodwill balances and other Judgment in the evalua

long-lived assets or identifiable assets for which tion of relevant data

uncertainty exists regarding the recoverability of

the carrying value of such assets involves the

assessment of future cash flows and external

market conditions and other subjective factors that

could impact the estimation of future cash flows

including but not limited to the commodity prices

the amount and timing of future cash flows future

growth rates and the discount rate Unforeseen

events and changes in circumstances or market

conditions could adversely affect these estimates

which could result in an impairment charge

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Atmos Energy Corporation is involved in the distribution marketing and transportation of natural gas

Accordingly our results of operations are impacted by the demand for natural gas particularly during the winter

heating season and the volatility of the natural
gas

markets Historically this has generally resulted in higher

operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each fiscal year and lower

operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of

each fiscal year As result of the seasonality of the natural gas industry our second fiscal quarter has histor

ically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 54 percent of our consolidated net

income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal
years However

we believe rate design changes implemented during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 in our Mid-Tex and West

Texas Divisions should continue to cause this pattern to change The rate design approved in these regulatory

proceedings includes an increase to the customer base charge and decrease in the consumption charge applied

to customer usage The effect of this change in rate design should result in more equal distribution of operating

income earned over the fiscal year for approximately 50 percent of our natural
gas

distribution segment
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Additionally the seasonality of our business impacts our working capital differently at various times during

the year Typically our accounts receivable accounts payable and short-term debt balances peak by the end of

January and then start to decline as customers begin to pay their winter heating bills Gas stored underground

particularly in our natural gas distribution segment typically peaks in November and declines as we utilize stor

age gas to serve our customers

During fiscal 2013 we earned $243.2 million or $2.64 per diluted share which represents twelve percent

increase in net income and diluted net income per
share over fiscal 2012 primarily due to recent improvements

in rate designs in our natural gas distribution and regulated transmission and storage segments combined with

two percent year-over-year
increase in consolidated natural gas distribution throughput due to colder weather

We completed the salle of our Georgia natural
gas

distribution operations on April 2013 to Liberty Energy

Georgia Corp an affiliate of Algonquin Power Utilities Corp for cash price of approximately $153 million

pursuant to purchase agreement executed on August 2012 In connection with the sale we recognized net

of tax gain of $5.3 million Accordingly the results of operations for this service area are shown in discontinued

operations for all periods presented Prior-year results also reflect our Illinois Iowa and Missouri service areas in

discontinued operations The sale of these three service areas was completed in August 2012

We also took several steps during the year ended September 30 2013 to further strengthen our balance sheet

and borrowing capability In December 2012 we amended our $750 million revolving credit agreement primarily

to increase our borrowing capacity to $950 million while retaining the accordion feature that would allow an

increase in borrowing capacity up to $1.2 billion and ii to permit same-day funding on base rate loans In

August 2013 we amended our revolving credit agreement primarily to increase the term through August 2018

We also terminated Atmos Energy Marketings $200 million committed and secured credit facility and replaced

this facility with two $25 million 364-day bilateral facilities which should result in decrease in external credit

expense
incurred in our nonregulated operations After giving effect to these changes we have over $1 billion of

working capital funding from four committed revolving credit facilities and one noncommitted revolving credit

facility

On January 11 2013 we issued $500 million of 4.15% 30-year unsecured senior notes which replaced on

long-term basis our $250 million 5.125% 10-year unsecured senior notes we redeemed in August 2012 The net

proceeds of approximately $494 million were used to repay $260 million outstanding under the short-term

financing facility used to redeem our 5.125% senior notes and to partially repay commercial paper borrowings

and for general corporate purposes
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Consolidated Results

The following table presents our consolidated financial highlights for the fiscal years ended September 30

2013 2012 and 2011

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands except per share data

Operating revenues $3886257 $3438483 $4286435

Gross profit 1412050 1323739 1300820

Operating expenses 910171 877499 874834

Operating income 501879 446240 425986

Miscellaneous income expense 197 14644 21184

Interest charges 128385 141174 150763

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 373297 290422 296407

Income tax expense 142599 98226 106819

Income from continuing operations 230698 192196 189588

Income from discontinued operations net of tax 7202 18172 18013

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax 5294 6349

Net income 243194 216717 207601

Diluted net income per share from continuing operations 2.50 2.10 2.07

Diluted net income per share from discontinued

operations 0.14 0.27 0.20

Diluted net income per share 2.64 2.37 2.27

Regulated operations contributed 95 percent 97 percent and 104 percent to our consolidated net income

from continuing operations for fiscal years 2013 2012 and 2011 Our consolidated net income during the last

three fiscal
years was earned across our business segments as follows

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Natural gas distribution segment $150856 $123848 $144705

Regulated transmission and storage segment 68260 63059 52415

Nonregulated segment 11582 5289 7532

Net income from continuing operations 230698 192196 189588

Net income from discontinued operations 12496 24521 18013

Net income $243194 $216717 $207601
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The following table segregates our consolidated net income and diluted earnings per
share between our

regulated and nonregulated operations

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands except per share data

Regulated operations $219116 $186907 $197120

Nonregulated operalions 11582 5289 7532

Net income from continuing operations 230698 192196 189588

Net income from discontinued operations 12496 24521 18013

Net income $243194 $216717 $207601

Diluted EPS from continuing regulated operations 2.38 2.04 2.15

Diluted EPS from nonregulated operations 0.12 0.06 0.08

Diluted EPS from continuing operations 2.50 2.10 2.07

Diluted EPS from discontinued operations 0.14 0.27 0.20

Consolidated diluted EPS 2.64 2.37 2.27

We reported net income of $243.2 million or $2.64 per diluted share for the year ended September 30

2013 compared with net income of $216.7 million or $2.37 per diluted share in the prior year Income from con

tinuing operations was $230.7 million or $2.50 per diluted share compared with $192.2 million or $2.10 per

diluted share in the prior-year period Income from discontinued operations was $12.5 million or $0.14 per

diluted share for the year which includes the gain on sale of substantially all our assets in Georgia of $5.3 mil

lion compared with $24.5 million or $0.27 per diluted share in the prior year Unrealized gains in our non-

regulated operations during the current year increased net income by $5.3 million or $0.05 per diluted share

compared with net losses recorded in the prior year of $5.0 million or $0.05 per diluted share Additionally net

income in both periods was impacted by nonrecurring items In fiscal 2012 net income included the net positive

impact of several one-time items totaling $10.3 million or $0.11 per diluted share related to the pre-tax items

which are discussed in further detail below In fiscal 2013 net income includes an $8.2 million $5.3 million net

of tax or $0.06 per diluted share favorable impact related to the gain recorded in association with the April

2013 completion of the sale of our Georgia assets

We reported net income of $216.7 million or $2.37 per
diluted share for the

year ended September 30

2012 compared with net income of $207.6 million or $2.27 per
diluted share in fiscal 2011 Income from

continuing operations was $192.2 million or $2.10 per diluted share compared with $189.6 million or $2.07 per

diluted share in fiscal 2011 Income from discontinued operations was $24.5 million or $0.27 per diluted share

for the year which includes the gain on sale of substantially all our assets in Missouri Illinois and Iowa of $6.3

million compared with $18.0 million or $0.20 per
diluted share in fiscal 2011 Unrealized losses in our non-

regulated operations during fiscal 2012 reduced net income by $5.0 million or $0.05 per diluted share compared

with net losses recorded in fiscal 2011 of $6.6 million or $0.07 per diluted share Additionally net income in

both periods was impacted by nonrecurring items In fiscal 2011 net income included the net positive impact of

several one-time items totaling $3.2 million or $0.03 per diluted share related to pre-tax items In fiscal 2012 net

income included the net positive impact of several one-time items totaling $10.3 million or $0.11 per
diluted

share related to the following amounts

$13.6 million positive impact of deferred tax rate adjustment

$10.0 million $6.3 million net of tax unfavorable impact related to one-time donation to donor

advised fund

$9.9 million $6.3 million net of tax favorable impact related to the gain recorded in association with the

August 2012 completion of the sale of our Iowa Illinois and Missouri assets

$5.3 million $3.3 million net of tax unfavorable impact related to the noncash impairment of certain

assets in our nonregulated business
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See the following discussion regarding the results of operations for each of our business operating segments

Natural Gas Distribution Segment

The primary factors that impact the results of our natural gas distribution operations are our ability to earn

our authorized rates of return the cost of natural gas competitive factors in the energy industry and economic

conditions in our service areas

Our ability to earn our authorized rates is based primarily on our ability to improve the rate design in our

various ratemaking jurisdictions by reducing or eliminating regulatory lag and ultimately separating the recov

ery
of our approved margins from customer usage patterns Improving rate design is long-term process

and is

further complicated by the fact that we operate in multiple rate jurisdictions The Ratemaking Activity section

of this Form 10-K describes our current rate strategy progress towards implementing that strategy and recent

ratemaking initiatives in more detail

We are generally able to pass the cost of gas through to our customers wiihout markup under purchased gas

cost adjustment mechanisms therefore the cost of gas typically does not have an impact on our gross profit as

increases in the cost of
gas are offset by corresponding increase in revenues Accordingly we believe gross

profit is better indicator of our financial performance than revenues However gross profit in our Texas and

Mississippi service areas include franchise fees and gross receipt taxes which are calculated as percentage of

revenue inclusive of gas costs Therefore the amount of these taxes included in revenue is influenced by the

cost of
gas

and the level of gas sales volumes We record the tax expense as component of taxes other than

income Although changes in revenue related taxes arising from changes in gas costs affect gross profit over

time the impact is offset within operating income

Although the cost of
gas typically does not have direct impact on our gross profit higher gas costs may

adversely impact our accounts receivable collections resulting in higher bad debt expense and may require us to

increase borrowings under our credit facilities resulting in higher interest expense In addition higher gas costs

as well as competitive factors in the industry and general economic conditions may cause customers to conserve

or in the case of industrial consumers to use alternative energy sources However gas cost risk has been miti

gated in recent years through improvements in rate design that allow us to collect from our customers the gas

cost portion of our bad debt expense on approximately 75 percent
of our residential and commercial margins

We completed the sale of our Georgia natural gas distribution operations on April 2013 to Liberty Energy

Georgia Corp an affiliate of Algonquin Power Utilities Corp for cash price of approximately $153 mil

lion In connection with the sale we recognized net of tax gain of $5.3 million On August 2012 we com

pleted the sale of substantially all of our natural gas
distribution operations in Missouri Illinois and Iowa

During fiscal 2013 we completed 13 regulatory proceedings which should result in $71.4 million increase

in annual operating income The majority of this rate increase related to our Mid-Tex Division where rates

became effective January 2013 The rate design approved in our Mid-Tex Division and West Texas Division

regulatory proceedings includes an increase to the base customer charge and decrease in the commodity charge

applied to customer consumption The effect of this change in rate design allows the Companys rates to be more

closely aligned with the utility industry standard rate design In addition we anticipate these divisions will earn

their operating income more ratably over the fiscal year as they are now less dependent on customer con

sumption
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Review of Financial and Operating Results

Financial and operational highlights for our natural gas distribution segment for the fiscal years ended Sep
tember 30 2013 2012 and 2011 are presented below

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011

In thousands unless otherwise noted

Gross profit $1081236 $1022743 $1017943 58493 4800

Operating expenses 738143 718282 695855 19861 22427

Operating income 343093 304461 322088 38632 17627
Miscellaneous income expense 2535 12657 16242 15192 28899
Interest charges 98296 1110642 115740 12346 5098
Income from continuing operations

before income taxes 247332 181162 222590 66170 41428
Income tax expense 96476 57314 77885 39162 20571

Income from continuing

operations 150856 123848 144705 27008 20857
Income from discontinued operations

netoftax 7202 18172 18013 10970 159

Gain on sale of discontinued

operations net of tax 5649 6349 700 6349

Net Income 163707 $148369 162718 15338 $14349

Consolidated natural gas distribution

sales volumes from continuing

operations MMcf 269162 244466 275540 24696 31074
Consolidated natural gas distribution

transportation volumes from

continuing operations- MMcf 123144 128222 125812 5078 2410

Consolidated natural
gas distribution

throughput from continuing

operations MMcf 392306 372688 401352 19618 28664
Consolidated natural gas distribution

throughput from discontinued

operations MMcf 4731 18295 22668 13564 4373
Total consolidated natural gas

distribution throughput

MMcf 397037 390983 424020 6054 33037

Consolidated natural gas distribution

average transportation revenue per

Mcf 0.46 0.43 0.47 0.03 0.04
Consolidated natural gas distribution

average cost of
gas per Mcf sold 4.91 4.64 5.30 0.27 0.66

Fiscal year ended September 30 2013 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2012

The $58.5 million period-over-period increase in natural gas distribution
gross profit primarily reflects the

following

$25.7 million increase in our Mid-Tex and West Texas divisions associated with the rate design changes

implemented in the fiscal first quarter

$16.1 million increase in rates in our Kentucky/Mid-States Mississippi Colorado-Kansas and Louisiana

divisions
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$7.5 million increase due to colder weather primarily in the Mississippi Kentucky/Mid-States
and

Colorado-Kansas divisions

$5.9 million increase in revenue-related taxes in our Mid-Tex and West Texas service areas primarily
due

to higher revenues on which the tax is calculated

$4.5 million increase in transportation revenues

Operating expenses which include operation and maintenance expense provision for doubtful accounts

depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income increased by $19.9 million primarily due to

the following

$12.2 million increase in employee-related expenses due to lower labor capitalization rates increased

benefit costs and increased variable compensation expense

$1 1.7 million increase primarily associated with higher line locate activities pipeline
and right-of-way

maintenance spending to improve the safety and reliability of our system

$5.0 million increase in taxes other than income due to higher revenue--related taxes as discussed above

$6.8 million increase in bad debt expense primarily attributable to an increase in revenue arising from the

rate design changes and the temporary suspension of active customer collection activities following the

implementation
of new customer information system during the third fiscal quarter

These increases were partially offset by

$6.9 million decrease in legal and other administrative costs

$6.4 million decrease in depreciation expense due to new depreciation rates approved in the most recent

Mid-Tex rate case that went into effect in January 2013

$2.4 million gain realized on the sale of certain investments

Miscellaneous income increased $15.2 million primarily due to the absence of $10.0 million one-time

donation to donor advised fund in the prior year the completion of periodic review of our performance-based

ratemaking PBR mechanism in our Tennessee service area and the implementation of new PBR program in

our Mississippi Division during fiscal 2013

Interest charges decreased $12.3 million primarily from interest deferrals associated with our infrastructure

spending activities in Texas

Fiscal year ended September 30 2012 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2011

The $4.8 million increase in natural gas
distribution gross profit was primarily due to $17.7 million net

increase in rate adjustments primarily in the Mid-Tex Louisiana Mississippi West Texas and Kentucky service

areas

These increases were partially offset by the following

$11.1 million decrease in revenue-related taxes in our Mid-Tex West Texas and Mississippi service

areas primarily
due to lower revenues on which the tax is calculated

$1.6 million decrease due to an eight percent decrease in consolidated throughput caused principally by

lower residential and commercial consumption combined with warmer weather in the current year com

pared to fiscal 2011 in most of our service areas
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Operating expenses which include operation and maintenance expense provision for doubtful accounts

depreciation and amortization expense
and taxes other than income increased $22.4 million primarily due to the

following

$11.2 million increase in legal costs primarily due to settlements

$10.6 million increase in employee-related costs

$8.4 million increase in depreciation and amortization associated with an increase in our net plant as

result of our capital investments in fiscal 2011

$2.6 million increase in software maintenance costs

These increases were partially offset by the following

$6.8 million decrease in operating expenses due to increased capital spending and warmer weather allow

ing us time to complete more capital work than in the prior year

$2.9 million decrease due to the establishment of regulatory assets for pension and postretirement costs

Miscellaneous income decreased $28.9 million primarily due to the absence of $21.8 million pre-tax gain

recognized in fiscal 2011 as result of unwinding two Treasury locks $13.6 million net of tax and $10.0 mil

lion one-time donation to donor advised fund in fiscal 2012

Interest charges decreased $5.1 million compared to the prior year due primarily to the prepayment of our

5.125% $250 million senior notes in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 refinancing long-term debt at reduced

interest rates and reducing commitment fees from decreasing the number of credit facilities and extending the

length of their terms in fiscal 2011

Additionally results for fiscal 2012 were favorably impacted by state tax benefit of $11.3 million Due to

the completion of the sale of our Missouri Iowa and Illinois service areas in the fiscal fourth quarter the Com

pany updated its analysis of the tax rate at which deferred taxes would reverse in the future to reflect the sale of

these service areas The updated analysis supported reduction in the deferred tax rate which when applied to the

balance of taxable income deferred to future periods resulted in reduction of the Companys overall deferred

tax liability

The following table shows our operating income from continuing operations by natural gas distribution divi

sion in order of total rate base for the fiscal years
ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 The presentation

of our natural gas distribution operating income is included for financial reporting purposes
and may not be

appropriate for ratemaking purposes

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011

In thousands

Mid-Tex $158900 $142755 $144204 $16145 1449

Kentucky/Mid-States 46164 32185 37593 13979 5408

Louisiana 52125 48958 50442 3167 1484

WestTexas 28085 27875 29686 210 1811

Mississippi 29112 27369 26338 1743 1031

Colorado-Kansas 25478 23898 25920 1580 2022

Other 3229 1421 7905 1808 6484

Total $343093 $304461 $322088 $38632 $l7627

Regulated Transmission and Storage Segment

Our regulated transmission and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of

the Atmos Pipeline Texas Division The Atmos Pipeline Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid

Tex Division and third parties and manages five underground storage
reservoirs in Texas We also provide ancil

lary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements lending and sales of excess gas
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Our regulated transmission and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns competitive fac

tors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our Mid-Tex service area Natural
gas prices do not

directly impact the results of this segment as revenues are derived from the transportation of natural gas How

ever natural gas prices and demand for natural gas could influence the level of drilling activity in the markets

that we serve which may influence the level of throughput we may be able to transport on our pipeline Further

natural gas price differences between the various hubs that we serve could influence customers to transport gas

through our pipeline to capture arbitrage gains

The results of Atmos Pipeline Texas Division are also significantly impacted by the natural gas require

ments of the Mid-Tex Division because it is the primary supplier of natural gas
for our Mid-Tex Division

Finally as regulated pipeline the operations of the Atmos Pipeline Texas Division may be impacted by

the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its

tariffs

Review of Financial and Operating Results

Financial and operational highlights for our regulated transmission and storage segment for the fiscal years

ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 are presented below

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011

In thousands unless otherwise noted

Mid-Tex Division transportation $179628 $162808 $125973 $16820 $36835

Third-party transportation 66939 64158 73676 2781 9518

Storage and park and lend services 5985 6764 7995 779 1231
Other 16348 13621 11729 2727 1892

Gross profit 268900 247351 219373 21549 27978

Operating expenses 129047 118527 111098 10520 7429

Operating income 139853 128824 108275 11029 20549

Miscellaneous income expense 2285 1051 4715 1234 5766
Interest charges 30678 29414 31432 1264 2018

Income before income taxes 106890 98359 81558 8531 16801

Income tax expense 38630 35300 29143 3330 6157

Net income 68260 63059 $52415 5201 $10644

Gross pipeline transportation

volumes MMcf 649740 640732 620904 9008 19828

Consolidated pipeline transportation

volumesMMcf 467178 466527 435012 651 31515

Fiscal year ended September 30 2013 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2012

The $21.5 million increase in regulated transmission and storage gross profit compared to the prior-year

period was primarily result of the Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program GRIP filings approved by the Rail

road Commission of Texas RRC during fiscal 2012 and 2013 During fiscal 2012 the RRC approved the Atmos

Pipeline Texas GRIP filing with an annual operating income increase of $14.7 million effective April 2012

On May 2013 the RRC approved the Atmos Pipeline Texas GRIP filing with an annual operating income

increase of $26.7 million that went into effect with bills rendered on and after May 2013 GRIP filings

increased period-over-period gross profit by $19.7 million

This increase was partially offset by $10.5 million increase in operating expenses largely attributable to

increased depreciation expense as result of increased capital investments and increased levels of pipeline and

right-of-way maintenance activities to improve the safety and reliability of our system
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The APT rate case approved by the RRC on April 18 201 contained an annual adjustment mechanism

approved for three-year pilot program that adjusted regulated rates up or down by 75 percent of the difference

between APTs non-regulated annual revenue and pre-defineci base credit The annual adjustment mechanism

expired on June 30 2013 APT requested to extend the annual adjustment mechanism until November 2017

hearing to review the request was held on October 29 2013 with final decision expected in December 2013

Fiscal year ended September 30 2012 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2011

The $28.0 million increase in regulated transmission and storage gross profit compared to the prior year was

primarily result of the rate case that was finalized and became effective in May 2011 as well as the GRIP fil

ings approved by the RRC during fiscal 2011 and 2012 In May 2011 the RRC issued an order in the rate case of

Atmos Pipeline Texas that approved an annual operating income increase of $20.4 million During fiscal

2011 the RRC approved the Atmos Pipeline Texas GRIP filing with an annual operating income increase of

$12.6 million that went into effect in the fiscal fourth quarter On April 10 2012 the RRC approved the Atmos

Pipeline Texas GRIP filing with an annual operating income increase of $14.7 million that went into effect

with bills rendered on an after April 10 2012

Operating expenses
increased $7.4 million primarily due to $5.4 million increase in depreciation expense

resulting from higher investment in net plant

Additionally results for fiscal 2012 were favorably impacted by state tax benefit of $2.3 million asso

ciated with an update of the estimated tax rate at which deferred taxes would reverse in future periods after the

completion of the sale of our Missouri Illinois and Iowa assets Net income for this segment for fiscal 2011 was

favorably impacted by $6.0 million pre-tax gain recognized in March 2011 as result of unwinding two Treas

ury locks $3.9 million net of tax

Nonregulated1Segment

Our nonregulated operations are conducted through Atmos Energy Holdings Inc AEH wholly-owned

subsidiary of Atmos Energy Corporation and represent approximately five percent of our consolidated net

income

AEH primary business is to buy sell and deliver natural gas at competitive prices to approximately 1000

customers located primarily in the Midwest and Southeast areas of the United States AEH accomplishes this

objective by aggregating and purchasing gas supply arranging transportation and storage logistics and effectively

managing commodity price risk

AEH also earns storage and transportation demand fees primarily from our regulated natural gas distribution

operations in Louisiana arid Kentucky These demand fees are subject to regulatory oversight and are renewed

periodically

Our nonregulated activities are significantly influenced by competitive factors in the industry and general

economic conditions Therefore the margins earned from these activities are dependent upon our ability to attract

and retain customers and to minimize the cost of buying selling and delivering natural gas to offer more com

petitive pricing to those customers

Further natural gas market conditions most notably the price of natural gas and the level of price volatility

affect our nonregulated businesses Natural gas prices and the level of volatility are influenced by number of

factors including but not limited to general economic conditions the demand for natural gas in different parts of

the country the level of domestic natural gas production and the level of natural gas inventory levels

Natural gas prices can influence

The demand for natural gas Higher prices may cause customers to conserve or use alternative energy

sources Conversely lower prices could cause customers such as electric power generators to switch from

alternative energy sources to natural gas

Collection of accounts receivable from customers which could affect the level of bad debt expense recog

nized by this segment
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The level of borrowings under our credit facilities which affects the level of interest expense recognized

by this segment

Natural gas price volatility can also influence our nonregulated business in the following ways

Price volatility influences basis differentials which provide opportunities to profit from identifying the

lowest cost alternative among the natural gas supplies transportation and markets to which we have

access

Increased or decreased volatility impacts the amounts of unrealized margins recorded in our gross profit

and could impact the amount of cash required to collateralize our risk management liabilities

Our nonregulated segment manages its exposure to natural gas commodity price risk through combination

of physical storage and financial instruments Therefore results for this segment include unrealized gains or

losses on its net physical gas position and the related financial instruments used to manage commodity price risk

These margins fluctuate based upon changes in the spreads between the physical and forward natural gas prices

The magnitude of the unrealized gains and losses is also contingent upon the levels of our net physical position at

the end of the reporting period

Review of Financial and Operating Results

Financial and operational highlights for our nonregulated segment for the fiscal years ended September 30

2013 2012 and 2011 are presented below

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011

In thousands unless otherwise noted

Realized margins

Gas delivery and related services 39839 46578 58990 6739 $12412

Storage and transportation services 14641 13382 14570 1259 1188

Other 103 3179 1841 3282 1338

Total realized margins 54377 63139 75401 8762 12262

Unrealized margins 8954 8015 10401 16969 2386

Gross profit 63331 55124 65000 8207 9876

Operating expenses excluding asset

impairment 44404 36886 39113 7518 2227

Asset impairment 5288 30270 5288 24982

Operating income loss 18927 12950 4383 5977 17333

Miscellaneous income 2316 1035 657 1281 378

Interest charges 2168 3084 4015 916 931

Income loss from continuing operations

before income taxes 19075 10901 7741 8174 18642

Income tax expense benefit 7493 5612 209 1881 5821

Income loss from continuing operations 11582 5289 7532 6293 12821

Loss on sale of discontinued operations net

of tax 355 355

Net income loss 11227 5289 $7532 5938 $12821

Gross nonregulated delivered gas sales

volumes MMcf 396561 400512 446903 3951 46391

Consolidated nonregulated delivered gas

sales volumes MMcf 343669 351628 384799 7959 33171

Net physical position Bcf 12.0 18.8 21.0 6.8 2.2
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Fiscal year ended September 30 2013 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2012

Gross profit increased $8.2 million for the year ended September 30 2013 compared to the prior year Real

ized margins decreased $8.8 million primarily attributable to lower gas delivery margins Consolidated sales

volumes decreased two percent due to increased competition which reduced industrial and power generation

sales The impact of lower sales volumes was compounded by decrease in per-unit margins from 11.6 cents per

Mcf to 10.0 cents per Mcf This decrease was offset by an increase of $17.0 million in unrealized margins

primarily due to the year-over-year timing of realized margins on the settlement of hedged natural gas inventory

positions

Operating expenses increased $7.5 million primarily due to increased litigation and software support costs

partially offset by reduced employee costs

Miscellaneous income increased $1.3 million primarily due to gain realized from the sale of peaking

power facility and related assets during the first quarter of fiscal 2013

Fiscal year ended September 30 2012 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2011

Realized margins for gas delivery storage and transportation services and other services were $63.1 million

during the year ended Seltember 30 2012 compared with $75.4 million for fiscal 2011 The decrease reflects the

following

nine percent decrease in consolidated sales volumes The decrease was largely attributable to warmer

weather which reduced sales to utility municipal and other weather-sensitive customers

$0.O2JMcf decrease in gas delivery per-unit margins compared to the prior year primarily due to lower

basis differentials resulting from increased natural gas supply and increased transportation costs

Unrealized margins increased $2.4 million in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to the year-

over-year timing of realized margins on the settlement of hedged natural gas inventory positions

Operating expenses excluding asset impairments decreased $2.2 million primarily due to lower employee-

related expenses

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 we recorded $5.3 million noncash charge to impair our natural

gas gathering assets located in Kentucky The charge reflected reduction in the value of the project due to the

current low natural gas price environment and managements decision to focus AEHs activities on its
gas

deliv

ery storage and transportation services In fiscal 2011 asset impairments included an asset impairment charge of

$19.3 million related to our investment in our Fort Necessity storage project as well as an $11.0 million pre-tax

impairment charge related to the write-off of certain natural gas gathering assets

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The liquidity required to fund our working capital capital expenditures and other cash needs is provided

from variety of sources including internally generated funds and borrowings under our commercial paper pro

gram and bank credit facilities Additionally we have various uncommitted trade credit lines with our gas

suppliers that we utilize to purchase natural
gas on monthly basis Finally from time to time we raise funds

from the public debt and equity capital markets to fund our liquidity needs

We regularly evaluate our funding strategy and profile to ensure that we have sufficient liquidity for our

short-term and long-term needs in cost-effective manner and iimaintain our debt to capitalization ratio in

target range
of 50 to 55 percent
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The following table presents our capitalization as of September 30 2013 and 2012

September30

2013 2012

In thousands except percentages

Short-term debt 367984 6.8% 570929 11.7%

Long-term debt 2455671 45.4% 1956436 40.0%

Shareholders equity
2580409 47.8% 2359243 48.3%

Total capitalization including short-term debt $5404064 100.0% $4886608 100.0%

Total debt as percentage of total capitalization including short-term debt was 52.2 percent
and 51.7 per

cent at September 30 2013 and 2012

On January 11 2013 we issued $500 million of 4.15% 30-year unsecured senior notes which in effect

replaced our $250 million 5.125% 10-year unsecured senior notes we redeemed in August 2012 on long-term

basis The net proceeds of approximately $494 million were used to repay $260 million outstanding under our

short-term financing facility used to redeem our 5.125% senior notes and to partially repay
commercial paper

borrowings and for general corporate purposes

Going forward we anticipate our capital spending will be more consistent with levels experienced during

fiscal 2013 as we continue to invest in the safety and reliability of our distribution and transportation system We

plan to continue to fund our growth and maintain balanced capital structure through the use of long-term debt

securities and to lesser extent equity

Further $500 million of long-term debt will mature in October 2014 We plan to issue new senior notes to

replace this maturing debt During the current year we entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to fix the

Treasury yield component associated with this anticipated issuance at 3.129% We believe the liquidity provided

by our senior notes and committed credit facilities combined with our operating cash flows will be sufficient to

fund our working capital needs and capital expenditure program for fiscal year 2014

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to number of factors some of which we

cannot control These factors include regulatory changes the price for our services the demand for such products

and services margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices operational risks and

other factors

Cash flows from operating investing and financing activities for the years ended September 30 2013 2012

and 2011 are presented below

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011

In thousands

Total cash provided by used in

Operating activities 613127 586917 582844 26210 4073

Investing activities 696914 609260 627386 87654 18126

Financing activities 85747 44837 44009 130584 88846

Change in cash and cash equivalents 1960 67180 533 69140 66647

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

period
64239 131419 131952 67180 533

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

period
66199 64239 $131419 1960 $67180
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Cash flows from operating activities

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows primarily are attributable to changes in net income

working capital changes particularly within our natural gas distribution segment resulting from the price of natu

ral gas and the timing of customer collections payments for natural gas purchases and purchased gas cost recov

eries The significant factors impacting our operating cash flow for the last three fiscal years are summarized

below

Fiscal Year ended September 30 2013 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2012

For the fiscal year ended September 30 2013 we generated operating cash flow of $613.1 million from

operating activities compared with $586.9 million in the prior year The year-over-year increase reflects changes

in working capital offset by $10.5 million decrease in contributions made to our pension and postretirement

plans in the current year

Fiscal Year ended September 30 2012 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2011

For the fiscal year ended September 30 2012 we generated operating cash flow of $586.9 million from

operating activities compared with $582.8 million in fiscal 2011 The year-over-year increase reflects changes in

working capital offset by $56.7 million increase in contributions made to our pension and postretirement plans

during fiscal 2012

Cash flows from investing activities

Our ongoing capital expenditure program enables us to provide safe and reliable natural gas distribution

services to our existing customer base expand our natural gas distribution services into new markets and enhance

the integrity of our pipelines In recent years we have increased our level of capital spending to improve the

safety and reliability of our distribution system and to expand our intrastate pipeline network Over the last three

fiscal years approximately 68 percent of our capital spending has been committed to improving the safety and

reliability of our system

Over the next five
years we anticipate our capital spending will be more consistent with levels experienced

during fiscal 2013 as we continue to invest in the safety and reliability of our distribution and transportation sys

tem Where possible we will also continue to focus our capital spending in jurisdictions that permit us to earn an

adequate return timely on our investment without compromising the safety or reliability of our system

For the fiscal year ended September 30 2013 we incurred $845.0 million for capital expenditures compared

with $732.9 million for the fiscal year ended September 30 20 and $623.0 million for the fiscal year ended

September 30 2011

Fiscal Year ended September 30 2013 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2012

The $112.1 million increase in capital expenditures in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 primarily reflects

spending incurred for the Line and Line WX expansion projects and increased cathodic protection spending in

our regulated transmission and storage segment

Fiscal Year ended September 30 2012 compared with fiscal year ended September 30 2011

The $109.9 million increase in capital expenditures in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 primarily reflects

spending for the steel service line replacement program in the Mid-Tex Division the development of new

customer billing and information systems for our natural gas distribution and our nonregulated segments and

increased capital spending to increase the capacity on our Atmos Pipeline Texas system
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Cash flows from financing activities

We received net $85.7 million and $44.0 million in cash from financing activities for fiscal years 2013 and

2011 In fiscal 2012 we used net $44.8 million in financing activities Our significant financing activities for

the fiscal years ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 are summarized as follows

2013

During the fiscal
year

ended September 30 2013 our financing activities generated $85.7 million of cash

compared with $44.8 million of cash used in the prior year Current year cash flows from financing activities

were significantly influenced by the issuance of $500 million 4.15% 30-year unsecured senior notes on Jan

uary 11 2013 We used portion of the net cash proceeds of $493.8 million to repay $260 million short-term

financing facility executed in fiscal 2012 to settle for $66.6 million three Treasury Locks associated with the

issuance and to reduce short-term debt borrowings by $167.2 million

2012

During the fiscal year ended September 30 2012 our financing activities used $44.8 million of cash primar

ily due to the payment of $257.0 million associated with the early redemption of our $250 million 5.125% Senior

notes that were scheduled to mature in January 2013 The repayment of our $250 million 5.125% Senior notes

was financed using $260 million short-term loan Additionally we repurchased $12.5 million of common stock

under our 2011 share repurchase program

2011

During the fiscal year
ended September 30 2011 our financing activities generated $44.0 million of cash

primarily related to the issuance of $400 million 5.50% Senior Notes in June 2011 and the related settlement of

three Treasury locks for $20.1 million We used portion of the net cash proceeds of $394.5 million to pay

scheduled long-term debt repayments including our $350 million 7.375% senior notes that were paid on their

maturity date in May 2011 Additionally we received $27.8 million cash in March 2011 related to the unwinding

of two Treasury locks

The following table shows the number of shares issued for the fiscal years ended September 30 2013 2012

and 2011

For the Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

Shares issued

1998 Long-term incentive plan 531672 482289 675255

Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2088 2375 2385

Total shares issued 533760 484664 677640

The increase in the number of shares issued in fiscal 2013 compared with the number of shares issued in

fiscal 2012 primarily reflects the type of awards that were issued from the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan

LTIP In the current year employees were issued restricted stock units for which we issued new shares In the

prior year employees were issued restricted stock awards which were held in trust and did not require the issu

ance of new shares During fiscal 2013 we canceled and retired 133449 shares attributable to federal with

holdings on equity awards which are not included in the table above At September 30 2013 of the 8.7 million

shares authorized for issuance from the LTIP 1.4 million shares remained available

The decreased number of shares issued in fiscal 2012 compared with the number of shares issued in fiscal

2011 primarily reflects the exercise of significant number of stock options during fiscal 2011 During fiscal

2012 we canceled and retired 153255 shares attributable to federal withholdings on equity awards and

repurchased and retired 387991 shares attributable to our share repurchase program which are not included in

the table above
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Credit Facilities

Our short-term borr wing requirements are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural
gas

business

Changes in the price of natural gas and the amount of natural gas we need to supply to meet our customers needs

could significantly affect our borrowing requirements

We finance our short-term borrowing requirements through combination of $950 million commercial

paper program which is collateralized by our $950 million unsecured credit facility as well as three additional

committed revolving credit facilities and one uncommitted revolving credit facility with third-party lenders As

result we have approximately $1 billion of working capital funding Additionally our $950 million unsecured

credit facility has an accordion feature which if utilized would increase borrowing capacity to $1.2 billion We
also use intercompany credit facilities to supplement the funding provided by these third-party committed credit

facilities

Shelf Registration

On March 28 2013 we filed registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission to

issue from time to time up to $1.75 billion in common stock and/or debt securities available for issuance which

replaced our registration statement that expired on March 31 2013 As of September 30 2013 $1.75 billion was

available under the shelf registration statement

Credit Ratings

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing in addition to the

cost of such financing In determining our credit ratings the rating agencies consider number of quantitative

factors including debt to total capitalization operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt operating cash

flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status In addition the rating agencies consider qual

itative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time the quality of our management and business strat

egy the risks associated with our regulated and nonregulated businesses and the regulatory environment in the

states where we operate

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies Standard Poors Corporation SP Moodys Investors Serv

ice Moodys and Fitch Ratings Ltd Fitch Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and

are as follows

SP Moodys Fitch

Unsecured senior long-term debt A- Baal A-

Commercial paper A-2 P-2 F-2

On October 2013 SP upgraded our senior unsecured debt rating to A- from BBB with ratings out

look of stable citing an improved business risk profile from an increasing contribution of earnings from our

regulated operations and focusing our nonregulated operations on our delivered
gas

business

significant degradation in our operating performance or significant reduction in our liquidity caused by

more limited access to the private and public credit markets as result of deteriorating global or national finan

cial and credit conditions could trigger negative change in our ratings outlook or even reduction in our credit

ratings by the three credit rating agencies This would mean more limited access to the private and public credit

markets and an increase in the costs of such borrowings

credit rating is not recommendation to buy sell or hold securities The highest investment grade credit

rating is AAA for SP Aaa for Moodys and AAA for Fitch The lowest investment grade credit rating is BBB
for SP Baa3 for Moodys and BBB- for Fitch Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by

the rating agencies and each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating There can be no

assurance that rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that rating will not be lowered or

withdrawn entirely by rating agency if in its judgment circumstances so warrant

Debt Covenants

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of September 30 2013 Our debt covenants are

described in Note to the consolidated financial statements
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table provides information about contractual obligations and commercial commitments at

September 30 2013

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than

Total year years 3-5 years years

In thousands

Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt $2460000 $500000 $250000 $1710000

Short-term debt 367984 367984

Interest charges2 1918491 144317 240097 218585 1315492

Gas purchase commitments3 230480 230480

Capital lease obligations4 822 186 372 264

Operating leases4 166802 16722 30276 30131 89673

Demand fees for contracted storage5 6088 4196 1252 284 356

Demand fees for contracted

transportation6 13098 8466 4604 28

Financial instrument obligations7 7676 1543 6133

Pension and postretirement benefit plan

contributions8 411623 67687 101176 82976 159784

Uncertain tax positions including

interest9 3172 3172

Total contractual obligations $5586236 $841581 $887082 $582268 $3275305

See Note to the consolidated financial statements

Interest charges were calculated using the stated rate for each debt issuance

Gas purchase commitments were determined based upon contractually determined volumes at prices esti

mated based upon the index specified in the contract adjusted for estimated basis differentials and con

tractual discounts as of September 30 2013

See Note to the consolidated financial statements

Represents third party contractual demand fees for contracted storage in our nonregulated segment Con

tractual demand fees for contracted storage for our natural gas distribution segment are excluded as these

costs are fully recoverable through our purchase gas adjustment mechanisms

Represents third party contractual demand fees for transportation in our nonregulated segment

Represents liabilities for natural gas commodity financial instruments that were valued as of September 30

2013 The ultimate settlement amounts of these remaining liabilities are unknown because they are subject to

continuing market risk until the financial instruments are settled

Represents expected contributions to our pension and postretirement benefit plans which are discussed in

Note to the consolidated financial statements

Represents
liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions claimed or expected to be claimed on tax

returns

With the exception of our Mid-Tex Division our natural gas
distribution segment maintains supply con

tracts with several vendors that generally cover period of up to one year Commitments for estimated base gas

volumes are established under these contracts on monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices Commit

ments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of

individual contracts Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure reliable source of

natural gas
for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices

The estimated commitments under the terms of these contracts as of September 30 2013 are reflected in the table

above
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AEH has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas
under contracts indexed to the forward

NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts At September 30 2013 AEH was committed to purchase 78.0 Bcf within

one year 21.9 Bcf within one to three years and 1.0 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts AEH is com

mitted to purchase 6.1 Bcf within one year and 0.2 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with

prices ranging from $3.32 to $6.36 per Mcf

Risk Management Activities

As discussed above in our Critical Accounting Policies we use financial instruments to mitigate commodity

price risk and periodically to manage interest rate risk We conduct risk management activities through our

natural gas distribution and nonregulated segments In our natural gas distribution segment we use combina

tion of physical storage fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to reduce our exposure to

unusually large winter-period gas price increases In our nonregulated segments we manage our exposure to the

risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through combination of storage and finan

cial instruments including futures over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with coun

terparties To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the

changes in the market indices we use in our hedges we could experience ineffectiveness or the hedges may no

longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting resulting in the financial instruments being

treated as mark to market instruments through earnings

We record our financial instruments as component of risk management assets and liabilities which are

classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying financial instru

ment Substantially all of our financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices

The following table shows the components of the change in fair value of our natural gas distribution seg
ments financial instruments for the fiscal year ended September 30 2013 in thousands

Fair value of contracts at September 30 2012 $76260
Contracts realized/settled 2590

Fair value of new contracts 3077

Other changes in value 180241

Fair value of contracts at September 30 2013 $109648

The fair value of our natural gas distribution segments financial instruments at September 30 2013 is pre

sented below by time period and fair value source

Fair Value of Contracts at September 30 2013

Maturity_in years
_________

Total

Less Greater Fair

Source of Fair Value than 1-3 4-5 than Value

In thousands

Prices actively quoted $294 $109354 $109648

Prices based on models and other valuation

methods

Total Fair Value $294 $109354 $109648
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The following table shows the components of the change in fair value of our nonregulated segments finan

cial instruments for the fiscal year
ended September 30 2013 in thousands

Fair value of contracts at September 30 2012 $15123

Contracts realized/settled 245

Fair value of new contracts

Other changes in value 668

Fair value of contracts at September 30 2013 14700

Netting of cash collateral 24829

Cash collateral and fair value of contracts at September 30 2013 10129

The fair value of our nonregulated segments financial instruments at September 30 2013 is presented

below by time period and fair value source

Fair Value of Contracts at September 30 2013

Maturity in years ________

Less Greater Total Fair

Source of Fair Value than 1-3 4-5 than Value

In thousands

Prices actively quoted $8567 $5957 $176 $14700

Prices based on models and other valuation methods

Total Fair Value $8567 $5957 $176 $14700

Employee Benefits Programs

An important element of our total compensation program and significant component of our operation and

maintenance expense is the offering of various benefits programs to our employees These programs include

medical and dental insurance coverage and pension and postretirement programs

Medical and Dental Insurance

We offer medical and dental insurance programs to substantially all of our employees and we believe these

programs are consistent with other programs in our industry Since 2006 we have experienced medical and pre

scription inflation of approximately four percent In recent years we have strived to actively manage our health

care costs through the introduction of wellness strategy that is focused on helping employees to identify health

risks and to manage these risks through improved lifestyle choices

In March 2010 President Obama signed The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act into law the

Health Care Reform Act The Health Care Reform Act will be phased in over an eight-year period We have

changed the design of our health care plans to comply with provisions of the Health Care Reform Act that have

already gone into effect or will be going into effect in future years
We will continue to monitor all developments

on health care reform and continue to comply with all existing relevant laws arid regulations

For fiscal 2014 we anticipate an approximate six percent medical and prescription drug inflation rate pri

marily due to anticipated higher claims costs and the implementation
of the Health Care Reform Act

Net Periodic Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

For the fiscal year ended September 30 2013 our total net periodic pension and other benefits costs was

$78.5 million compared with $69.2 million and $56.6 million for the fiscal years ended September 30 2012 and

2011 These costs relating to our natural gas
distribution operations are recoverable through our gas distribution

rates portion of these costs is capitalized into our gas distribution rate base and the remaining costs are

recorded as component of operation and maintenance expense

Our fiscal 2013 costs were determined using September 30 2012 measurement date At that date interest

and corporate bond rates utilized to determine our discount rates were lower than the interest and corporate bond

rates as of September 30 2011 the measurement date for our fiscal 2012 net periodic cost As result of the
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lower interest and corporate bond rates we decreased the discount rate used to determine our fiscal 2013 pension

and benefit costs to 4.04 percent
Our expected return on our pension plan assets was maintained at 7.75 percent

due to historical experience and the current market projection
of the target asset allocation As result our fiscal

2013 pension and postretirement
medical costs were higher than in the prior year

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits costs during fiscal 2012 compared with fiscal

2011 primarily
reflects the decrease in our discount rate at September 30 2011 the measurement date for our

fiscal 2012 pension and postretirement costs The discount rate used to compute the present value of plans

liabilities generally
is based on rates of high-grade corporate

bonds with maturities similar to the average period

over which the benefits will be paid At our September 30 2011 measurement date the interest and corporate

bond rates used to determine our fiscal 2012 net periodic pension cost were significantly lower than the rates at

September 30 2010 the measurement date used to determine our fiscal 2011 net periodic cost Our expected

return on our pension plan assets was reduced to 7.75 percent due to historical experience and the then-current

market projection of the target asset allocation

Pension and Postretirernent Plan Funding

Generally our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount that will at least equal the minimum

amount required to comply with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ERISA However

additional voluntary
contributions are made from time to time as considered necessary Contributions are

intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to late but also for those expected to be earned in

the future

In accordance with the Pension Protection Act of 2006 PPA we determined the funded status of our plans

as of January 2013 Based on this valuation we were required to contribute cash of $32.7 million $46.5 mil

lion and $0.9 million to our pension plans during fiscal 2013 2012 and 2011 The higher level of contributions

experienced during fiscal 2013 and 2012 reflect lower discount rates than in previous years Each contribution

increased the level of our plan assets to achieve desirable PPA funding threshold

We contributed $26.6 million and $22.1 million to our postretirement
benefits plans for the fiscal years

ended September 30 2013 and 2012 The contributions represent
the portion of the postretirement costs we are

responsible for under the terms of our plan and minimum funding required by state regulatory commissions

Outlook for Fiscal 2014 and Beyond

As of September 30 2013 interest and corporate bond rates were higher than the rates as of September 30

2012 Therefore we increased the discount rate used to measure our fiscal 2014 net periodic cost from 4.04 per

cent to 4.95 percent However we decreased the expected return on plan assets from 7.75 percent to 7.25 percent

in the determination of our fiscal 2014 net periodic pension cost based upon expected market returns for our tar

geted asset allocation As result of the net impact of changes in these and other assumptions we expect our

fiscal 2014 net period pension cost to decrease by less than five percent

Based upon market conditions subsequent to September 30 2013 the current funded position of the plans

and the funding requirements under the PPA we anticipate contributing between $15 million and $25 million to

the Plans in fiscal 2014 Further we will consider whether an additional voluntary contribution is prudent to

maintain certain PPA funding thresholds With respect to our postretirement
medical plans we anticipate con

tributing between $25 million and $30 million during fiscal 2014

Actual changes in the fair market value of plan assets and differences between the actual and expected

return on plan assets could have material effect on the amount of pension costs ultimately recognized 0.25

percent change in our discount rate would impact our pension and postretirement costs by approximately $2.8

million 0.25 percent change in our expected rate of return would impact our pension and postretirement costs

by approximately $1.0 million
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The projected pension liability future funding requirements and the amount of pension expense or income

recognized for the Plan are subject to change depending upon the actuarial value of plan assets and the determi
nation of future benefit obligations as of each subsequent actuarial calculation date These amounts are impacted

by actual investment returns changes in interest rates and changes in the demographic composition of the partic

ipants in the plan

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position results of operations and cash

flows are described in Note to the consolidated financial statements

ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates Commodity price risk is the

potential loss that we may incur as result of changes in the fair value of particular instrument or commodity
Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and

liquidity for our business activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our natural
gas distribution and nonregulated seg

ments In our natural gas distribution segment we use combination of physical storage fixed physical contracts

and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price
increases In our nonregulated segment we manage our exposure to the risk of natural

gas price changes and lock

in our gross profit margin through combination of storage and financial instruments including futures over-the-

counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties Our risk management activities and

related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements

Additionally our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as result of our issuance of short-

term commercial
paper and our other short-term borrowings

Commodity Price Risk

Natural gas distribution segment

We purchase natural
gas

for our natural gas distribution operations Substantially all of the costs of gas

purchased for natural gas distribution operations are recovered from our customers through purchased gas cost

adjustment mechanisms Therefore our natural
gas distribution operations have limited commodity price risk

exposure

1%/unregulated segment

Our nonregulated segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural

gas For our nonregulated segment we use sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk For purposes
of this analysis we estimate commodity price risk by applying $0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to

our net open position including existing storage and related financial contracts at the end of each period Based

on AEHs net open position including existing storage and related financial contracts at September 30 2013 of

0.1 Bcf $0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have had $0.1 million impact on our consolidated

net income

Changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory Gas Daily
and the related fair-value hedge NYMEX can result in volatility in our reported net income but over time

gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges
Based upon our net physical position at September 30 2013 and assuming our hedges would still qualify as

highly effective $0.50 change in the difference between the Gas Daily and NYMEX indices would impact our

reported net income by approximately $3.7 million

Additionally these changes could cause us to recognize risk management liability which would require us

to place cash into an escrow account to collateralize this liability position This in turn would reduce the amount
of cash we would have on hand to fund our working capital needs
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Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial

paper program and other short-term borrowings We use sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest

rate risk For purposes
of this analysis we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our

actual interest expense
for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming hypothetical aver

age one percent increase in ihe interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings Had interest rates asso

ciated with our short-term borrowings increased by an average
of one percent our interest expense would have

increased by approximately $3.2 million during 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Atmos Energy Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation as of Sep

tember 30 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statements of income comprehensive income share

holders equity and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended September 30 2013 Our audits

also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item These financial statements and

schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assess

ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the con

solidated financial position of Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30 2013 and 2012 and the consolidated

results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30 2013 in

conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial state

ment schedule when considered in relation to the financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all

material respects the financial information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Atmos Energy Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of September 30 2013

based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission 1992 framework and our report dated November 13 2013

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

Dallas Texas

November 13 2013
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September30

2013 2012

In thousands

except share data

ASSETS

Property plant and equipment $7446272 $6860358

Construction in progress
275747 274112

7722019 7134470

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1691364 1658866

Net property plant and equipment 6030655 5475604

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 66199 64239

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts of $20624 in 2013 and

$9425 in 2012 301992 234526

Gas stored underground 244741 256415

Other current assets 70334 272782

Total current assets 683266 827962

Goodwill and intangible assets 741484 740847

Deferred charges and other assets 484996 451262

$7940401 $7495675

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders equity

Common stock no par
value stated at $.005 per share

200000000 shares authorized issued and outstanding

2013 90640211 shares 201290239900 shares 453 451

Additional paid-in capital 1765811 1745467

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 38878 47607

Retained earnings
775267 660932

Shareholders equity
2580409 2359243

Long-term debt 2455671 1956305

Total capitalization
5036080 4315548

Commitments and contingencies

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 241611 215229

Other current liabilities 368891 489665

Short-term debt 367984 570929

Current maturities of long-term debt 131

Total current liabilities 978486 1275954

Deferred income taxes 1164053 1015083

Regulatory cost of removal obligation 359299 381164

Pension and postretirement liabilities 358787 457196

Deferred credits and other liabilities 43696 50730

$7940401 $7495675

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended September 30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands except per share data

Operating revenues

Natural gas
distribution segment $2399493 $2145330 $2470664

Regulated transmission and storage segment 268900 247351 219373

Nonregulated segment 1598711 1351303 2024893

Intersegment eliminations 380847 305501 428495

3886257 3438483 4286435

Purchased gas cost

Natural gas
distribution segment 1318257 1122587 1452721

Regulated transmission and storage segment

Nonregulated segment 1535380 1296179 1959893

Intersegment eliminations 379430 304022 426999

2474207 2114744 2985615

Gross profit 1412050 1323739 1300820

Operating expenses

Operation and maintenance 488020 453613 442965

Depreciation and amortization 235079 237525 223832

Taxes other than income 187072 181073 177767

Asset impairments 5288 30270

Total operating expenses 910171 877499 874834

Operating income 501879 446240 425986

Miscellaneous income expense net 197 14644 21184

Interest charges 128385 141174 150763

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 373297 290422 296407

Income tax expense
142599 98226 106819

Income from continuing operations 230698 192196 189588

Income from discontinued operations net of tax $3986 $10066 and

$12372 7202 18172 18013

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax $2909 $3519

and $0 5294 6349

Netincome 243194 216717 207601

Basic earnings per
share

Income per share from continuing operations 2.54 2.12 2.08

Income per
share from discontinued operations .. 0.14 0.27 0.20

Net income per share basic 2.68 2.39 2.28

Diluted earnings per share

Income per share from continuing operations 2.50 2.10 2.07

Income per share from discontinued operations 0.14 0.27 0.20

Net income per
share diluted 2.64 2.37 2.27

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 90533 90150 90201

Diluted 91711 91172 90652

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Net income

Other comprehensive income loss net of tax

Net unrealized holding gains losses on available-for-sale securities net

of tax of $186 $1881 and $953

Cash flow hedges

Amortization and unrealized gain loss on interest rate agreements

net of tax of $47236 $5388 and $16850

Net unrealized gains on commodity cash flow hedges net of tax of

$2889 $5029 and $3355 ________

Total other comprehensive income loss
_________

Total comprehensive income
________

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

$243194 $216717 $207601

213 3103 1647

82179 10116 28689

4519

86485

$329679

7866

853

$217570

5248

25088

$182513
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Balance September 30 2010

Net income

Other comprehensive loss

Repurchase of common stock

Repurchase of equity awards

Cash dividends $1.36 per share

Common stock issued

Direct stock purchase plan

1998 Long-term incentive plan

Employee stock-based compensation

Outside directors stock-for-fee plan

Balance September 30 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Repurchase of common stock

Repurchase of equity awards

Cash dividends $1.38 per share

Common stock issued

Direct stock purchase plan

1998 Long-term incentive plan

Employee stock-based compensation

Outside directors stock-for-fee plan

Balance September 30 2012

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Repurchase of equity awards

Cash dividends $1.40 per share

Common stock issued

Direct stock purchase plan

1998 Long-term incentive plan

Employee stock-based compensation

Outside directors stock-for-fee plan

Balance September 30 2013

65
12519

17752

78

1745467

5150

50
9530

15934

80

$1765811

5299

124011 124011

54
13889

9958

77

570495 2255421

216717 216717

853

12535

5219

125796 125796

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Accumulated

Other
Common stock

Additional Comprehensive

Number of Stated Paid-in Income Retained

Shares Value Capital Loss Earnings Total

In thousands except share and per share data

90164103 $451 $1714364 486905

207601

375468

169793

$23372

25088

5298

$2178348

207601

25088

48460

853

54
675255 13886

9958

2385 77

90296482 451 1732935

387991

153255

482289

2375

90239900 451

12533

5219

47607

86485

65

484 12037

17752

_________
78

2359243

243194

86485

5150

128115 128115

660932

243194

133449

531672

2088

90640211 $453

50
744 8788

15934

80

38878 775267 $2580409
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended September30

236928

679

141336

17814

8480

2887

73669
31979

15644

111069

31912

44491

96658

613127

845033

153023

4904

696914

208070

493793

66626

131
128115

5150
46

85747

1960

64239

66199

148461

10008

246093

484

104319

19222

8147

493

32578

28417

20989

50055

64234

7889

21424

586917

732858

128223

4625

609260

354141

257034

125796

12535

5219
1606

44837

67180

131419

64239

30270

233155

228

117353

11586

9438

961

96
27737

38048

53519

23904

57495

71691

582844

622965

4421

627386

83306

394466

20079

27803

360131

124011

5299
7796

44009

533
131952

$131419

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

243194 216717 207601

5288

8203 9868

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities

Asset impairments

Gain on sale of discontinued operations

Depreciation and amortization

Charged to depreciation and amortization

Charged to other accounts

Deferred income taxes

Stock-based compensation

Debt financing costs

Other

Changes in assets and liabilities

Increase decrease in accounts receivable

Decrease in gas stored underground

Increase decrease in other current assets

Increase decrease in deferred charges and other assets

Increase decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Increase decrease in other current liabilities

Increase decrease in deferred credits and other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from the sale of discontinued operations

Other net

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase decrease in short-term debt

Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt

Settlement of Treasury lock agreements

Unwinding of Treasury lock agreements

Repayment of long-term debt

Cash dividends paid

Repurchase of common stock

Repurchase of equity awards

Issuance of common stock

Net cash provided by used in financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

CASH PAID RECEIVED DURING THE PERIOD FOR
Interest

Income taxes

150606 157976

432 8329
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation Atmos Energy or the Company and our subsidiaries are engaged primarily

in the regulated natural gas distribution and transmission and storage businesses as well as certain other non-

regulated businesses Through our natural gas distribution business we deliver natural gas through sales and

transportation arrangements to over three million residential commercial public-authority and industrial

customers through our six regulated natural gas distribution divisions in the service areas described below

Division Service Area

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division Colorado Kansas

Atmos Energy Kentucky/Mid-States Division Kentucky Tennessee Virginia

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division Louisiana

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division Texas including the Dallas/Fort Worth

metropolitan area

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division Mississippi

Atmos Energy West Texas Division West Texas

Denotes location where we have more limited service areas

In addition we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system Our natural gas distribution

business is subject to federal and state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the states in

which our natural gas distribution divisions operate Our corporate headquarters and shared-services function are

located in Dallas Texas and our customer support centers are located in Amarillo and Waco Texas

Over the last two fiscal years we have sold our natural gas distribution operations in four states to stream

line our regulated operations On April 2013 we completed the divestiture of our natural gas distribution

operations in Georgia representing approximately 64000 customers and in August 2012 we completed the sale

of our natural gas distribution operations in Missouri Illinois and Iowa representing approximately 84000 cus

tomers

Our regulated transmission and storage business consists of the regulated operations of our Atmos Pipeline

Texas Division division of the Company This division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division trans

ports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas We also provide

ancillary services customary to the pipeline industry including parking arrangements lending and sales of

inventory on hand

Our nonregulated businesses operate primarily in the Midwest and Southeast through various wholly-owned

subsidiaries of Atmos Energy Holdings Inc AEH AEH is wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and

based in Houston Texas Through AEH we provide natural
gas management and transportation services to

municipalities natural gas distribution companies including certain divisions of Atmos Energy and third parties

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of

Atmos Energy Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries All material intercompany transactions have been

eliminated however we have not eliminated intercompany profits when such amounts are probable of recovery

under the affiliates rate regulation process

Basis of comparison Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year

presentation

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles gen

erally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses The most significant estimates include the allow

ance for doubtful accounts unbilled revenues legal and environmental accruals insurance accruals pension and

postretirement obligations deferred income taxes asset retirement obligations impairment of long-lived assets

risk management and trading activities fair value measurements and the valuation of goodwill and other long-

lived assets Actual results could differ from those estimates

Regulation Our natural gas distribution and regulated transmission and storage operations are subject to

regulation with respect to rates service maintenance of accounting records and various other matters by the

respective regulatory authorities in the states in which we operate Our accounting policies recognize the finan

cial effects of the ratemaking and accounting practices and policies of the various regulatory commissions

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States require cost-based rate-regulated entities that meet

certain criteria to reflect the authorized recovery of costs due to regulatory decisions in their financial statements

As result certain costs that would normally be expensed under accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States are permitted to be capitalized or deferred on the balance sheet because it is probable they can be

recovered through rates Further regulation may impact the period in which revenues or expenses are recognized

The amounts to be recovered or recognized are based upon historical experience and our understanding of the

regulations

We record regulatory assets as component of other current assets and deferred charges and other assets for

costs that have been deferred for which future recovery through customer rates is considered probable Regu

latory liabilities are recorded either on the face of the balance sheet or as component of current liabilities

deferred income taxes or deferred credits and other liabilities when it is probable that revenues will be reduced

for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process Significant regulatory assets and

liabilities as of September 30 2013 and 2012 included the following

September30

2013 2012

In thousands

Regulatory assets

Pension and postretirement benefit costs $187977 $296160

Merger and integration costs net 5250 5754

Deferred
gas costs 15152 31359

Regulatory cost of removal asset 10008 10500

Rate case costs 6329 4661

Deferred franchise fees 2714

Texas Rule 8.2092 30364 5370

APT annual adjustment mechanism 5853 4539

Recoverable loss on reacquired debt 21435 23944

Other 4380 7262

$286748 $392263

Regulatory liabilities

Deferred gas costs 16481 23072

Deferred franchise fees 1689

Regulatory cost of removal obligation 427524 459688

Other 7887 5637

$453581 $488397

Includes $17.4 million and $7.6 million of pension and postretirement expense deferred pursuant to regu

latory authorization
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPoRATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Texas Rule 8.209 is Railroad Commission rule that allows for the deferral of all expenses
associated with

capital expenditures incurred pursuant to this rule including the recording of interest on the deferred

expenses
until the next rate proceeding rate case or annual rate filing at which time investment and costs

would be recovered through base rates

The amounts above do not include regulatory assets and liabilities related to our Georgia operations which

were classified as assets held for sale at September 30 2012 as discussed in Note 16 As of September 30 2013

we did not have any assets or liabilities classified as held for sale due to the sale of substantially all of our Geor

gia assets on April 2013

Currently authorized rates do not include return on certain of our merger and integration costs however

we recover the amortization of these costs Merger and integration costs net are generally amortized on

straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years During the fiscal years ended September 30

2013 2012 and 2011 we recognized $0.5 million $0.5 million and $0.5 million in amortization expense related

to these costs

Revenue recognition Sales of natural gas to our natural gas
distribution customers are billed on

monthly basis however the billing cycle periods for certain classes of customers do not necessarily coincide

with accounting periods used for financial reporting purposes We follow the revenue accrual method of account

ing for natural gas distribution segment revenues whereby revenues applicable to gas
delivered to customers but

not yet billed under the cycle billing method are estimated and accrued and the related costs are charged to

expense

On occasion we are permitted to implement new rates that have not been formally approved by our state

regulatory commissions which are subject to refund As permitted by accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States we recognize this revenue and establish reserve for amounts that could be refunded based on

our experience for the jurisdiction in which the rates were implemented

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas

costs through purchased gas cost adjustment mechanisms Purchased gas cost adjustment mechanisms provide

gas distribution companies method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing rate

case to address all of their non-gas costs There is no gross profit generated through purchased gas cost adjust

ments but they provide dollar-for-dollar offset to increases or decreases in our natural gas distribution seg

ments gas costs The effects of these purchased gas cost adjustment mechanisms are recorded as deferred gas

costs on our balance sheet

Operating revenues for our regulated transmission and storage and nonregulated segments are recognized in

the period in which actual volumes are transported and storage services are provided

Operating revenues for our nonregulated segment and the associated carrying value of natural gas inventory

inclusive of storage costs are recognized when we sell the gas and physically deliver it to our customers

Operating revenues include realized gains and losses arising from the settlement of financial instruments used in

our nonregulated activities and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of natural gas

inventory designated as hedged item in fair value hedge and the associated financial instruments For the fis

cal years
ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 we included unrealized gains losses on open contracts of

$9.0 million $8.0 million and $l0.4 million as component of nonregulated revenues

Cash and cash equivalents We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three

months or less to be cash equivalents

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts Accounts receivable arise from natural gas

sales to residential commercial industrial municipal and other customers We establish an allowance for doubt

ful accounts to reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we reasonably expect to collect based on our col

lection experience or where we are aware of specific customers inability or reluctance to pay However if
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

circumstances change our estimate of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be affected Circumstances

which could affect our estimates include but are not limited to customer credit issues the level of natural gas

prices customer deposits and general economic conditions Accounts are written off once they are deemed to be

uncollectible

Gas stored underground Our gas
stored underground is comprised of natural gas injected into storage to

support the winter season withdrawals for our natural
gas

distribution operations and natural gas held by our

nonregulated segment to conduct their operations The average cost method is used for all our regulated oper

ations except for certain jurisdictions in the Kentucky/Mid-States Division where it is valued on the first-in

first-out method basis in accordance with regulatory requirements Our nonregulated segment utilizes the aver

age cost method however most of this inventory is hedged and is therefore reported at fair value at the end of

each month Gas in storage that is retained as cushion gas to maintain reservoir pressure
is classified as property

plant and equipment and is valued at cost

Regulated properly plant and equipment Regulated property plant and equipment is stated at original

cost net of contributions in aid of construction The cost of additions includes direct construction costs payroll

related costs taxes pensions and other fringe benefits administrative and general costs and an allowance for

funds used during construction The allowance for funds used during construction represents the estimated cost

of funds used to finance the construction of major projects and are capitalized in the rate base for ratemaking

purposes when the completed projects are placed in service Interest expense of $1.9 million $2.6 million and

$1.7 million was capitalized in 2013 2012 and 2011

Major renewals including replacement pipe and betterments that are recoverable under our regulatory rate

base are capitalized while the costs of maintenance and repairs that are not recoverable through rates are charged

to expense as incurred The costs of large projects are accumulated in construction in progress until the project is

completed When the project is completed tested and placed in service the balance is transferred to the regulated

plant in service account included in the rate base and depreciation begins

Regulated property plant and equipment is depreciated at various rates on straight-line basis These rates

are approved by our regulatory commissions and are comprised of two components one based on average serv

ice life and one based on cost of removal Accordingly we recognize our cost of removal expense as compo

nent of depreciation expense The related cost of removal accrual is reflected as regulatory liability on the

consolidated balance sheet At the time property plant and equipment is retired removal expenses less salvage

are charged to the regulatory cost of removal accrual The composite depreciation rate was 3.3 percent 3.6 per

cent and 3.6 percent for the fiscal years ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011

Nonregulated properly plant and equipment Nonregulated property plant and equipment is stated at

cost Depreciation is generally computed on the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes based upon

estimated useful lives ranging from three to 50
years

Asset retirement obligations We record liability at fair value for an asset retirement obligation when

the legal obligation to retire the asset has been incurred with an offsetting increase to the carrying value of the

related asset Accretion of the asset retirement obligation due to the passage
of time is recorded as an operating

expense

As of September 30 2013 and 2012 we had asset retirement obligations of $6.8 million and $10.5 million

Additionally we had $3.3 million and $5.8 million of asset retirement costs recorded as component of property

plant and equipment that will be depreciated over the remaining life of the underlying associated assets

We believe we have legal obligation to retire our natural gas storage
facilities However we have not

recognized an asset retirement obligation associated with our storage facilities because we are not able to

determine the settlement date of this obligation as we do not anticipate taking our storage facilities out of service

permanently Therefore we cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of this obligation
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Impairment of long-lived assets We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have

occurred that indicate that other long-lived assets may not be recoverable or that the remaining useful life may

warrant revision When such events or circumstances are present we assess the recoverability of long-lived

assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash flows In the

event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying value

of the asset an impairment loss equal to the excess of the assets carrying value over its fair value is recorded

During fiscal 2012 we recorded pre-tax noncash impairment loss of $5.3 million related to our gathering

systems in Kentucky In fiscal 2011 we recorded pre-tax noncash impairment losses of $19.3 million related to

our Fort Necessity storage project and $11.0 million related to our gathering systems in Kentucky See Note 14

for further details

Goodwill and intangible assets We annually evaluate our goodwill balances for impairment during our

second fiscal quarter or more frequently as impairment indicators arise We use present value technique based

on discounted cash flows to estimate the fair value of our reporting units These calculations are dependent on

several subjective factors including the timing of future cash flows future growth rates and the discount rate An

impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of reporting units goodwill exceeds its fair value

Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of 10 years These assets are reviewed for impairment

as impairment indicators arise When such events or circumstances are present we assess the recoverability of

long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash

flows In the event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the

carrying value of the asset an impairment loss equal to the excess of the assets carrying value over its fair value

is recorded No impairment has been recognized

Marketable securities As of September 30 2013 and 2012 all of our marketable securities were classi

fied as available-for-sale In accordance with the authoritative accounting standards these securities are reported

at market value with unrealized gains and losses shown as component of accumulated other comprehensive

income loss We regularly evaluate the performance of these investments on an individual investment by

investment basis for inipairment taking into consideration the funds purpose volatility and current returns If

determination is made that decline in fair value is other than temporary the related investment is written down

to its estimated fair value

Financial instruments and hedging activities We use financial instruments to mitigate commodity price

risk in our natural gas distribution and nonregulated segments and interest rate risk The objectives and strategies

for using financial instruments have been tailored to our regulated and nonregulated businesses and are discussed

in Note 12

We record all of our financial instruments on the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value ulti

mately recorded in the income statement These financial instruments are reported as risk management assets and

liabilities and are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settle

ment date of the underlying financial instrument

The timing of when changes in fair value of our financial instruments are recorded in the income statement

depends on whether the financial instrument has been designated and qualifies as part of hedging relationship

or if regulatory rulings require different accounting treatment Changes in fair value for financial instruments

that do not meet one of these criteria are recognized in the income statement as they occur

Financial Instruments Associated with Commodity Price Risk

In our natural
gas

distribution segment the costs associated with and the gains and losses arising from the

use of financial instruments to mitigate commodity price risk are included in our purchased gas cost adjustment

mechanisms in accordance with regulatory requirements Therefore changes in the fair value of these financial
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instruments are initially recorded as component of deferred
gas costs and recognized in the consolidated state

ment of income as component of purchased gas cost when the related costs are recovered through our rates and

recognized in revenue in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States Accord

ingly there is no earnings impact on our natural gas distribution segment as result of the use of financial

instruments

In our nonregulated segment we have designated most of the natural
gas inventory held by this operating

segment as the hedged item in fair-value hedge This inventory is marked to market at the end of each month

based on the Gas Daily index with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains or losses in revenue in

the period of change The financial instruments associated with this natural gas inventory have been designated

as fair-value hedges and are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair

value recognized as unrealized gains or losses in revenue in the period of change We have elected to exclude this

spot/forward differential for purposes of assessing the effectiveness of these fair-value hedges

Additionally we have elected to treat fixed-price forward contracts used in our nonregulated segment to

deliver natural gas as normal purchases and normal sales As such these deliveries are recorded on an accrual

basis in accordance with our revenue recognition policy Financial instruments used to mitigate the commodity

price risk associated with these contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges of anticipated purchases and

sales at indexed prices Accordingly unrealized gains and losses on these open financial instruments are recorded

as component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as component of

revenue when the hedged volumes are sold

Gains and losses from hedge ineffectiveness are recognized in the income statement Fair value and cash

flow hedge ineffectiveness arising from natural gas market price differences between the locations of the hedged

inventory and the delivery location specified in the financial instruments is referred to as basis ineffectiveness

Ineffectiveness arising from changes in the fair value of the fair value hedges due to changes in the difference

between the spot price and the futures price as well as the difference between the timing of the settlement of the

futures and the valuation of the underlying physical commodity is referred to as timing ineffectiveness Hedge

ineffectiveness to the extent incurred is reported as component of revenue

Our nonregulated segment also utilizes master netting agreements with significant counterparties that allow

us to offset gains and losses arising from financial instruments that may be settled in cash with gains and losses

arising from financial instruments that may be settled with the physical commodity Assets and liabilities from

risk management activities as well as accounts receivable and payable reflect the master netting agreements in

place Additionally the accounting guidance for master netting arrangements requires us to include the fair value

of cash collateral or the obligation to return cash in the amounts that have been netted under master netting

agreements used to offset gains and losses arising from financial instruments As of September 30 2013 and

2012 the Company netted $24.8 million and $23.7 million of cash held in margin accounts into its current risk

management assets and liabilities

Financial Instruments Associated with Interest Rate Risk

We manage interest rate risk typically when we plan to issue new long-term debt or to refinance existing

long-term debt Prior to fiscal 2012 we entered into Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield compo

nent of the interest cost associated with anticipated financings We designated these Treasury lock agreements as

cash flow hedges at the time the agreements were executed Accordingly unrealized gains and losses associated

with the Treasury lock agreements were recorded as component of accumulated other comprehensive income

loss When the Treasury locks were settled the realized gain or loss was recorded as component of accumu

lated other comprehensive income loss and is being recognized as component of interest expense over the life

of the related financing arrangement
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During fiscal 2012 we began using interest rate swaps and forward starting interest rate swaps to mitigate

interest rate risk Unrealized gains and losses associated with the swaps are recorded as component of accumu

lated other comprehensive income loss When the swaps settle the realized gain or loss will be recorded as

component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss and recognized as component of interest

expense over the life of the related financing arrangement Hedge ineffectiveness to the extent incurred will be

reported as component of interest expense

Fair Value Measurements We report certain assets and liabilities at fair value which is defined as the

price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date exit price We primarily use quoted market prices and other observable

market pricing information in valuing our financial assets and liabilities and minimize the use of unobservable

pricing inputs in our measurements

Fair-value estimates also consider our own creditworthiness and the creditworthiness of the counterparties

involved Our counterparties consist primarily
of financial institutions and major energy companies This concen

tration of counterparties may materially impact our exposure to credit risk resulting from market economic or

regulatory conditions We seek to minimize counterparty credit risk through an evaluation of their financial con

dition and credit ratings and the use of collateral requirements under certain circumstances

Amounts reported at fair value are subject to potentially significant volatility based upon changes in market

prices including but not limited to the valuation of the portfolio of our contracts maturity and settlement of

these contracts and newly originated transactions and interest rates each of which directly affect the estimated

fair value of our financial instruments We believe the market prices and models used to value these financial

instruments represent
the best information available with respect to closing exchange and over-the-counter quota

tions time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts Values are adjusted to reflect the potential impact

of an orderly liquidation
of our positions over reasonable period of time under then current market conditions

Authoritative accounting literature establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to meas

ure fair value based on observable and unobservable data The hierarchy categorizes the inputs into three levels

with the highest priority given to unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level and the lowest priority given to unobservable inputs Level The levels of the hierarchy are described

below

Level Represents unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities An active

market for the asset or liability is defined as market in which trarLsactions for the asset or liability occur with

sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis Prices actively quoted on

national exchanges are used to determine the fair value of most of our assets and liabilities recorded on our bal

ance sheet at fair value Within our nonregulated operations we utilize mid-market pricing convention the

mid-point between the bid and ask prices as permitted under current accounting standards Values derived from

these sources reflect the market in which transactions involving these financial instruments are executed

Our Level measurements consist primarily
of exchange-traded financial instruments gas stored under

ground that has been designated as the hedged item in fair value hedge and our available-for-sale securities

The Level measurements for investments in our Master Trust Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan and post-

retirement benefit plan consist primarily of exchange-traded financial instruments

Level Represents pricing inputs other than quoted prices included in Level that are either directly or

indirectly observable for the asset or liability as of the reporting date These inputs are derived principally from

or corroborated by observable market data Our Level measurements primarily consist of non-exchange-traded

financial instruments such as over-the-counter options and swaps and municipal and corporate
bonds where

market data for pricing is observable The Level measurements for investments in our Master Trust Supple

mental Executive Benefit Plan and postretirement benefit plan consist primarily of non-exchange traded financial

instruments such as common collective trusts and investments in limited partnerships
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Level Represents generally unobservable pricing inputs which are developed based on the best

information available including our own internal data in situations where there is little if any market activity for

the asset or liability at the measurement date The pricing inputs utilized reflect what market participant would

use to determine fair value We utilize models and other valuation methods to determine fair value when external

sources are not available We believe the market prices and models used to value these assets and liabilities

represent the best information available with respect to closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations time

value and volatility factors underlying the assets and liabilities

As of September 30 2013 our Master Trust owned one real estate investment with value less than $0.2

million that qualifies as Level fair value measurement The valuation technique used was real estate

appraisal obtained from an independent third party that consisted of several unobservable inputs such as com
parable land and building sales values per square foot Currently we have no other assets or liabilities recorded at

fair value that would qualify for Level reporting

Pension and other postretirement plans Pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities are

determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market

value of plan assets estimates of the expected return on plan assets assumed discount rates and current demo
graphic and actuarial mortality data Our measurement date is September 30 The assumed discount rate and the

expected return are the assumptions that generally have the most significant impact on our pension costs and

liabilities The assumed discount rate the assumed health care cost trend rate and assumed rates of retirement

generally have the most significant impact on our postretirement plan costs and liabilities

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating the actuarial present value of our pension and post-
retirement obligation and net pension and postretirement cost When establishing our discount rate we consider

high quality corporate bond rates based on bonds available in the marketplace that are suitable for settling the

obligations changes in those rates from the prior year and the implied discount rate that is derived from matching

our projected benefit disbursements with currently available high quality corporate bonds

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is utilized in calculating the expected return on plan assets

component of the annual pension and postretirement plan cost We estimate the expected return on plan assets by

evaluating expected bond returns equity risk premiums asset allocations the effects of active plan management
the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical performance We also consider the guidance from our

investment advisors in making final determination of our expected rate of return on assets To the extent the

actual rate of return on assets realized over the course of year is greater than or less than the assumed rate that

years annual pension or postretirement plan cost is not affected Rather this gain or loss reduces or increases

future pension or postretirement plan costs over period of approximately ten to twelve years

The market-related value of our plan assets represents the fair market value of the plan assets adjusted to

smooth out short-term market fluctuations over five-year period The use of this calculation will delay the

impact of current market fluctuations on the pension expense for the period

We estimate the assumed health care cost trend rate used in determining our annual postretirement net cost

based upon our actual health care cost experience the effects of recently erLacted legislation and general

economic conditions Our assumed rate of retirement is estimated based upon the annual review of our partic

ipant census information as of the measurement date

Income taxes Income taxes are determined based on the liability method which results in income tax

assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences Temporary differences are differences between the tax

bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements that will result in taxable or

deductible amounts in future years The liability method requires the effect of tax rate changes on current and

accumulated deferred income taxes to be reflected in the period in which the rate change was enacted The

liability method also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by valuation allowance unless it is more likely

than not that the assets will be realized
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The Company may recognize the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is at least more likely

than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical

merits of the position The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such position should be

measured based on the largest benefit that has greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon

settlement with the taxing authorities We recognize accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as

component of interest expense We recognize penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as component of

miscellaneous income expense in accordance with regulatory requirements

Contingencies In the normal course of business we are confronted with issues or events that may result

in contingent liability These generally relate to lawsuits claims made by third parties or the action of various

regulatory agencies For such matters we record liabilities when they are considered probable and reasonably

estimable based on currently available facts and our estimates of the ultimate outcome or resolution of the

liability in the future Actual results may differ from estimates depending on actual outcomes or changes in the

facts or expectations surrounding each potential exposure

Subsequent events Except as disclosed in Note concerning the October 2013 payment from our

Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan related to the retirement of one of our executives no events occurred

subsequent to the balance sheet date that would require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements

Recent accounting pronouncements During the year
ended September 30 2013 two new accounting

standards were announced that will become applicable to the Company in future periods The first standard clari

fies the enhanced disclosure of offsetting arrangements
for financial instruments that will become effective for us

for annual and interim periods beginning on October 2013 The adoption of this standard should not have an

impact on our financial position results of operations or cash flows The second standard changes the pre

sentation requirements for an unrecognized tax benefit if net operating loss carryforward or tax credit

carryforward exists which will become effective for us for annual and interim periods beginning on October

2014 The adoption of this standard should not have material impact on our financial position results of oper

ations or cash flows

Beginning in our first fiscal quarter we have presented single statement of other comprehensive income

due to an accounting pronouncement that became effective for us on October 2012 Additionally standard

that became effective during our second fiscal quarter requires the presentation of amounts reclassified out of

accumulated other comprehensive income by component as well as significant amounts reclassified out of accu

mulated other comprehensive income by the respective line item in the statement of net income We have pre

sented the disclosures relating to reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income in Note 13

The adoption of these standards did not have an impact on our financial position results of operations or cash

flows There were no other significant changes to our accounting policies during the year ended September 30

2013

Segment Information

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the regulated natural gas
dis

tribution transmission and storage business as well as other nonregulated businesses We distribute natural gas

through sales and transportation arrangements to over three million residential commercial public authority and

industrial customers through our six regulated natural gas distribution divisions which cover service areas

located in eight states In addition we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system

Through our nonregulated business we provide natural gas management and transportation services to

municipalities natural gas
distribution companies including certain divisions of Atmos Energy and third parties
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We operate the Company through the following three segments

The natural gas distribution segment includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales

operations

The regulated transmission and storage segment includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of

our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division

The nonregulated segment is comprised of our nonregulated natural gas management nonregulated natu

ral
gas transmission storage and other services

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage

sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments Although our natural

gas distribution segment operations are geographically dispersed they are reported as single segment as each

natural gas distribution division has similar economic characteristics The accounting policies of the segments are

the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies We evaluate performance based

on net income or loss of the respective operating units Interest expense is allocated pro rata to each segment

based upon our net investment in each segment Income taxes are allocated to each segment as if each segments

taxes were calculated on separate return basis

Summarized income statements and capital expenditures by segment are shown in the following tables

Year Ended September 30 2013

Regulated

Natural Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage Nonregulated Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

Operating revenues from external parties $2394418 89011 $1402828 $3886257

Intersegment revenues 5075 179889 195883 380847

2399493 268900 1598711 380847 3886257

Purchased gas cost 1318257 1535380 379430 2474207

Gross profit 1081236 268900 63331 1417 1412050

Operating expenses

Operation and maintenance 375188 76686 37569 1423 488020

Depreciation and amortization 195581 35302 4196 235079

Taxes other than income 167374 17059 2639 187072

Total operating expenses 738143 129047 44404 1423 910171

Operating income 343093 139853 18927 501879

Miscellaneous income expense 2535 2285 2316 2763 197
Interest charges 98296 30678 2168 2757 128385

Income from continuing operations before

income taxes 247332 106890 19075 373297

Income tax expense 96476 38630 7493 142599

Income from continuing operations 150856 68260 11582 230698

Income from discontinued operations net of

tax 7202 7202

Gain loss on sale of discontinued

operations net of tax 5649 355 5294

Net income 163707 68260 11227 243194

Capital expenditures 528599 $313230 3204 845033
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Year Ended September 302012

Operating revenues from external parties

Intersegment revenues

Purchased gas cost

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Operation and maintenance

Depreciation and amortization

Taxes other than income

Asset impairments

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Miscellaneous income expense

Interest charges

Income from continuing operations before

income taxes

Income tax expense

Income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations net of

tax

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net

of tax

Net income

Capital expenditures

Nonregulated

In thousands

$1201503

149800

1351303

1296179

55124

1484

1971
1966

Regulated

Natural Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage Eliminations Consolidated

305501

305501

304022

1479

$3438483

3438483

2114744

1323739

$2144376

954

2145330

1122587

1022743

353879

202026

162377

718282

304461

12657

110642

181162

57314

123848

18172

6349

148369

546818

92604

154747

247351

247351

71521

31438

15568

118527

128824

1051
29414

98359

35300

63059

63059

$175768

1484 453613

237525

181073

5288

877499

446240

14644

141174

29697

4061

3128

5288

42174

12950

1035

3084

10901

5612

5289

5289

10272

290422

98226

192196

18172

6349

216717

732858
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Year Ended September 30 2011

Regulated

Natural Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage Nonregulated Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

Operating revenues from external parties $2469781 87141 $1729513 $4286435

Intersegment revenues 883 132232 295380 428495

2470664 219373 2024893 428495 4286435

Purchased
gas cost 1452721 1959893 426999 2985615

Gross profit 1017943 219373 65000 1496 1300820

Operating expenses

Operation and maintenance 341758 70401 32308 1502 442965

Depreciation and amortization 193642 25997 4193 223832

Taxes other than income 160455 14700 2612 177767

Asset impairments 30270 30270

Total operating expenses 695855 111098 69383 1502 874834

Operating income loss 322088 108275 4383 425986

Miscellaneous income 16242 4715 657 430 21184

Interest charges 115740 31432 4015 424 150763

Income loss from continuing operations

before income taxes 222590 81558 7741 296407

Income tax expense benefit 77885 29143 209
_________

106819

Income loss from continuing operations 144705 52415 7532 189588

Income from discontinued operations net of

tax 18013 18013

Net income loss 162718 52415 7532 207601

Capital expenditures 496899 $118452 7614 622965
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The following table summarizes our revenues by products and services for the fiscal year
ended Sep

tember 30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Natural gas
distribution revenues

Gas sales revenues

Residential $1512495 $1351479 $1535887

Commercial 661930 587651 685380

Industrial 81155 71960 96636

Public authority and other 60557 54334 68676

Total gas sales revenues 2316137 2065424 2386579

Transportation revenues 55938 53924 57331

Other gas revenues 22343 25028 25871

Total natural gas distribution revenues 2394418 2144376 2469781

Regulated transmission and storage revenues 89011 92604 87141

Nonregulated revenues 1402828 1201503 1729513

Total operating revenues $3886257 $3438483 $4286435
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Balance sheet information at September 30 2013 and 2012 by segment is presented in the following tables

September 302013

ASSETS

Property plant and equipment net

Investment in subsidiaries

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4237 61962

Assets from risk management

activities 1837

Other current assets 428366

Intercompany receivables 783738
__________ ________ ___________ __________

Total current assets 1218178

Intangible assets 121

Goodwill 574190 132462 34711

Noncurrent assets from risk management
activities 109354

Deferred charges and other assets 347687
_________ ________ __________ _________

$7800418
_________ _______ __________ _________

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders equity $2580409

Long-term debt 2455671 _________ _______ _________ _________

Total capitalization 5036080

Current liabilities

Current maturities of long-term debt

Short-term debt 645984

Liabilities from risk management

activities 1543

Other current liabilities 491681

Intercompany payables

Total current liabilities 1139208

Deferred income taxes 871360

Noncurrent liabilities from risk

management activities

Regulatory cost of removal obligation 359299

Pension and postretirement liabilities 358787

Deferred credits and other liabilities 35684
__________ ________ ___________ __________

$7800418
_________ _______ __________ _________

Regulated

Natural Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage

$4719873

831136

Nonregulated

In thousands

61015

2096

$1249767

Eliminations Consolidated

$6030655

829040

66199

11709

11709

16262

452126

530350

293233

783738

1076971

18099

598968

683266

121

741363

8728

$632829

$434715

434715

$1906Ol

831136

831136

109354

375642

$7940401

$2580409

2455671

5036080

19227

$1413165

396421

396421

20288

712768

733056

283554

134

$1413165

278000 367984

110306

70970

181276

8960

1543

608959

978486

1164053

6133

13316

783738

1075054

179

$l90601

1745

$632829

6133

359299

358787

37563

$7940401
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September 302012 _______

ASSETS

Property plant and equipment net

Investment in subsidiaries

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets from risk management

activities

Other current assets

Intercompany receivables

Total current assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Noncurrent assets from risk management

activities

Deferred charges and other assets

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders equity

Long-term debt

Total capitalization

Current liabilities

Current maturities of long-term debt

Short-term debt

Liabilities from risk management

activities

Other current liabilities

Intercompany payables

Total current liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Noncurrent liabilities from risk

management activities

Regulatory cost of removal obligation

Pension and postretirement
liabilities

Deferred credits and other liabilities

15

90116

51979

142241

5148

9206

1048

$576978

64239

24707

739016

827962

164

740683

2283

448979

$1605013 $7495675

$2359243

___________
1956305

4315548

85381

619513

1275954

1015083

9206

381164

457196

41524

$1605013 $7495675

Earnings Per Share

Since we have non-vested share-based payments with nonforfeitable right to dividends or dividend equiv

alents referred to as participating securities we are required to use the two-class method of computing earnings

per share The Companys non-vested restricted stock units granted under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan

for which vesting is predicated solely on the passage
of time are considered to be participating securities The

calculation of earnings per share using the two-class method excludes income attributable to these participating

securities from the numerator and excludes the dilutive impact
of those shares from the denominator

Regulated

Natural Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage

$4432017 979443

747496

Nonregulated Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

64144 $5475604

2096 745400

12787 51452

223056

636557

859613

17773

404097

473322

164

34711

6733

$576978

$419335

419335

6934

546187

636557

1202465

573550

2283

417893

$7375704

$2359243

1956305

4315548

782719

85366

526089

1394174

789288

381164

457196

38334

$7375704

11788

11788

132422

24353

$1148006

328161

328161

12478

584578

597056

220647

2142

$1148006

747496

747496

131 131

211790 570929

9170
636557

857517

73



ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the fiscal years ended September 30 are calculated as follows

2013 2012 2011

In thousands except per share data

Basic Earnings Per Share from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations $230698 $192196 $189588
Less Income from continuing operations allocated to

participating securities 775 793 1980

Income from continuing operations available to common
shareholders $229923 $191403 $187608

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 90533 90150 90201

Income from continuing operations per share Basic 2.54 2.12 2.08

Basic Earnings Per Share from discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations 12496 24521 18013
Less Income from discontinued operations allocated to

participating securities 42 101 188

Income from discontinued operations available to common
shareholders 12454 24420 17825

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 90533 90150 90201

Income from discontinued operations per share Basic 0.14 0.27 0.20

Net income per share Basic 2.68 2.39 2.28

Diluted Earnings Per Share from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations available to common
shareholders $229923 $191403 $187608

Effect of dilutive stock options and other shares

Income from continuing operations available to common
shareholders $229928 $191407 $187612

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 90533 90150 90201

Additional dilutive stock options and other shares 1178 1022 451

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 91711 91172 90652

Income from continuing operations per share Diluted 2.50 2.10 2.07

Diluted Earnings Per Share from discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations available to common
shareholders 24420 17825

Effect of dilutive stock options and other shares

Income from discontinued operations available to common
shareholders $12454 24420 17825

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 90533 90150 90201

Additional dilutive stock options and other shares 1178 1022 451

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 91711 91172 90652

Income from discontinued operations per share Diluted 0.14 0.27 0.20

Net income per share Diluted 2.64 2.37 2.27
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There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for

the fiscal years
ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011

Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at September 30 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following

2013 2012

In thousands

Unsecured 4.95% Senio Notes due October 2014 500000 500000

Unsecured 6.35% Senior Notes due 2017 250000 250000

Unsecured 8.50% Senior Notes due 2019 450000 450000

Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes due 2034 200000 200000

Unsecured 5.50% Senior Notes due 2041 400000 400000

Unsecured 4.15% Senior Notes due 2043 500000

Medium term Series notes 1995-1 6.67% due 2025 10000 10000

Unsecured 6.75% Debentures due 2028 150000 150000

Rental property term notes due in installments through 2013 131

Total long-term
debt

2460000 1960131

Less

Original issue discount on unsecured senior notes and debentures 4329 3695

Current maturities
131

$2455671 $1956305

We issued $500 million Unsecured 4.15% Senior Notes on January 11 2013 The effective rate of these

notes is 4.67% after giving effect to offering costs and the settlement of the associated Treasury
lock agreements

discussed in Note 12 Of the net proceeds of approximately $494 million $234 million was used to partially

repay our commercial paper borrowings and for general corporate purposes The remaining $260 million was

used to repay
short-term financing facility that was scheduled to mature on February 2013 This facility was

executed on September 27 2012 with interest rates at LIBOR based rate plus company specific spread to

repay
commercial paper borrowings that were used to redeem our $250 million Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes

were scheduled to mature in January 2013

Short-term debt

Our short-term debt is utilized to fund ongoing working capital needs such as our seasonal requirements for

gas supply general corporate liquidity and capital expenditures Our short-term borrowings typically reach their

highest levels in the winter months

We currently finance our short-term borrowing requirements through combination of $950 million

commercial paper program four committed revolving credit facilities and one uncommitted revolving credit

facility with total availability from third-party lenders of approximately $1 billion of working capital funding

At September 30 2013 and 2012 there was $368.0 million and $310.9 million outstanding under our commercial

paper program with weighted average interest rates of 0.25% and 0.48% with average maturities of less than one

month We also use intercompany
credit facilities to supplement the funding provided by these third-party com

mitted credit facilities These facilities are described in greater
detail below
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Regulated Operations

We fund our regulated operations as needed primarily through our commercial
paper program and three

committed revolving credit facilities with third-party lenders that provide approximately $985 million of working
capital funding The first facility is five-year unsecured facility that was amended on December 2012 to

increase the borrowing capacity from $750 million to $950 million with an accordion feature which if utilized

would increase the borrowing capacity to $1.2 billion On August 22 2013 the terms of the facility were
amended to extend the expiration date from May 2016 to August 2018 The credit facility bears interest at base

rate or at LIBOR-based rate for the applicable interest period plus spread ranging from zero percent to two

percent based on the Companys credit ratings This credit facility serves as backup liquidity facility for our
commercial

paper program At September 30 2013 there were no borrowings under this facility but we had
$368.0 million of commercial

paper outstanding leaving $582.0 million available

The second facility is $25 million unsecured facility that bears interest at daily negotiated rate generally
based on the Federal Funds rate plus variable margin This facility was renewed on April 2013 At Sep
tember 30 2013 there were no borrowings outstanding under this facility

The third facility which was renewed on September 30 2013 for $10 million is committed revolving credit

facility used primarily to issue letters of credit that bears interest at LIBCR-based rate plus 1.5 percent At

September 30 2013 there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility however letters of credit

totaling $5.9 million had been issued under the facility at September 30 2013 which reduced the amount avail

able by corresponding amount

The availability of funds under these credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit

agreements all of which we currently satisfy These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and
the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements We are required by the

financial covenants in each of these facilities to maintain at the end of each fiscal quarter ratio of total debt to

total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent At September 30 2013 our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio

as defined was 54 percent In addition both the interest margin over the Eurodollar rate and the fee that we pay on
unused amounts under each of these facilities are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings

In addition to these third-party facilities our regulated operations have $500 million intercompany revolv

ing credit facility with AEH This facility bears interest at the lower of the Eurodollar rate under the five-year

revolving credit facility or ii the lowest rate outstanding under the commercial paper program Applicable state

regulatory commissions have approved our use of this facility through December 31 2013 There was $278.0

million
outstanding under this facility at September 30 2013

Nonregulated Operations

Prior to December 2012 Atmos Energy Marketing LLC AEM which is wholly-owned by AEH had

three-year $200 million committed revolving credit facility expiring in December 2014 with syndicate of

third-party lenders with an accordion feature that could increase AEMs borrowing capacity to $500 million The
credit facility was primarily used to issue letters of credit and on less frequent basis to borrow funds for gas

purchases and other working capital needs This facility was collateralized by substantially all of the assets of

AEM and was guaranteed by AEH AEM terminated the committed revolving credit facility on December

2012 to reduce external credit expense AEM incurred no penalties in connection with the termination This

facility was replaced with two $25 million 364-day bilateral credit facilities one of which is committed

facility These facilities are used primarily to issue letters of credit Due to outstanding letters of credit the total

amount available to us under these bilateral credit facilities was $37.4 million at September 30 2013
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AEH has $500 million intercompany demand credit facility with AEC This facility bears interest at rate

equal to the greater of the one-month LIBOR rate plus 3.00 percent or ii the rate for AEM borrowings

under its committed line of credit facility plus 0.75 percent Applicable state regulatory commissions have

approved our use of this facility through December 31 2013 There were no borrowings outstanding under this

facility at September 30 2013

Shelf Regist ration

On March 28 2013 we filed registration
statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC

to issue from time to time up to $1.75 billion in common stock and/or debt securities available for issuance

which replaced our registration statement that expired on March 31 2013 As of September 30 2013 $1.75 bil

lion was available under the shelf registration statement

Debt Covenants

In addition to the financial covenants described above our credit facilities and public indentures contain

usual and customary covenants for our business including covenants substantially limiting liens substantial asset

sales and mergers

Additionally our public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures as well as our revolving

credit agreements each contain default provision
that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any

other credit agreements
in amounts ranging from in excess of $15 million to in excess of $100 million becomes

due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of September 30 2013 If we were unable to

comply with our debt covenants we would likely be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand pro

vide additional collateral or take other corrective actions

Maturities of long-term
debt at September 30 2013 were as follows in thousands

2014

2015
500000

2016

2017
250000

2018

Thereafter
1710000

$2460000

77



ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Retirement and Post-Retirement Employee Benefit Plans

We have both funded and unfunded
noncontributory defined benefit plans that together cover most of our

employees We also maintain post-retirement plans that provide health care benefits to retired employees
Finally we sponsor defined contribution plans that cover substantially all employees These plans are discussed
in further detail below

As rate regulated entity we generally recover our pension costs in our rates over period of up to

15 years The amounts that have not yet been recognized in net periodic pension cost that have been recorded as

regulatory assets are as follows

Supplemental
Defined Executive Postretirement

Benefits Plans Retirement Plans Plans Total

In thousands

September 30 2013

Unrecognized transition obligation 628 628

Unrecognized prior service credit 91 5961 6052
Unrecognized actuarial loss 108621 31466 35961 176048

$108530 $31466 $30628 $170624

September 30 2012

Unrecognized transition obligation 1709 1709

Unrecognized prior service credit 232 7411 7643
Unrecognized actuarial loss 187050 43995 63402 294447

$186818 $43995 $57700 $288513

Defined Benefit Plans

Employee Pension Plans

As of September 30 2013 we maintained two defined benefit plans the Atmos Energy Corporation Pension

Account Plan the Plan and the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement Plan for Mississippi Valley Gas Union

Employees the Union Plan collectively referred to as the Plans The assets of the Plans are held within the

Atmos Energy Corporation Master Retirement Trust the Master Trust

The Plan is cash balance pension plan that was established effective January 1999 and covers most of the

employees of Atmos Energys regulated operations Opening account balances were established for participants

as of January 1999 equal to the present value of their respective accrued benefits under the pension plans which

were previously in effect as of December 31 1998 The Plan credits an allocation to each participants account at

the end of each year according to formula based on the participants age service and total pay excluding
incentive pay

The Plan also provides for an additional annual allocation based upon participants age as of January
1999 for those participants who were participants in the prior pension plans The Plan credited this additional

allocation each year through December 31 2008 In addition at the end of each year participants account is

credited with interest on the employees prior year account balance special grandfather benefit also applied

through December 31 2008 for participants who were at least age 50 as of January 1999 and who were partic

ipants in one of the prior plans on December 31 1998 Participants are fully vested in their account balances after

three years of service and may choose to receive their account balances as lump sum or an annuity In August
2010 the Board of Directors of Atmos Energy approved proposal to close the Plan to new participants effective

October 2010 Additionally employees participating in the Plan as of October 2010 were allowed to make
one-time election to migrate from the Plan into our defined contribution plan which was enhanced effective

January 12011
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The Union Plan is defined benefit plan that covers substantially all full-time union employees in our Mis

sissippi Division Under this plan benefits are based upon years
of benefit service and average final earnings

Participants vest in the plan
after five years

and will receive their benefit in an annuity

Generally our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of

the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 including the funding requirements
under the Pension

Protection Act of 2006 PPA However additional voluntary contributions are made from time to time as

considered necessary
Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date but

also for those expected to be earned in the future

During fiscal 2013 and 2012 we contributed $32.7 million and $46.5 million in cash to the Plans to achieve

desired level of funding while maximizing the tax deductibility of this payment Based upon market conditions

subsequent to September 30 2013 the current funded position of the Plans and the new funding requirements

under the PPA we anticipate contributing between $15 million and $25 million to the Plans in fiscal 2014 Fur

ther we will consider whether an additional voluntary contribution is prudent to maintain certain PPA funding

thresholds

We manage the Master Trusts assets with the objective of achieving rate of return net of inflation of

approximately
four percent per year We make investment decisions and evaluate performance on medium-

term horizon of at least three to five years We also consider our current financial status when making recom

mendations and decisions regarding the Master Trusts assets Finally we strive to ensure the Master Trusts

assets are appropriately
invested to maintain an acceptable level of risk and meet the Master Trusts long-term

asset investment policy adopted by the Board of Directors

To achieve these objectives we invest the Master Trusts assets in equity securities fixed income securities

interests in commingled pension trust funds other investment assets and cash and cash equivalents Investments

in equity securities are diversified among the markets various subsectors in an effort to diversify risk and max

imize returns Fixed income securities are invested in investment grade securities Cash equivalents are invested

in securities that either are short term less than 180 days or readily convertible to cash with modest risk

The following table presents asset allocation information for the Master Trust as of September 30 2013 and

2012
Actual

Allocation

Targeted
September 30

Security Class

Allocation Range 2013 2012

Domestic equities

35%55% 46.5% 42.6%

International equities

1o%20% 16.1% 13.9%

Fixed income
l0%-30% 14.9% 18.6%

Company stock
5%-15% 12.6% 12.0%

Other assets

5%-15% 9.9% 12.9%

At September 30 2013 and 2012 the Plan held 1169700 shares of our common stock which represented

12.6 percent
and 12.0 percent

of total Master Trust assets These shares generated dividend income for the Plan

of approximately $1.6 million and $1.6 million during fiscal 2013 and 2012

79



ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Our employee pension plan expenses and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by
numerous assumptions and estimates

including the market value of plan assets estimates of the expected return

on plan assets and assumed discount rates and demographic data We review the estimates and assumptions
underlying our employee pension plans annually based upon September 30 measurement date The develop
ment of our assumptions is fully described in our significant accounting policies in Note The actuarial assump
tions used to determine the pension liability for the Plans were determined as of September 30 2013 and 2012
and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the Plans were determined as of

September 30 2012 2011 and 2010 These assumptions are presented in the following table

Pension

Liability Pension Cost

2013 2012 2013 2012 2011

Discount rate 4.95% 4.04% 4.04% 5.05% 5.39%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 4.00%

Expected return on plan assets 7.25% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 8.25%

The discount rate for the Pension Account Plan increased from 5.39% to 5.68% effective January 2011
due to curtailment gain recorded in fiscal 2011

The following table presents the Plans accumulated benefit obligation projected benefit obligation and
funded status as of September 30 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

In thousands
Accumulated benefit obligation $446133 468440

Change in projected benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $480031 429432
Service cost

17754 15084
Interest cost

19334 21568
Actuarial gain loss

29822 46197
Benefits paid 25073 24553
Divestitures

6425 7697
Benefit obligation at end of year 455799 480031

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 343144 280204
Actual return on plan assets 52496 48656
Employer contributions

32745 46534
Benefits paid 25073 24553
Divestitures

6425 7697
Fair value of plan assets at end of

year 396887 343144

Reconciliation

Funded status
58912 136887

Unrecognized prior service cost

Unrecognized net loss

Net amount recognized $58912 $136887
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Components of net periodic pension cost

Service cost

Interest cost

Expected return on assets

Amortization of prior service credit

Recognized actuarial loss

Curtailment gain

Net periodic pension cost

Investments

Common stocks domestic equities

Money market funds

Registered investment companies

Domestic funds

International funds

CommonlcollectiVe trusts domestic funds

Government securities

Mortgage-backed securities

U.S treasuries

Corporate bonds

Limited partnerships

Real estate

Total investments at fair value $224896

$143543

12266 12266

30200

47036

57627 57627

18446

4780

35012 35012

47417 47417

155

________
$396482$171431

Net periodic pension cost for the Plans for fiscal 2013 2012 and 2011 is recorded as operating expense
and

included the following components

Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

17754 15084

19334 21568

22955 21474

141 141

19066 14451

14384

22264

24817

429
9498

40

33058 29488 20860

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Master Trusts assets at fair value

as of September 30 2013 and 2012 As required by authoritative accounting literature assets are categorized in

their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement The methods

used to determine fair value for the assets held by the Master Trust are fully described in Note Assets at Sep

tember 30 2012 include $7.7 million that were transferred to the purchaser
of our Missouri Illinois and Iowa

operations during the first quarter
of fiscal 2013 In addition to the assets shown below the Master Trust had net

accounts receivable of $0.4 million and $0.5 million at September 30 2013 and 2012 which materially approx

imates fair value due to the short-term nature of these assets

Assets at Fair Value as of September 30 2013

Level Level Level Total

In thousands

$143543

30200

47036

18446

4117 663

155

$155
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Assets at Fair Value as of September 302012
Level Level Level Total

In thousands

Investments

$114799

Money market funds 21010 21010
Registered investment companies

Domestic funds
19984

International funds
36714

Common/collective trustsdomestic funds 52155 52155
Government securities

Mortgage-backed securities 19509

U.S treasuries 7597 487

Corporate bonds 35960 35960
Limited partnerships 140 41786 41926
Real estate

155 155

Total investments at fair value $179234 $170907 $155 $350296

The fair value of our Level real estate assets was determined using real estate appraisal obtained from an

independent third party that consisted of several unobservable inputs such as comparable land sales values per
square foot in the range of $0.94 to $2.98 and comparable building sales values per square foot in the range of

$23.13 to $30.42

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans

We have three nonqualified supplemental plans which provide additional pension disability and death bene
fits to our officers division presidents and certain other employees of the Company

The first plan is referred to as the Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan SEBP and covers our officers
division presidents and certain other employees of the Company who were employed on or before August 12
1998 The SEBP is defined benefit arrangement which provides benefit equal to 75 percent of covered com

pensation under which benefits paid from the
underlying qualified defined benefit plan are an offset to the bene

fits under the SEBP

In August 1998 we adopted the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERP formerly known as the
Performance-Based

Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan which covers all officers or division presidents
selected to participate in the plan between August 12 1998 and August 2009 any corporate officer who may
be appointed to the Management Committee after August 2009 and any other employees selected by our Board
of Directors at its discretion The SERP is defined benefit arrangement which provides benefit equal to 60
percent of covered compensation under which benefits paid from the

underlying qualified defined benefit plan
are an offset to the benefits under the SERP

Effective August 2009 we adopted new defined benefit Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan the
2009 SERP for

corporate officers other than such officer who is appointed as member of the Companys
Management Committee division presidents or any other employees selected at the discretion of the Board
Under the 2009 SERP nominal account has been established for each participant to which the Company con
tributes at the end of each calendar year an amount equal to ten percent of the total of each participants base

salary and cash incentive compensation earned during each prior calendar year beginning December 31 2009
The benefits vest after three

years of service and attainment of age 55 and earn interest credits at the same annual
rate as the Companys Pension Account Plan

currently 4.69%

Common stocks domestic equities $1 14799

19984

36714

19509

8084
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On April 2013 due to the retirement of certain executives we recognized settlement loss of $3.2 mil

lion associated with the supplemental plans
and revalued the net periodic pension cost for the remainder of fiscal

2013 The revaluation of the net periodic pension cost resulted in an increase in the discount rate effective

April 2013 to 4.21 percent
which reduced our net periodic pension cost by approximately

$0.1 million for the

remainder of the fiscal year

On October 2013 due to the retirement of one of our executives we recognized settlement loss of

$4.5 million associated with our Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan In association with the retirement on

October 2013 we made $16.8 million benefit payment from the SEBP

Similar to our employee pension plans we review the estimates and assumptions underlying our supple

mental plans annually based upon September 30 measurement date using the same techniques as our employee

pension plans The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for the supplemental plans were

determined as of September 30 2013 and 2012 and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic

pension cost for the supplemental plans were determined as of September 30 2012 2011 and 2010 These

assumptions are presented
in the following table

Pension

Liability Pension Cost

2013 2012 2013 2012 2011

Discount rate
4.95% 4.04% 4.04%1 5.05% 5.39%

Rate of compensation increase
3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 4.00%

The discount rate for the supplemental plans increased from 4.04% to 4.21% effective April 2013 due to

settlement loss recorded in fiscal 2013

The following table presents the supplemental plans accumulated benefit obligation projected benefit obli

gation and funded status as of September 30 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

In thousands

Accumulated benefit obligation
$109817 121815

Change in projected benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
$130186 112115

Service cost
3039 2108

Interest cost
4755 5142

Actuarial gain loss
6451 15459

Benefits paid
4375 4638

Settlements
10074

_________

Benefit obligation at end of year
117080 130186

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year

Employer contribution
14449 4638

Benefits paid
4375 4638

Settlements
10074

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

Reconciliation

Funded status
117080 1301 86

Unrecognized prior
service cost

Unrecognized net loss

Accrued pension cost
$117080 $130186
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Assets for the supplemental plans are held in separate rabbi trusts At September 30 2013 and 2012 assets

held in the rabbi trusts consisted of available-for-sale securities of $44.5 million and $41.8 million which are

included in our fair value disclosures in Note 14

Net periodic pension cost for the supplemental plans for fiscal 2013 2012 and 2011 is recorded as operating

expense and included the following components

Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Components of net periodic pension cost

Service cost 3039 $2108 2768
Interest cost 4755 5142 5825
Amortization of transition asset

Amortization of prior service cost

Recognized actuarial loss 2918 2118 2239
Settlements 3160

Net periodic pension cost $13872 $9368 $10832

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments for our defined benefit plans which reflect expected future service as

appropriate are expected to be paid in the following fiscal years

Pension Supplemental
Plans Plans

In thousands

2014 40640 $22940
2015 36230 6363
2016 34752 6226
2017 33612 6440
2018 33273 6913
2019-2023 156367 34260

Postretirement Benefits

We sponsor the Retiree Medical Plan for Retirees and Disabled Employees of Atmos Energy Corporation

the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan This plan provides medical and prescription drug protection to all qualified

participants based on their date of retirement The Atmos Retiree Medical Plan provides different levels of bene
fits depending on the level of

coverage chosen by the participants and the terms of predecessor plans however
we generally pay 80 percent of the projected net claims and administrative costs and participants pay the remain

ing 20 percent of this cost

As of September 30 2009 the Board of Directors approved change to the cost sharing methodology for

employees who had not met the participation requirements by that date for the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan

Starting on January 2015 the contribution rates that will apply to all non-grandfathered participants will be

determined using new cost sharing methodology by which Atmos Energy will limit its contribution to three

percent cost increase in claims and administrative costs each year If medical costs covered by the Atmos Retiree

Medical Plan increase more than three percent annually participants will be responsible for the additional costs

Generally our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of

ERISA However additional voluntary contributions are made annually as considered necessary Contributions
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are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned

in the future We expect to contribute between $25 million and $30 million to our postretirement
benefits plan

during fiscal 2014

We maintain formal investment policy with respect to the assets in our postretirement
benefits plan to

ensure the assets funding the postretirement benefit plan are appropriately
invested to maintain an acceptable

level of risk We also consider our current financial status when making recommendations and decisions regard

ing the postretirement
benefits plan

We currently invest the assets funding our postretirement
benefit plan in diversified investment funds which

consist of common stocks preferred stocks and fixed income secunties The diversified investment funds may

invest up to 75 percent of assets in common stocks and convertible securities The following table presents asset

allocation information for the postretirement
benefit plan assets as of September 30 2013 and 2012

Actual

Allocation

September30

Security Class

2013 2012

Diversified investment funds
96.8% 97.0%

Cash and cash equivalents
3.2% 3.0%

Similar to our employee pension and supplemental plans we review the estimates and assumptions under

lying our postretirement benefit plan annually based upon September 30 measurement date using the same

techniques as our employee pension plans The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for

our postretirement plan were determined as of September 30 2013 and 2012 and the actuarial assumptions used

to determine the net periodic pension cost for the postretirement plan were determined as of September 30 2012

2011 and 2010 The assumptions are presented in the following table

Postretirement

Liability Postretirement Cost

2013 2012 2013 2012 2011

Discount rate
4.95% 4.04% 4.04% 5.05% 5.39%

Expected return on plan assets
4.60% 4.70% 4.70% 5.00% 5.00%

Initial trend rate
8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%

Ultimate trend rate
5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Ultimate trend reached in
2020 2019 2019 2018 2016
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The following table presents the postretirement plans benefit obligation and funded status as of Sep
tember 30 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

In thousands

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 308315 263694
Service cost

18800 16353

Interest cost
12964 13861

Plan participants contributions 3815 3649
Actuarial gain loss

13801 28815
Benefits paid 14458 13197
Divestitures 3487 4860
Benefit obligation at end of year 312148 308315

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 77072 53065
Actual return on plan assets

13432 12912

Employer contributions 26552 22139
Plan participants contributions 3815 3649
Benefits paid 14458 13197
Divestitures 1496
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 106413 77072

Reconciliation

Funded status 205735 231243
Unrecognized transition obligation

Unrecognized prior service cost

Unrecognized net loss

Accrued postretirement cost $205735 $23 1243

Net periodic postretirement cost for fiscal 2013 2012 and 2011 is recorded as operating expense and
included the components presented below

Fiscal Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Components of net periodic postretirement cost

Service cost $18800 $16353 $14403

Interest cost 12964 13861 12813

Expected return on assets 3988 2607 2727
Amortization of transition obligation 1081 1511 1511
Amortization of prior service credit 1450 1450 1450
Recognized actuarial loss 4196 2648 347

Net periodic postretirement cost $31603 $30316 $24897
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have significant effect on the amounts reported for the plan one-

percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects on the latest

actuarial calculations

One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease

In thousands

Effect on total service and interest cost components 4399 3682
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $36680 $30940

We are currently recovering other postretirement benefits costs through our regulated rates under accrual

accounting as prescribed by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States in substantially all of

our service areas Other postretirement benefits costs have been specifically addressed in rate orders in each

jurisdiction served by our Kentucky/Mid-States West Texas Mid-Tex and Mississippi Divisions as well as our

Kansas jurisdiction and Atmos Pipeline Texas or have been included in rate case and not disallowed

Management believes that this accounting method is appropriate and will continue to seek rate recovery
of

accrual-based
expenses

in its ratemaking jurisdictions that have not yet approved the
recovery

of these expenses

The following tables set forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Retiree Medical Plans assets at

fair value as of September 30 2013 and 2012 The methods used to determine fair value for the assets held by the

Retiree Medical Plan are fully described in Note Assets at September 30 2012 include $1.5 million that were

transferred to the purchaser of our Missouri Illinois and Iowa operations during the first quarter of fiscal 2013

Assets at Fair Value as of September 30 2013

Level Level Level Total

In thousands

Investments

Money market funds $3356

Registered investment companies

Investments

Money market funds

Registered investment companies

Domestic funds

International funds
_______ ______ _______

Total investments at fair value

Domestic funds

International funds

Total investments at fair value

9614

93443

$103057

3356

9614

93443

$106413$3356

Assets at Fair Value as of September 302012

Level Level Level Total

In thousands

$2360

7756

68452

$76208

2360

7756

68452

$78568$2360
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments paid by us retirees and prescription drug subsidy payments for our post-
retirement benefit plans which reflect expected future service as appropriate are expected to be paid in the fol

lowing fiscal years

Total

Company Retiree Subsidy Postretirement

Payments Payments Payments Benefits

In thousands

2014 25547 3899 29446
2015 16628 4915 21543
2016

19260 6049 25309
2017 21216 7304 28520
2018 22550 8677 31227
2019-2023 116617 58595 175212

Defined Contribution Plans

As of September 30 2013 we maintained three defined contribution benefit plans the Atmos Energy Corpo
ration Retirement Savings Plan and Trust the Retirement Savings Plan the Atmos Energy Corporation Savings
Plan for MVG Union Employees the Union 401K Plan and the Atmos Energy Holdings LLC 401K Profit-

Sharing Plan the AEH 401K Profit-Sharing Plan

The Retirement Savings Plan covers substantially all employees in our regulated operations and is subject to

the provisions of Section 40 1k of the Internal Revenue Code Effective January 2007 employees automati

cally become participants of the Retirement Savings Plan on the date of employment Participants may elect

salary reduction up to maximum of 65 percent of eligible compensation as defined by the Plan not to exceed
the maximum allowed by the Internal Revenue Service New participants are automatically enrolled in the Plan at

salary reduction amount of four
percent of eligible compensation from which they may opt out We match 100

percent of participants contributions limited to four percent of the participants salary in our common stock

However participants have the option to immediately transfer this matching contribution into other funds held
within the plan Participants are eligible to receive matching contributions after completing one year of service

Participants are also permitted to take out loans against their accounts subject to certain restrictions In August
2010 the Board of Directors of Atmos Energy approved proposal to close the Pension Account Plan to new
participants effective October 2010 New employees participate in our defined contribution plan which was
enhanced effective January 2011 Employees participating in the Pension Account Plan as of October 2010
were allowed to make one-time election to migrate from the Plan into the Retirement Savings Plan effective

January 2011 Under the enhanced plan participants receive fixed annual contribution of four percent of

eligible earnings to their Retirement Savings Plan account Participants will continue to be eligible for company
matching contributions of up to four

percent of their eligible earnings and will be fully vested in the fixed annual
contribution after three

years of service

The Union 401K Plan covers substantially all Mississippi Division employees who are members of the Inter
national Chemical Workers Union Council United Food and Commercial Workers Union International the
Union and is subject to the provisions of Section 40 1k of the Internal Revenue Code Employees of the Union

automatically become
participants of the Union 401K plan on the date of union membership We match 50 per

cent of participants contribution in cash limited to six percent of the participants eligible contribution Partic

ipants are also permitted to take out loans against their accounts subject to certain restrictions

Matching contributions to the Retirement Savings Plan and the Union 401K Plan are expensed as incurred
and amounted to $10.4 million $10.5 million and $10.2 million for fiscal

years 2013 2012 and 2011 The Board
of Directors may also approve discretionary contributions subject to the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code
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and applicable Treasury regulations No discretionary contributions were made for fiscal years 2013 2012 or

2011 At September 30 2013 and 2012 the Retirement Savings Plan held 4.9 percent and 4.9 percent of our out

standing common stock

The AEH 401K Profit-Sharing Plan covers substantially all AEH employees and is subject to the provisions

of Section 401k of the Internal Revenue Code Participants may elect salary reduction up to maximum of 75

percent of eligible compensation as defined by the Plan not to exceed the maximum allowed by the Internal

Revenue Service The Company may elect to make safe harbor contributions up to four percent of the employ

ee salary which vest immediately The Company may also make discretionary profit sharing contributions to

the AEH 401K Profit-Sharing Plan Participants become fully vested in the discretionary profit-sharing con

tributions after three
years

of service Participants are also permitted to take out loans against their accounts sub

ject to certain restrictions Discretionary contributions to the AEH 401K Profit-Sharing Plan are expensed as

incurred and amounted to $1.1 million $1.2 million and $1.3 million for fiscal years 2013 2012 and 2011

Stock and Other Compensation Plans

Share Repurchase Agreement

On July 2010 we entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement with Goldman Sachs Co

under which we repurchased $100 million of our outstanding common stock in order to offset stock grants made

under our various employee and director incentive compensation plans We paid $100 million to Goldman

Sachs Co on July 2010 in share forward transaction and received 2958580 shares of Atmos Energy

common stock On March 2011 we received and retired an additional 375468 common shares which con

cluded our share repurchase agreement In total we received and retired 3334048 common shares under the

repurchase agreement The final number of shares we ultimately repurchased in the transaction was based gen

erally on the average of the effective share repurchase price of our common stock over the duration of the

agreement which was $29.99 As result of this transaction beginning in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 the

number of outstanding shares used to calculate our earnings per share was reduced by the number of shares

received and the $100 million purchase price was recorded as reduction in shareholders equity

Share Repurchase Program

On September 28 2011 our Board of Directors approved program authorizing the repurchase of up to five

million shares of common stock over 5-year period The program is primarily intended to minimize the dilutive

effect of equity grants under various benefit related incentive compensation plans of the Company The program

may be terminated or limited at any
time Shares may be repurchased in the open market or in privately nego

tiated transactions in amounts the Company deems appropriate As of September 30 2013 total of 387991

shares had been repurchased for an aggregate value of $12.5 million

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Total stock-based compensation expense was $17.8 million $19.2 million and $11.6 million for the fiscal

years ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 primarily related to restricted stock costs

1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In August 1998 the Board of Directors approved and adopted the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan LTIP
which became effective in October 1998 after approval by our shareholders The LTIP is comprehensive long-

term incentive compensation plan providing for discretionary awards of incentive stock options non-qualified

stock options stock appreciation rights bonus stock time-lapse restricted stock time-lapse restricted stock units

performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to certain employees and non-employee directors of the

Company and our subsidiaries The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel

providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the

opportunity to acquire common stock
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As of September 30 2013 we were authorized to grant awards for up to maximum of 8.7 million shares of

common stock under this plan subject to certain adjustment provisions As of September 30 2013 non-qualified

stock options bonus stock time-lapse restricted stock time-lapse restricted stock units performance-based

restricted stock units and stock units had been issued under this plan and 1403439 shares were available for

future issuance The option price of the stock options issued under this plan is equal to the market price of our

stock at the date of grant These stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant and vest annually over

service period ranging from one to three years However no stock options have been granted under this plan

since fiscal 2003 except for limited number of options that were converted from bonuses paid under our

Annual Incentive Plan the last of which occurred in fiscal 2006 We had 7930 stock options outstanding at Sep

tember 30 2013 at $25.96 weighted average exercise price that are currently vested and expire in November

2014

Restricted Stock Grants

As noted above the LTIP provides for discretionary awards of restricted stock units to help attract retain

and reward employees of Atmos Energy and its subsidiaries Certain of these awards vest based upon the passage

of time and other awards vest based upon the passage of time and the achievement of specified performance tar

gets The fair value of the awards granted is based on the market price of our stock at the date of grant The asso

ciated
expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period

Employees who are granted time-lapse restricted stock units under our LTIP have nonforfeitable right to

dividend equivalents that are paid at the same rate at which they are paid on shares of stock without restrictions

Time-lapse restricted stock units contain only service condition that the employee recipients render continuous

services to the Company for period of three years from the date of grant except for accelerated vesting in the

event of death disability change of control of the Company or termination without cause with certain

exceptions There are no performance conditions required to be met for employees to be vested in time-lapse

restricted stock units

Employees who are granted performance-based restricted stock units under our LTIP have forfeitable right

to dividend equivalents that accrue at the same rate at which they are paid on shares of stock without restrictions

Dividend equivalents on the performance-based restricted stock units are paid in the form of shares upon the

vesting of the award Performance-based restricted stock units contain service condition that the employee

recipients render continuous services to the Company for period of three years from the date of grant except

for accelerated vesting in the event of death disability change of control of the Company or termination without

cause with certain exceptions and performance condition based on cumulative earnings per share target

amount

The following summarizes information regarding the restricted stock issued under the plan during the fiscal

years ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011

2013 2012 2011

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Number of Grant-Date Number of Grant-Date Number of Grant-Date

Restricted Fair Restricted Fair Restricted Fair

Shares Value Shares Value Shares Value

Nonvested at beginning of
year 1262582 $32.46 1264142 $29.56 1293960 $27.28

Granted 473775 40.48 532711 33.44 491345 33.10

Vested 657795 32.20 494308 26.32 464321 27.21

Forfeited 25718 33.42 39963 29.83 56842 27.56

Nonvested at end of year 1052844 $36.20 1262582 $32.46 1264142 $29.56
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As of September 30 2013 there was $5.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-

vested time-lapse restricted stock units granted under the LTIP That cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of 1.6 years The fair value of restricted stock vested during the fiscal years ended Sep

tember 30 2013 2012 and 2011 was $21.2 million $13.0 million and $12.6 million

Other Plans

Direct Stock Purchase Plan

We maintain Direct Stock Purchase Plan open to all investors which allows participants to have all or

part of their cash dividends paid quarterly in additional shares of our common stock The minimum initial

investment required to join the plan is $1250 Direct Stock Purchase Plan participants may purchase additional

shares of our common stock as often as weekly with voluntary cash payments of at least $25 up to an annual

maximum of $100000

Outside Directors Stock-For-Fee Plan

In November 1994 the Board of Directors adopted the Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan which was

approved by our shareholders in February 1995 The plan permits non-employee directors to receive all or part of

their annual retainer and meeting fees in stock rather than in cash

Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors

In November 1998 the Board of Directors adopted the Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan

for Non-Employee Directors which was approved by our shareholders in February 1999 This plan amended the

Atmos Energy Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors adopted by the Company in May

1990 and replaced the pension payable under our Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors The plan pro
vides non-employee directors of Atmos Energy with the opportunity to defer receipt until retirement of

compensation for services rendered to the Company invest deferred compensation into either cash account or

stock account and to receive an annual grant of share units for each year of service on the Board

Other Discretionary Compensation Plans

We have an annual incentive program covering substantially all employees to give each employee an oppor

tunity to share in our financial success based on the achievement of key performance measures considered crit

ical to achieving business objectives for given year with minimum and maximum thresholds The Company

must meet the minimum threshold for the plan to be funded and distributed to employees These performance

measures may include earnings growth objectives improved cash flow objectives or crucial customer satisfaction

and safety results We monitor progress towards the achievement of the performance measures throughout the

year and record accruals based upon the expected payout using the best estimates available at the time the accrual

is recorded During the last several fiscal years we have used earnings per share as our sole performance meas

ure
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Details of Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet Captions

The following tables provide additional information regarding the composition of certain of our balance

sheet captions

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable was comprised of the following at September 30 2013 and 2012

September30

2013 2012

In thousands

Billed accounts receivable $230712 $177953
Unbilled revenue 58710 42694
Other accounts receivable 33194 23304

Total accounts receivable 322616 243951

Less allowance for doubtful accounts 20624 9425
Net accounts receivable

$301992 $234526

Other current assets

Other current assets as of September 30 2013 and 2012 were comprised of the following accounts

September30

2013 2012

In thousands

$18099 24707

15152 31359

3141 1291

27091

21666 17114

5511 5872

154571

6765 10777

Total $70334 $272782

As discussed in Note 16 assets and liabilities related to our Georgia operations were classified as assets

held for sale in other current assets and liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets at September 30 2012

Assets from risk management activities

Deferred gas costs

Taxes receivable

Current deferred tax asset

Prepaid expenses

Materials and supplies

Assets held for sale

Other
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Production plant

Storage plant

Transmission plant

Distribution plant

General plant

Intangible plant

Construction in progress

Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization

Net property plant and equipment

September30

2013 2012

In thousands

5020

262246

1362662

5061711

716189

38444 _________

7446272

275747
__________

7722019

1691364
___________

6030655
__________

Regulated

Natural Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage Nonregulated

In thousands

$132422 $34711

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION
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Property plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment was comprised of the following as of September 30 2013 and 2012

5020

232260

1185007

4680877

717568

39626

6860358

274112

7134470

1658866

5475604

Net property plant and equipment includes plant acquisition adjustments of $83.8 million and $91.5 mil

lion at September 30 2013 and 2012

Goodwill

The following presents our goodwill balance allocated by segment and changes in the balance for the fiscal

year
ended September 30 2013

Balance as of September 30 2012 $573550

Deferred tax adjustments on prior

acquisitions1
640

________ _______

Balance as of September 30 2013 $574190
_______ ______

40

$132462

Total

$740683

680

$741363$34711

During the preparation
of the fiscal 2013 tax provision we adjusted certain deferred taxes recorded in con

nection with acquisitions completed in fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2004 which resulted in an increase to goodwill

and net deferred tax liabilities of $0.7 million
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Marketable securities

Regulatory assets

Deferred financing costs

Assets from risk management activities

Other

_______ _______
Total

_______ _______

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of September 30 2013 and 2012 were comprised of the follow

ing accounts

September30

2013 2012

In thousands

Trade accounts payable 70116 82531
Accrued

gas payable 121202 81658
Accrued liabilities 50293 51040

Total
$241611 $215229

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities as of September 30 2013 and 2012 were comprised of the following accounts

September30
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Deferred charges and other assets

Deferred charges and other assets as of September 30 2013 and 2012 were comprised of the following
accounts

September30

2013 2012

in thousands

72682 64398

273287 358495

15199 11157

109354 2283

14474 14929

$484996 $451262

Customer credit balances and deposits

Accrued employee costs

Deferred gas costs

Accrued interest

Liabilities from risk management activities

Taxes payable

Pension and postretirement obligations

Current deferred tax liability

Regulatory cost of removal accrual

Liabilities held for sale

Other

Total

2013 2012

In thousands

76313 $100926

54034 37675

16481 23072

36744 34451

1543 85381

66960 64319

22940 39625

14697

68225 78525

11573

10954 14118

$368891 $489665
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Deferred credits and other liabilities

Deferred credits and other liabilities as of September 30 2013 and 2012 were comprised of the following

accounts
September30

2013 2012

In thousands

Customer advances for construction
11723 $12937

Regulatory liabilities
1123 5638

Asset retirement obligation
6764 10394

Liabilities from risk management activities
6133 9206

Other
17953 12555

Total
$392111 $50730

Leases

Capital and Operating Leases

We have entered into operating
leases for office and warehouse space vehicles and heavy equipment used

in our operations The remaining lease terms range
from one to 21 years and generally provide for the payment of

taxes insurance and maintenance by the lessee Renewal options
exist for certain of these leases We have also

entered into capital leases for division offices and operating facilities Property plant and equipment included

amounts for capital leases of $1.3 million at September 30 2013 and 2012 Accumulated depreciation for these

capital leases totaled $1.0 million and $0.9 million at September 30 2013 and 2012 Depreciation expense for

these assets is included in consolidated depreciation expense on the consolidated statement of income

The related future minimum lease payments at September 30 2013 were as follows

Capital Operating
Leases Leases

In thousands

2014
$186 16722

2015
186 15584

2016
186 14692

2017
186 15074

2018
78 15057

Thereafter
89673

Total minimum lease payments
822 $166802

Less amount representing interest
198

Present value of net minimum lease payments
$624

Consolidated lease and rental expense
amounted to $32.4 million $33.6 million and $35.5 million for fiscal

2013 2012 and 2011
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10 Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

Since April 2009 Atmos Energy and two subsidiaries of AEH Atmos Energy Marketing LLC AEM and
Atmos

Gathering Company LLC AGC collectively the Atmos Entities have been involved in lawsuit filed

in the Circuit Court of Edmonson County Kentucky related to our Park City Gathering Project The dispute
which

gave rise to the litigation involves the amount of royalties due from third party producer to landowners

who own the mineral rights for natural gas produced from the landowners properties The third party producer
was operating pursuant to leases between the landowners and certain investors/working interest owners The third

party producer filed petition in bankruptcy which was subsequently dismissed due to the lack of meaningful
assets to reorganize or liquidate

Although certain Atmos Energy companies entered into contracts with the third party producer to gather
treat and

ultimately sell natural gas produced from the landowners properties no Atmos Energy company had
contractual relationship with the landowners or the investors/working interest owners After the lawsuit was filed
the landowners were successful in terminating for non-payment of royalties the leases related to the production of
natural gas from their properties Subsequent to termination the

investors/working interest owners under such
leases filed additional claims against us for the termination of the leases

During the trial the landowners and the investors/working interest owners requested an award of compensa
tory damages plus punitive damages against us On December 17 2010 the jury returned verdict in favor of the

landowners and investor/working interest owners and awarded compensatory damages of $3.8 million and puni
tive damages of $27.5 million payable by Atmos Energy and the two AEH subsidiaries

hearing was held on February 28 2011 to hear number of motions including motion to dismiss the

jury verdict and motion for new trial The motions to dismiss the jury verdict and for new trial were denied
However the total punitive damages award was reduced from $27.5 million to $24.7 million On
October 17 2011 we filed our brief of appellants with the Kentucky Court of Appeals Court appealing the
verdict of the trial court The appellees in this case subsequently filed their appellees brief with the Court on

January 16 2012 with our reply brief being filed with the Court on March 19 2012 Oral arguments were held in

the case on August 27 2012

In an opinion handed down on January 25 2013 the Court of Appeals overturned the $28.5 million jury
verdict returned against the Atmos Entities In unanimous decision by three-judge panel the Court of Appeals
reversed the claims asserted by the landowners and investors/working interest owners The Court of Appeals
concluded that all of such claims that the Atmos Entities appealed should have been dismissed by the trial court
as matter of law The Court of Appeals let stand the jury verdict on one claim that Atmos Energy and our sub
sidiaries chose not to appeal which was trespass claim The jury had awarded total of $10000 in compensa
tory damages to one landowner on that claim The Court of Appeals vacated all of the other damages awarded by
the jury and remanded the case to the trial court for new trial solely on the issue of whether punitive damages
should be awarded to that landowner and if so in what amount

The investors/working interest owners on February 25 2013 and the landowners on March 19 2013 each
filed with the Supreme Court of Kentucky separate motions for discretionary review of the opinion of the Court
of Appeals We filed

response to the motion filed by the investors/working owners on March 27 2013 and to

the landowners motion on April 17 2013 The decision of the Court of Appeals will not become final until the

appellate process is completed We had previously accrued what we believed to be an adequate amount for the

anticipated resolution of this matter and we will continue to maintain this atnount in legal reserves until the

appellate process in this case has been completed We continue to believe that the final outcome will not have
material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations or cash flows
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In addition in related development on July 12 2011 the Atmos Entities filed lawsuit in the United

States District Court Western District of Kentucky Atmos Energy Corporation et al.vs Resource Energy Tech

nologies
LLC and Robert Thorpe and John Charles against the third party producer

and its affiliates to

recover all costs including attorneys fees incurred by the Atmos Entities which are associated with the defense

and appeal of the case discussed above as well as for all damages awarded to the plaintiffs in such case against

the Atmos Entities The total amount of damages being claimed in the lawsuit is open-ended since the appellate

process
and related costs are ongoing This lawsuit is based upon the indemnification provisions agreed to by the

third party producer in favor of Atmos Gathering that are contained in an agreement entered into between Atmos

Gathering and the third party producer
in May 2009 The defendants filed motion to dismiss the case on

August 25 2011 with Atmos Energy filing brief in response to such motion on September 19 2011 On

March 27 2012 the court denied the motion to dismiss Since that time we have been engaged in discovery

activities in this case

Tennessee Business License Tax

Atmos Energy through itS affiliate AEM has been involved in dispute with the Tennessee Department of

Revenue TDOR regarding sales business tax audits over period of several years AEM has challenged the

assessment of the business tax With respect to certain issues AEM and the TDOR filed competing Partial

Motions for Summary Judgment with the Chancery Court On August 2013 the Chancery Court granted the

TDOR Partial Motion for Summary Judgment and denied AEM Partial Motion for Summary Judgment The

Company anticipates decision by the Chancery Court on the remaining issues in fiscal 2014 AEM has been

assessed $6.1 million in business taxes and $3.7 million in penalties
and interest for the period from December

2002 through March 31 2012 We have accrued what we believe to be an adequate amount for the anticipated

resolution of this matter and we will continue to review and if appropriate adjust this reserve until this matter is

resolved We continue to believe the final outcome will not have material adverse effect on our financial con

dition results of operations cr cash flows

We are party to other litigation
and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of our business While

the results of such litigation
and claims cannot be predicted with certainty we believe the final outcome of such

litigation and claims will not have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations or

cash flows

Environmental Matters

We are party to environmental matters and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of our business

While the ultimate results of response
actions to these environmental matters and claims cannot be predicted

with

certainty we believe the final outcome of such response
actions will not have material adverse effect on our

financial condition results of operations or cash flows because we believe that the expenditures related to such

response
actions will either be recovered through rates shared with other parties or are adequately

covered by

insurance

Purchase Commitments

Our natural gas
distribution divisions except for our Mid-Tex Division maintain supply contracts with

several vendors that generally cover period of up to one year Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are

established under these contracts on monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices Commitments for

incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the

individual contract

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure reliable source of gas for our cus

tomers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market and fixed prices At Sep

tember 30 2013 the estimated commitments under these contracts are $230.5 million for fiscal 2014
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Our nonregulated segment has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts
indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts At September 30 2013 we were committed to

purchase 78.0 Bcf within one year 21.9 Bcf within one to three
years and 1.0 Bcf after three years under indexed

contracts We are committed to purchase 6.1 Bcf within one year and 0.2 Bcf within one to three years under
fixed price contracts with prices ranging from $3.32 to $6.36

per Mcf Purchases under these contracts totaled

$1246.1 million $978.8 million and $1498.6 million for 2013 2012 and 2011

In addition our nonregulated segment maintains long-term contracts related to storage and transportation
The estimated contractual demand fees for contracted

storage and transportation under these contracts as of Sep
tember 30 2013 are as follows in thousands

2014
12662

2015
5113

2016
743

2017
170

2018
142

Thereafter
356

19186

Other Contingencies

In December 2007 the Company received data
requests from the Division of Investigations of the Office of

Enforcement of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission the Commission in connection with its inves

tigation into possible violations of the Commissions posting and competitive bidding regulations for pre
arranged released firm capacity on natural

gas pipelines

The Company and the Commission entered into stipulation and consent agreement which was approved
by the Commission on December 2011 thereby resolving this investigation The Commissions findings of
violations were limited to the nonregulated operations of the Company Under the terms of the agreement the

Company paid to the United States Treasury total civil penalty of approximately $6.4 million and to energy
assistance programs approximately $5.6 million in disgorgement of unjust profits plus interest for violations
identified during the investigation The resolution of this matter did not have material adverse impact on the

Companys financial position results of operations or cash flows and none of the payments were charged to any
of the Companys customers In addition none of the services the Company provides to any of its regulated or
nonregulated customers were affected by the agreement

In July 2010 the Dodd-Frank Act was enacted representing an extensive overhaul of the framework for

regulation of U.S financial markets The Dodd-Frank Act required various
regulatory agencies including the

SEC and the Commodities Futures Trading Commission to establish regulations for implementation of many of
the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act number of those regulations have been adopted we have enacted new
procedures and modified existing business practices and contractual

arrangements to comply with such regu
lations We expect additional regulations to be issued which should provide additional clarity regarding the
extent of the impact of this legislation on us The costs of participating in financial markets for hedging certain

risks inherent in our business may be further increased when these
expected additional regulations are adopted

We also
anticipate that the Commodities Futures Trading Commission will issue additional related reporting and

disclosure obligations
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11 Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense
from continuing operations for 2013 2012 and 2011 were as fol

lows
2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Current

Federal
631 $13298

State
8178 6888 6841

Deferred

Federal
124836 103971 107950

State
9605 13237 5498

Investment tax credits
20 27 172

$142599 98226 $106819

Reconciliations of the provision
for income taxes computed at the statutory rate to the reported provisions

for income taxes from continuing operations for 2013 2012 and 2011 are set forth below

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Tax at statutory rate of 35% $130655 $101648 $103743

Common stock dividends deductible for tax reporting
2153 2096 1930

Penalties
153 66 2292

Recognition settlement of uncertain tax positions
1341 1831 4950

State taxes net of federal benefit
10687 5958 8109

Other net
1916 2735 445

Income tax expense
$142599 98226 $106819
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Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for book
and tax purposes The tax effect of temporary differences that gave rise to significant components of the deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets at September 30 2013 and 2012 are presented below

2013 2012

In thousands

Deferred tax assets

Accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes 11496 7906
Customer advances 4279 4721
Nonqualified benefit plans 52051 48513
Postretirement benefits 63919 62802
Treasury lock agreements 25448
Unamortized investment tax credit

14

Tax net operating loss and credit carryforwards 206996 164419
Difference between book and tax on mark to market accounting 2271 2342
Other net

___________
7223

Total deferred tax assets 341018 323388
Deferred tax liabilities

Difference in net book value and net tax value of assets 1445450 1254698
Pension funding 23480 32812
Gas cost adjustments 19182 21806
Interest rate agreements 21726
Cost expensed for tax purposes and capitalized for book

purposes 2815 2065
Other net 7115

Total deferred tax liabilities 1519768 1311381
Net deferred tax liabilities $1178750 987993

Deferred credits for rate regulated entities 51 140

At September 30 2013 we had $10.1 million of federal alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards
$185.3 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards $11.0 million of state net operating loss carryforwards
and $0.6 million of state tax credits The alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards do not expire The federal

net operating loss carryforwards are available to offset taxable income and will begin to expire in 2029 Depend
ing on the jurisdiction in which the state net operating loss was generated the state net operating loss carryfor
wards will begin to expire between 2016 and 2030 The state tax credits will begin to expire in 2018 We believe
it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain charitable contribution carryforwards will not be realized
In recognition of this risk we have established valuation allowance of $1.1 million for deferred tax assets relat

ing to these charitable contribution carryforwards

At September 30 2013 we had recorded liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions totaling $3.2 mil
lion The realization of these tax benefits would reduce our income tax expense by approximately $3.2 million

Additionally results for fiscal 2012 were favorably impacted by state tax benefit of $13.6 million Due to

the completion of the sale of our Missouri Iowa and Illinois service areas in the fiscal fourth quarter the Com
pany updated its analysis of the tax rate at which deferred taxes would reverse in the future to reflect the sale of
these service areas The updated analysis supported reduction in the deferred tax rate which when applied to the
balance of taxable income deferred to future periods resulted in reduction of the Companys overall deferred

tax liability
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At September 30 2010 we had accrued liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions totaling $6.7 mil

lion During the fiscal year
ended September 30 2011 the IRS completed its audit of fiscal years

2005-2007 All

uncertain tax positions were effectively settled upon completion of the audit As result of the settlement we

reduced our unrecognized tax benefits by $6.7 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2011 Income tax expense

was reduced by $5.0 million in the second quarter due to the realization of the tax positions which were pre

viously uncertain

We file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction as well as in various states where we have oper

ations We have concluded substantially all U.S federal income tax matters through fiscal year
2007

12 Financial Instruments

We use financial instruments to mitigate commodity price risk and interest rate risk The objectives
and strat

egies for using financial instruments have been tailored to our regulated and nonregulated
businesses Currently

we utilize financial instruments in our natural gas
distribution and nonregulated segments We currently do not

manage commodity price risk with financial instruments in our regulated
transmission and storage segment

Our financial instruments do not contain any credit-risk-related or other contingent features that could cause

accelerated payments when our financial instruments are in net liability positions

As discussed in Note we report our financial instruments as risk management assets and liabilities each

of which is classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying finan

cial instrument The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by seg

ment at September 30 2013 and 2012
Natural Gas

Distribution Nonregulated Total

In thousands

September 30 2013

Assets from risk management activities current 1837 $16262 18099

Assets from risk management activities noncurrent 109354 109354

Liabilities from risk management activities current 1543 1543

Liabilities from risk management activities noncurrent 6133 6133

Net assets liabilities
$109648 $10129 $1 19777

September 30 2012

Assets from risk management activities current2 6934 $17773 24707

Assets from risk management activities noncurrent 2283 2283

Liabilities from risk management activities current2 85366 15 85381

Liabilities from risk management activities noncurrent 9206 9206

Net assets liabilities
$76149 8552 67597

Includes $24.8 million of cash held on deposit to collateralize certain financial instruments Of this amount

$8.6 million was used to offset current risk management liabilities under master netting arrangements
and the

remaining $16.2 million is classified as current risk management assets

Includes $23.7 million of cash held on deposit to collateralize certain financial instruments Of this amount

$5.9 million was used to offset current risk management liabilities under master netting arrangements and the

remaining $17.8 million is classified as current risk management assets

The September 30 2012amounts are presented net of assets and liabilities held for sale in conjunction with

the sale of our Georgia operations At September 30 2012 assets and liabilities held for sale included $0.1

million of current assets from risk management activities and $0.3 million of current liabilities from risk

management activities
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Regukited Commodity Risk Management Activities

Although our purchased gas cost adjustment mechanisms essentially insulate our natural gas distribution

segment from commodity price risk our customers are exposed to the effects of volatile natural gas prices We
manage this exposure through combination of physical storage fixed-price forward contracts and financial

instruments primarily over-the-counter swap and option contracts in an effort to minimize the impact of natural

gas price volatility on our customers during the winter heating season

Our natural gas distribution gas supply department is responsible for executing this segments commodity
risk management activities in conformity with regulatory requirements In jurisdictions where we are permitted
to mitigate commodity price risk through financial instruments the relevant regulatory authorities may establish

the level of heating season gas purchases that can be hedged Historically if the regulatory authority does not
establish this level we seek to hedge between 25 and 50 percent of anticipated heating season gas purchases

using financial instruments For the 2012-2013 heating season generally October through March in the juris
dictions where we are permitted to utilize financial instruments we hedged approximately 33 percent or 22.8
Bcf of the winter flowing gas requirements at weighted average cost of approximately $4.03

per Mcf We have
not designated these financial instruments as hedges

Nonregulated Commodity Risk Management Activities

In our nonregulated operations we buy sell and deliver natural
gas at competitive prices by aggregating and

purchasing gas supply arranging transportation and storage logistics and effectively managing commodity price risk

As result of these activities our nonregulated segment is exposed to risks associated with changes in the
market price of natural gas We manage our exposure to such risks through combination of physical storage and
financial instruments including futures over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with

counterparties Future contracts provide the right to buy or sell the commodity at fixed price in the future

Option contracts provide the right but not the requirement to buy or sell the commodity at fixed price Swap
contracts require receipt of payment for the commodity based on the difference between fixed price and the
market price on the settlement date

We use financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges of anticipated purchases and sales at index prices to

mitigate the commodity price risk associated with deliveries under fixed-priced forward contracts to deliver
gas to

customers These financial instruments have maturity dates ranging from one to 55 months We use financial instru

ments designated as fair value hedges to hedge natural gas inventory used in these operations We also use storage
and basis swaps futures and various over-the-counter and exchange-traded options primarily to protect the economic
value of our fixed price and storage books These financial instruments have not been designated as hedges

Our nonregulated risk management activities are controlled through various risk management policies and

procedures Our Audit Committee has oversight responsibility for our nonregulated risk management limits and
policies risk committee comprised of corporate and business unit officers is responsible for

establishing and

enforcing our nonregulated risk management policies and procedures

Under our risk management policies we seek to match our financial instrument positions to our physical

storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations in order to maintain no
open positions at the end of each trading day The determination of our net open position as of any day however
requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances including the use of gas by our customers in relation

to our anticipated storage and market positions Because the price risk associated with any net open position at

the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized we review these assumptions as part of our

daily monitoring activities Our operations can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of
gas prices since the

price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the

day At times limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur At the

close of business on September 30 2013 our nonregulated segment had net open positions including existing

storage and related financial contracts of 0.1 Bcf
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Interest Rate Risk Management Activities

We have periodically managed interest rate risk by entering into financial instruments to fix the Treasury

yield component of the interest cost associated with anticipated financings Prior to fiscal 2012 we used Treasury

locks to mitigate interest rate risk however in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 we started utilizing interest rate

swaps and forward starting interest rate swaps to manage this risk

In August 2011 we entered into three Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the

interest cost associated with $350 million out of total $500 million of senior notes that were issued on Jan

uary 11 2013 This offering is discussed in Note We designated these Treasury locks as cash flow hedges The

Treasury locks were settled on January 2013 with payment of $66.6 million to the counterparties due to

decrease in the 30-year Treasury rates between inception of the Treasury locks and settlement Because the

Treasury locks were effective the $66.6 million unrealized loss was recorded as component of accumulated

other comprehensive income and is being recognized as component of interest expense over the 30-year life of

the senior notes

In the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2012 we entered into an interest rate swap to fix the LIBOR component of our

$260 million short-term financing facility through December 27 2012 We recorded an immaterial loss upon

settlement of the swap which was recorded as component of interest expense as we did not designate the inter

est rate swap as hedge

In October 2012 we entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to fix the Treasury yield component

associated with the anticipated issuance of $500 million and $250 million unsecured senior notes in fiscal 2015

and fiscal 2017 which we designated as cash flow hedges at the time the agreements were executed Accord

ingly unrealized gains and losses associated with the forward startrng interest rate swaps will be recorded as

component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss When the forward starting interest rate swaps

settle the realized gain or loss will be recorded as component of accumulated other comprehensive income

loss and recognized as component of interest expense over the life of the related financing arrangement

Hedge ineffectiveness to the extent incurred will be reported as component of interest expense

In September 2010 we entered into three Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of

the interest cost associated with $300 million of total $400 million of senior notes that were issued in June

2011 We designated these Treasury locks as cash flow hedges The Treasury locks were settled on June 2011

with the receipt of $20.1 million from the counterparties due to an increase in the 30-year Treasury lock rates

between inception of the Treasury locks and settlement Because the Treasury locks were effective the net $12.6

million unrealized gain was recorded as component of accumulated other comprehensive income and is being

recognized as component of interest expense over the 30-year life of the senior notes

Additionally our original
fiscal 2011 financing plans

included the issuance of $250 million of 30-year

unsecured notes in November 2011 to fund our capital expenditure program In September 2010 we entered into

two Treasury lock agreements
to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost associated with the antici

pated issuance of these senior notes which were designated as cash flow hedges Due primarily to stronger than

anticipated cash flows primarily resulting from the extension of the Bush tax cuts that allow the continued use of

bonus depreciation on qualifying expenditures through December 31 2011 the need to issue $250 million of

debt in November was eliminated and the related Treasury lock agreements were unwound in March 2011 As

result of unwinding these Treasury locks we recognized pre-tax cash gain of $27.8 million during the second

quarter
of fiscal 2011

In prior years we entered into several Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the

interest cost of financing for various issuances of long-term debt and senior notes The gains and losses realized

upon settlement of these Treasury locks were recorded as component of accumulated other comprehensive

income loss when they were settled and are being recognized as component of interest expense over the life of

the associated notes from the date of settlement The remaining amortization periods for the settled Treasury

locks extend through fiscal 2043
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Quantitative Disclosures Related to Financial Instruments

The following tables present detailed information concerning the impact of financial instruments on our
consolidated balance sheet and income statements

As of September 30 2013 our financial instruments were comprised of both long and short commodity
positions long position is contract to purchase the commodity while short position is contract to sell the

commodity As of September 30 2013 we had net long/short commodity contracts outstanding in the follow

ing quantities

Natural

Hedge Gas
Contract Type Designation Distribution Nonregulated

Quantity MMcf
Commodity contracts Fair Value 13033

Cash Flow 31195
Not designated 29185 75683

29185 93845
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Financial Instruments on the Balance Sheet

The following tables present
the fair value and balance sheet classification of our financial instruments by

operating segment as of September 30 2013 and 2012 As required by authoritative accounting literature the fair

value amounts below are presented on gross
basis and do not reflect the netting of asset and liability positions

permitted under the terms of our master netting arrangements Further the amounts below do not include $24.8

million and $23.7 million of cash held on deposit in margin accounts as of September 30 2013 and 2012 to

collateralize certain financial instruments Therefore these gross
balances are not indicative of either our actual

credit exposure or net economic exposure Additionally the amounts below will not be equal to the amounts

presented on our consolidated balance sheet nor will they be equal to the fair value information presented
for our

financial instruments in Note

Natural

Gas

Balance Sheet Location Distribution Nonregulated Total

In thousands

September 30 2013

Designated As Hedges

Asset Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts Other current assets
9094 9094

Noncurrent commodity

contracts
Deferred charges and other assets 107512 416 107928

Liability Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts Other current liabilities 12173 12173

Noncurrent commodity

contracts
Deferred credits and other liabilities 1639 1639

Total
107512 4302 103210

Not Designated As Hedges

Asset Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts Other current assets 1837 65388 67225

Noncurrent commodity

contracts
Deferred charges and other assets 1842 40982 42824

Liability Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts Other current liabilities 1543 70876 72419

Noncurrent commodity

contracts
Deferred credits and other liabilities 45892 45892

Total
2136 10398 8262

Total Financial Instruments
$109648 $14700 94948
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September 30 2012

Designated As Hedges

Asset Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts

Noncurrent commodity

contracts

Liability Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts

Noncurrent commodity

contracts

Total

Not Designated As Hedges

Asset Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts

Noncurrent commodity

contracts

Liability Financial Instruments

Current commodity contracts

Noncurrent commodity

contracts

Total

Total Financial Instruments

Other current assets not designated as hedges in our natural
gas distribution segment include $0.1 million

related to risk management assets that were classified as assets held for sale at September 30 2012

Other current liabilities not designated as hedges in our natural gas distribution segment include $0.3 million

related to risk management liabilities that were classified as assets held for sale at September 30 2012

Impact of Financial Instruments on the Income Statement

Hedge ineffectiveness for our nonregulated segment is recorded as component of unrealized
gross profit

and primarily results from differences in the location and timing of the derivative instrument and the hedged
item Hedge ineffectiveness could materially affect our results of operations for the reported period For the years
ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 we recognized gain arising from fair value and cash flow hedge
ineffectiveness of $18.2 million $23.1 million and $24.8 million Additional information regarding ineffective

ness recognized in the income statement is included in the tables below

Balance Sheet Location

Other current assets

Deferred charges and other assets

Other current liabilities

Deferred credits and other liabilities

Other current assets

Deferred charges and other assets

Other current liabilities2

Deferred credits and other liabilities

Natural

Gas

Distribution Nonregulated Total

In thousands

19301 19301

1923 1923

85040 23787 108827

4999 4999

85040 7562 92602

7082 98393 105475

2283 60932 63215

585 99824 100409

67062 67062

8780 7561 1219

$76260 $l5123 91383
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Fair Value Hedges

The impact of our nonregulated commodity contracts designated as fair value hedges and the related hedged

item on our consolidated income statement for the years ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 is presented

below
Fiscal Year Ended September 30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Commodity contracts
2165 $30266 $16552

Fair value adjustment
for natural gas inventory designated as the

hedged item
15938 5797 9824

Total decrease in purchased gas cost $18103 $24469 $26376

The decrease in purchased gas cost is comprised of the following

Basis ineffectiveness 208 1170 803

Timing ineffectiveness
18311 23299 25573

$18103 $24469 $26376

Basis ineffectiveness arises from natural gas
market price differences between the locations of the hedged

inventory and the delivery location specified in the hedge instruments Timing ineffectiveness arises due to

changes in the difference between the spot price and the futures price as well as the difference between the tim

ing of the settlement of the futures and the valuation of the underlying physical commodity As the commodity

contract nears the settlement date spot-to-forward price differences should converge which should reduce or

eliminate the impact of this ineffectiveness on purchased gas
cost

To the extent that the Companys natural gas inventory does not qualify as hedged item in fair-value

hedge or has not been designated as such the natural gas inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market

During the year ended September 30 2012 we recorded $1.7 million charge to write down nonqualifying natu

ral gas inventory to market We did not record writedown for nonqualifying natural gas inventory for the years

ended September 30 2013 and 2011

Cash Flow Hedges

The impact of cash flow hedges on our consolidated income statements for the years ended September 30

2013 2012 and 2011 is presented below Note that this presentation does not reflect the financial impact arising

from the hedged physical
transaction Therefore this presentation is not indicative of the economic gross profit

we realized when the underlying physical and financial transactions were settled

Fical Year Ended September 30 2013

Natural Regulated

Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage Nonregulated Consolidated

In thousands

Loss reclassified from AOCI for effective

portion
of commodity contracts

$10778 $l0778

Gain arising from ineffective portion of

commodity contracts
97 97

Total impact on purchased gas cost 10681 10681

Net loss on settled interest rate agreements

reclassified from AOCI into interest

expense
3489 3489

Total impact from cash flow hedges $3489 $10681 $14170
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30 2012

Natural Regulated

Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage Nonregulated Consolidated

In thousands

Loss reclassified from AOCI for effective

portion of commodity contracts $- $62678 $62678
Loss arising from ineffective portion of

commodity contracts 1369 1369
Total impact on purchased gas cost 64047 64047
Net loss on settled interest rate agreements

reclassified from AOCI into interest

expense 2009 2009
Total impact from cash flow hedges $2009 $64047 $66056

Fiscal Year Ended September 302011

Natural Regulated

Gas Transmission

Distribution and Storage Nonregulated Consolidated

In thousands

Loss reclassified from AOCI for effective

portion of commodity contracts $28430 $28430
Loss arising from ineffective portion of

commodity contracts 1585 1585
Total impact on purchased gas cost 30015 30015
Net loss on settled interest rate agreements

reclassified from AOCI into interest

expense 2455 2455
Gain on unwinding of interest rate

agreement reclassified from AOCI into

miscellaneous income 21803 6000 27803

Total impact from cash flow hedges $19348 $6000 $30015 4667

The following table summarizes the gains and losses arising from hedging transactions that were recognized

as component of other comprehensive income loss net of taxes for the years ended September 30 2013 and
2012 The amounts included in the table below exclude gains and losses arising from ineffectiveness because

these amounts are immediately recognized in the income statement as incurred

Fiscal Year Ended

September30

2013 2012

In thousands

Increase decrease in fair value

Interest rate agreements $79963 $11458
Forward commodity contracts 2057 30366

Recognition of gains losses in earnings due to settlements

Interest rate agreements 2216 1342

Forward commodity contracts 6576 38232

Total other comprehensive income loss from hedging net of tax1 $86698 2250

Utilizing an income tax rate ranging from approximately 37 percent to 39 percent based on the effective rates

in each taxing jurisdiction
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Deferred gains losses recorded in AOCI associated with our interest rate agreements are recognized in

earnings as they are amortized while deferred losses associated with commodity contracts are recognized in

earnings upon settlement The following amounts net of deferred taxes represent the expected recognition in

earnings of the deferred gains losses recorded in AOCI associated with our financial instruments based upon

the fair values of these financial instruments as of September 30 2013 However the table below does not

include the expected recognition in earnings
of the interest rate agreements

entered into in October 2012 as those

financial instruments have not yet
settled

Interest Rate Commodity

Agreements Contracts Total

In thousands

2014
2686 $3748 6434

2015
804 425 1229

2016
634 163 797

2017
735 109 844

2018
936 31 967

Thereafter
24569 24569

Total
$30364 $4476 $34840

Utilizing an income tax rate ranging from approximately 37 percent to 39 percent based on the effective rates

in each taxing jurisdiction

Financial Instruments Not Designated as Hedges

The impact of financial instruments that have not been designated as hedges on our consolidated income

statements for the years
ended September 30 2013 2012 and 2011 was an increase decrease in purchased gas

cost of $3.0 million $2.5 million and $1 .4 million Note that this presentation does not reflect the expected

gains or losses arising from the underlying physical
transactions associated with these financial instruments

Therefore this presentation
is not indicative of the economic gross profit we realized when the underlying phys

ical and financial transactions were settled

As discussed above financial instruments used in our natural gas distribution segment are not designated as

hedges However there is no earnings impact on our natural gas dEstribution segment as result of the use of

these financial instruments because the gains and losses arising from the use of these financial instruments are

recognized in the consolidated statement of income as component of purchased gas cost when the related costs

are recovered through our rates and recognized in revenue Accordingly the impact of these financial instruments

is excluded from this presentation
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13 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

We record deferred gains losses in accumulated other comprehensive income AOCI related to available-
for-sale securities interest rate agreement cash flow hedges and commodity contract cash flow hedges Deferred

gains losses for our available-for-sale securities and commodity contract cash flow hedges are recognized in

earnings upon settlement while deferred gains losses related to our interest rate agreement cash flow hedges
are recognized in

earnings as they are amortized The following table provides the components of our accumu
lated other comprehensive income loss balances net of the related tax effects allocated to each component of
other comprehensive income

Interest

Rate Commodity
Available- Agreement Contracts

for.Sale Cash Flow Cash Flow
Securities Hedges Hedges Total

In thousands

September 30 2012
5661 $44273 $8995 $47607

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 1162 79963 2057 79068
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive

income 1375 2216 6576 7417
Net current-period other comprehensive income loss 213 82179 4519 86485

September 30 2013 5448 37906 $4476 38878

The following table details reclassifications out of AOCI for the fiscal year ended September 30 2013
Amounts in parentheses below indicate decreases to net income in the statement of income

Fiscal Year Ended September 30 2013

Amount Reclassified from
Accumulated Other Affected Line Item in theAccumulated Other Comprehensive Income Components Comprehensive Income Statement of Income

In thousands

Available-for-sale securities 2166 Operation and maintenance
expense

2166 Total before tax

791 Tax
expense

1375 Net of tax

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate agreements 3489 Interest charges

Commodity contracts 10778 Purchased gas cost

14267 Total before tax

5475 Tax benefit

8792 Net of tax

Total reclassifications 7417 Net of tax
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14 Fair Value Measurements

We report
certain assets and liabilities at fair value which is defined as the price that would be received to

sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measure

ment date exit price We record cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable and accounts payable at carry

ing value which substantially approximates
fair value due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities

For other financial assets and liabilities we primarily use quoted market prices and other observable market pric

ing information to minimize the use of unobservable pricing inputs in our measurements when determining fair

value The methods used to determine fair value for our assets and liabilities are fully described in Note

Fair value measurements also apply to the valuation of our pension and post-retirement plan assets The fair

value of these assets is presented in Note

Quantitative
Disclosures

Financial Instruments

The classification of our fair value measurements requires judgment regarding the degree to which market

data are observable or corroborated by observable market data The following tables summarize by level within

the fair value hierarchy our assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on recurring basis as of

September 30 2013 and 2012 As required under authoritative accounting literature assets and liabilities are

categorized
in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement

Quoted Significant Significant

Prices in Other Other

Active Observable Unobservable Netting and

Markets Inputs Inputs Cash September 30

Level Level2 Level Collateral2 2013

In thousands

Assets

Financial instruments

Natural gas distribution segment
$111191 $111191

Nonregulated segment
745 115135 99618 16262

Total financial instruments
745 226326 99618 127453

Hedged portion of gas
stored underground 44758 44758

Available-for-sale securities

Money market funds
4428 4428

Registered investment companies 40094 40094

Bonds __.dP 28160

Total available-for-sale securities 40094 32588 72682

Total assets
$85597 $258914 99618 $244893

Liabilities

Financial instruments

Natural gas
distribution segment

1543 1543

Nonregulated segment
158 130422 124447 6133

Total liabilities
158 $131965 $124447 7676
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9365

________ 179835

189200

1634

40212

________ 22552

________ 24186

________
$213386

85625

191109

$276734

9365

17773

27138

67192

1634

40212

22552

64398

$158728

85625

9221

94846

Significant

Other

Observable

Inputs

Level 2U

Quoted

Prices in

Active

Markets

Level

714

714

67192

September 30
2012

Assets

Financial instruments

Natural gas distribution segment

Nonregulated segment

Total financial instruments

Hedged portion of gas stored underground

Available-for-sale securities

Money market funds

Registered investment companies

Bonds

Total available-for-sale securities

Total assets

Liabilities

Financial instruments

Natural gas distribution segment

Nonregulated segment

Total liabilities

Significant

Other

Unobservable Netting and

Inputs Cash

Level Collateral3

In thousands

162776

162776

$162776

40212

$108118

4563

4563

________ ________ 186451
________

________ _______
$186451

_______

Our Level measurements consist of over-the-counter options and swaps which are valued using market-

based approach in which observable market prices are adjusted for criteria specific to each instrument such

as the strike price notional amount or basis differences municipal and corporate bonds which are valued

based on the most recent available quoted market prices and money market funds which are valued at cost

This column reflects adjustments to our gross financial instrument assets and liabilities to reflect netting

permitted under our master netting agreements and the relevant authoritative accounting literature In addi
tion as of September 30 2013 we had $24.8 million of cash held in margin accounts to collateralize certain

financial instruments Of this amount $8.6 million was used to offset current risk management liabilities

under master netting agreements and the remaining $16.2 million is classified as current risk management
assets

This column reflects adjustments to our gross financial instrument assets and liabilities to reflect netting

permitted under our master netting agreements and the relevant authoritative accounting literature In addi

tion as of September 30 2012 we had $23.7 million of cash held in margin accounts to collateralize certain

financial instruments Of this amount $5.9 million was used to offset current risk management liabilities

under master netting agreements and the remaining $17.8 million is classified as current risk management
assets
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Available-for-sale securities are comprised of the following

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value

In thousands

As of September 30 2013

Domestic equity
mutual funds $27043 $7476 $23 $34496

Foreign equity
mutual funds 4536 1062 5598

Bonds
28016 168 24 28160

Money market funds
4428 4428

$64023 $8706 $47 $72682

As of September 30 2012

Domestic equity mutual funds $25779 $8183 $33962

Foreign equity
mutual funds

5568 682 6250

Bonds
22358 196 22552

Money market funds
1634 _____

1634

$55339 $9061 $64398

At September 30 2013 and 2012 our available-for-sale securities included $44.5 million and $41.8 million

related to assets held in separate
rabbi trusts for our supplemental executive retirement plans as discussed in Note

At September 30 2013 we maintained investments in bonds that have contractual maturity dates ranging from

October 2013 through December 2019 During the year ended September 30 2013 we recognized net gain of

$2.2 million on the sale of certain assets in the rabbi trusts

Other Fair Value Measures

In addition to the financial instruments above we have several financial and nonfinancial assets and

liabilities subject to fair value measures These financial assets and liabilities include cash and cash equivalents

accounts receivable accounts payable and debt The nonfinancial assets and liabilities include asset retirement

obligations and pension and post-retirement plan assets We record cash and cash equivalents accounts receiv

able accounts payable and debt at carrying value For cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable and

accounts payable we consider carrying value to materially approximate
fair value due to the short-term nature of

these assets and liabilities

Atmos Gathering Company AGC owns and operates
the Park City and Shrewsbury gathering systems in

Kentucky The Park City gathering system consists of 23-mile low pressure pipeline and nitrogen removal

unit that was constructed in 2008 The Shrewsbury production gathering
and processing assets were acquired in

2008 at which time we sold the production
assets to third party As result of the sale of the production assets

we obtained 10-year production payment note under which we were to be paid from future production gen

erated from the assets

As discussed in Note 10 AGC is involved in an ongoing lawsuit with the Park City gathering system Due

to the lawsuit and low natural gas price environment the assets have generated operating
losses As result of

these developments in fiscal 2011 we performed an impairment assessment of these assets and determined the

assets to be impaired at which time we recorded pre-tax
noncash impairment loss of approximately $11 million

Due to developments in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 including further operating
losses as result of the

lawsuit and managements decision to focus our nonregulated operations on delivered gas and transportation

services we performed an impairment assessment of these assets and determined the assets to be further

impaired We reduced the carrying value of the assets to their estimated fair value of approximately
$0.5 million
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and recorded pre-tax noncash impairment loss of
approximately $5.3 million We used combination of

market and income approach in weighted average discounted cash flow
analysis that included significant inputs

such as our weighted average cost of capital and assumptions regarding future natural gas prices This is

Level fair value measurement because the inputs used are unobservable Based on this analysis we determined
the assets to be impaired

In February 2008 Atmos Pipeline and Storage LLC subsidiary of AEH announced plans to construct and
operate salt-cavern

storage project in Franklin Parish Louisiana In March 2010 we entered into an option and
acquisition agreement with third party which provided the third

party with the exclusive option to develop the
proposed Fort Necessity salt-dome natural gas storage project In July 2010 we agreed with the third party to
extend the option period to March 2011 In January 2011 the third party developer notified us that it did not plan
to commence the activities required to allow it to exercise the option by Mlarch 2011 accordingly the option was
terminated We evaluated our strategic alternatives and concluded the projects returns did not meet our invest
ment objectives Accordingly in March 2011 we recorded $19.3 million pre-tax noncash impairment loss to
write off

substantially all of our investment in the project

Our debt is recorded at carrying value The fair value of our debt is determined using third party market
value quotations which are considered Level fair value measurements for debt instruments with recent
observable trade or Level fair value measurements for debt instruments where fair value is determined using
the most recent available quoted market price The

following table
presents the carrying value and fair value of

our debt as of September 30 2013

September 30 2013

In thousands

Carrying Amount
$2460000

Fair Value
$2676487

15 Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if customer fails to perform its contractuaj obligations We
engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the

energy
industry and with industrial commercial residential and municipal energy consumers These transactions princi
pally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States We believe that this geographic concen
tration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk Credit risk associated with trade
accounts receivable for the natural gas distribution segment is mitigated by the large number of individual cus
tomers and diversity in our customer base The credit risk for our other segments is not significant

16 Discontinued Operations

On April 2013 we completed the sale of substantially all of our natural gas distribution assets and certain
related nonregulated assets located in Georgia to Liberty Energy Georgia Corp an affiliate of Algonquin
Power Utilities Corp for cash price of approximately $153 million pursuant to an asset purchase agreement
executed on August 2012 In connection with the sale we recognized pre-tax gain of approximately
$8.2 million

On August 2012 we completed the sale of
substantially all of our natural

gas distribution assets located in

Missouri Illinois and Iowa to Liberty Energy Midstates Corp an affiliate of Algonquin Power Utilities

Corp for cash price of approximately $128 million pursuant to an asset purchase agreement executed on
May 12 2011 In connection with the sale we recognized pre-tax gain of

approximately $9.9 million

As required under generally accepted accounting principles the operating results of our Georgia Missouri
Illinois and Iowa operations have been aggregated and reported on the consolidated statements of income as
income from discontinued operations net of income tax Expenses related to general corporate overhead and
interest

expense allocated to their operations are not included in discontinued
operations
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The tables below set forth selected financial and operational information related to net assets and operating

results related to discontinued operations

The following table presents statement of income data related to discontinued operations in our Georgia

Missouri Illinois and Iowa service areas

Year Ended September30

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Operating revenues $37962 $114703 $141227

Purchased gas cost 21464 62902 83537

Gross profit 16498 51801 57690

Operating expenses
5858 24174 27362

Operating income 10640 27627 30328

Other nonoperating income 548 611 57

Income from discontinued operations before income taxes 11188 28238 30385

Income tax expense 3986 10066 12372

Income from discontinued operations 7202 18172 18013

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax 5294 6349

Net income from discontinued operations $12496 24521 18013

The following table presents balance sheet data related to assets held for sale At September 30 2013 we did

not have any assets or liabilities held for sale At September 30 2012 assets held for sale include assets and

liabilities associated with our Georgia operations

September 30
2012

In thousands

Net plant property equipment $142865

Gas stored underground 4688

Other current assets 6931

Deferred charges and other assets 87

Assets held for sale $154571

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2114

Other current liabilities 3776

Regulatory cost of removal 3257

Deferred credits and other liabilities 2426

Liabilities held for sale 11573
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17 Selected Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data is presented below The sum of net income per share by

quarter may not equal the net income per share for the fiscal year due to variations in the weighted average
shares

outstanding used in computing such amounts Our businesses are seasonal due to weather conditions in our serv

ice areas For further information on its effects on quarterly results see the Results of Operations discussion

included in the Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations sec

tion herein

Quarter Ended

December 31 March 31 June30 September30

In thousands except per share data

Fiscal year 2013

Operating revenues

Natural gas distribution 666787 905176 467144 $360386

Regulated transmission and storage 60681 61848 74041 72330

Nonregulated 399894 428948 421808 348061

Intersegment eliminations 93207 86976 105058 95606

1034155 1308996 857935 685171

Gross profit 362362 432751 316497 300440

Operating income 154922 210178 86396 50383

Income from continuing operations 77348 112340 33474 7536

Income from discontinued operations 3117 4085

Gain on sale of discontinued operations 5294

Netincome 80465 116425 38768 7536

Basic earnings per share

Income per share from continuing operations 0.85 1.24 0.37 0.08

Income
per

share from discontinued operations 0.04 0.04 0.06

Net income per share basic 0.89 1.28 0.43 0.08

Diluted earnings per share

Income per share from continuing operations 0.85 1.23 0.36 0.08

Income per share from discontinued operations 0.03 0.04 0.06

Net income per share diluted 088 1.27 0.42 0.08
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Quarter Ended

December31 March 31 June30 September30

In thousands except per share data

Fiscal year 2012

Operating revenues

Natural gas distribution 676113 871067 $315634 $282516

Regulated transmission and storage 56759 58037 67073 65482

Nonregulated 444176 370763 256250 280114

Intersegment eliminations 93054 74358 62543 75546

1083994 1225509 576414 552566

Gross profit 355392 425787 293171 249389

Operating income 139471 202432 81546 22791

Income loss from continuing operations 62384 102084 28014 286

Income from discontinued operations 6123 7027 3118 1904

Gain on sale of discontinued operations 6349

Net income 68507 109111 31132 7967

Basic earnings per share

Income per
share from continuing operations 0.68 1.12 0.31

Income per
share from discontinued operations 0.07 0.08 0.03 0.09

Net income per
share basic 0.75 1.20 0.34 0.09

Diluted earnings per
share

Income per share from continuing operations 0.68 1.12 0.31

Income per share from discontinued operations 0.07 0.08 0.03 0.09

Net income per share diluted 0.75 1.20 0.34 0.09

117



ITEM Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

ITEM 9A Controls and Procedures

Managements Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management including

our principal executive officer and principal financial officer of the effectiveness of the Companys disclosure

controls and procedures as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended Exchange Act Based on this evaluation the Companys principal executive officer and principal

financial officer have concluded that the Companys disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of

September 30 2l to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us including

our consolidated entities in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed

summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SECs rules and forms including reasonable

level of assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management including our

principal executive and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required

disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 3a- 150 in providing reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accord

ance with generally accepted accounting principles Under the supervision and with the participation of our

management including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer we evaluated the effective

ness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 1992 frame

work COSO Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued

by COSO and applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules our management concluded that our

internal control over financial reporting was effective as of September 30 2013 in providing reasonable assur

ance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external pur

poses in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Ernst Young LLP has issued its report on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over finan

cial reporting That report appears below

Is KIM COCKLIN Is BRET ECKERT

Kim Cocklin Bret Eckert

President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

November 13 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FThM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Atmos Energy Corporation

We have audited Atmos Energy Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of Sep

tember 30 2013 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 1992 framework the COSO criteria

Atmos Energy Corporations management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We

believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the compa

nys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis

statements Also projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that con

trols may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies

or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Atmos Energy Corporation maintained in all material respects effective internal control

over financial reporting as of September 30 2013 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated

statements of income comprehensive income shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended September 30 2013 of Atmos Energy Corporation and our report dated November 13 2013

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

Dallas Texas

November 13 2013
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We did not make any changes in our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15f

and 5d-15f under the Act during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended September 30 2013 that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B Other Information

Not applicable

PART III

ITEM 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information regarding directors and compliance with Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of

Shareholders on February 2014 Information regarding executive officers is reported below

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth certain information as of September 30 2013 regarding the executive officers

of the Company It is followed by brief description of the business experience of each executive officer

Years of

Name Age Service Office Currently Held

Kim Cocklin 62 President and Chief Executive Officer

Bret Eckert 46 Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Marvin Sweetin 50 13 Senior Vice President Utility

Operations

Louis Gregory 58 13 Senior Vice President General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary

Michael Haefner 53 Senior Vice President Human
Resources

Kim Cocklin was named President and Chief Executive Officer effective October 2010 Mr Cocklin

joined the Company in June 2006 and served as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company from

October 2008 through September 30 2010 after having served as Senior Vice President Regulated Operations

from October 2006 through September 2008 Mr Cocklin was appointed 10 the Board of Directors on

November 10 2009

Bret Eckert joined the Company in June 2012 as Senior Vice President and on October 2012 he was

appointed Chief Financial Officer Prior to joining the Company Mr Eckert was an Assurance Partner with

Ernst Young LLP where he developed extensive accounting and financial experience in the natural gas

industry over his 22-year career

Marvin Sweetin was named Senior Vice President Utility Operations in November 2011 In this role

Mr Sweetin is responsible for the operations of our six utility divisions as well as customer service safety and

training Mr Sweetin joined the Company in May 2000 and served in variety of leadership positions with

responsibility for procurement customer service training and safety

Louis Gregory was named Senior Vice President and General Counsel in September 2000 as well as

Corporate Secretary in June 2012

Michael Haefner joined the Company in June 2008 as Senior Vice President Human Resources
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Identification of the members of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors as well as the Board of

Directors determination as to whether one or more audit committee financial experts are serving on the Audit

Committee of the Board of Directors is incorporated
herein by reference to the Companys Definitive Proxy

Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 2014

The Company has adopted code of ethics for its principal
executive officer principal financial officer and

principal accounting officer Such code of ethics is represented by the Companys Code of Conduct which is

applicable to all directors officers and employees of the Company including the Companys principal
executive

officer principal financial officer and principal accounting officer copy of the Companys Code of Conduct is

posted on the Companys website at www atmosenergy corn under Corporate Governance In addition any

amendment to or waiver granted from provision
of the Companys Code of Conduct will be posted on the

Companys website under Corporate Governance

ITEM 11 Executive Compensation

Information on executive compensation is incorporated
herein by reference to the Companys Definitive

Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 2014

ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Security ownership of certain beneficial owners and of management is incorporated
herein by reference to

the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February
2014

Information concerning our equity compensation plans is provided
in Part 11 Item Market for Registrants

Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities of this Annual Report

on Form 10-K

ITEM 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information on certain relationships and related transactions as well as director independence
is

incorporated
herein by reference to the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Share

holders on February 2014

ITEM 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information on our principal
accountants fees and services is incorporated herein by reference to the

Companys Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February
2014

PART IV

ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

and Financial statements and financial
statement schedules

The financial statements and financial statement schedule listed in the Index to Financial Statements in

Item are filed as part
of this Form 10-K

Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibits Index are filed as part of this Form 10-K The exhibits

numbered 10.4a through 10.13c are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registranthas duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

Registrant

By BRET ECKERT

Bret Eckert

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

Date November 13 2013
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POWER OF ATTOR4EY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears
below hereby con

stitutes and appoints Kim Cocklin and Bret Eckert or either ofthem acting alone or together as his true and

lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power to act alone for him and in his name place and stead in
any

and all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same with

all exhibits thereto and all other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commis

sion granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act

and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to all intents and purposes as he

might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent may law

fully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated

President Chief Executive Officer

and Director

Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Vice President and Controller

Principal Accounting Officer

Chairman of the Board

Is KIM COCKLIN

Kim Cocklin

Is BRET ECKERT

Bret Eckert

Is CHRISTOPHER FORSYTHE

Christopher Forsythe

Is ROBERT BEST

Robert Best

Is RICHARD lOUGLAS

Richard Douglas

Is RUBEN ESQUIVEL

Ruben Esquivel

Is RICHARD GORDON

Richard Gordon

Is ROBERT GRABLE

Robert Grable

Is THOMAS MEREDITH

Thomas Meredith

Is NANCY QUINN

Nancy Quinn

Is RICHARD SAMPSON

Richard Sampson

Is STEPHEN SPRINGER

Stephen Springer

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

November 13 2013

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

DirectorIs RICHARD WARE II

Richard Ware II
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Schedule II

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Three Years Ended September 30 2013

Additions

Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance

beginning cost other at end
of period expenses accounts Deductions of period

In thousands

2013

Allowance for doubtful accounts 9425 $14484 $3285 $20624

2012

Allowance for doubtful accounts 7440 8901 $6916 9425

2011

Allowance for doubtful accounts $12701 2201 $7462 7440

Uncollectible accounts written off
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Exhibit

Number Description

EXHIBITS INDEX

Item 14.a3

Plan of Acquisition Reorganization

Arrangement Liquidation or Succession

2.1a Asset Purchase Agreement by and between

Atmos Energy Corporation as Seller and Liberty

Energy Midstates Corp as Buyer dated as of

May 12 2011

2.1b Amendment No to Asset Purchase Agreement

2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement by and between

Atmos Energy Corporation as Seller and Liberty

Energy Georgia Corp as Buyer dated as of

August 2012

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Atmos

Energy Corporation Texas As Amended

Effective February 2010

3.2 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Atmos

Energy Corporation Virginia As Amended

Effective February 2010

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Atmos Energy

Corporation as of February 2010

Instruments Defining Rights of Security Holders

including indentures

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate Atmos

Energy Corporation

4.2 Indenture dated as of November 15 1995

between United Cities Gas Company and Bank of

America Illinois Trustee

4.3 Indenture dated as of July 15 1998 between

Atmos Energy Corporation and U.S Bank Trust

National Association Trustee

4.4 Indenture dated as of May 22 2001 between

Atmos Energy Corporation and SunTrust Bank

Trustee

4.5 Indenture dated as of June 14 2007 between

Atmos Energy Corporation and U.S Bank

National Association Trustee

4.6 Indenture dated as of March 23 2009 between

Atmos Energy Corporation and U.S Bank

National Corporation Trustee

4.7a Debenture Certificate for the 3/4% Debentures

due 2028

4.7b Global Security for the 4.95% Senior Notes due

2014

4.7c Global Security for the 5.95% Senior Notes due

2034

Page Number or

Incorporation by
Reference to

Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K dated May 12 2011

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 2.1b to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2012 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K dated August 2012

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-Q dated March 31 2010

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 3.2 to Form 10-Q dated March 31 2010

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K dated February 2010

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 4.1 to Form 10-K for fiscal year ended

September 30 2012 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 4.11a to Form S-3 dated August 31

2004 File No 333-118706

Exhibit 4.8 to Form S-3 dated August 31 2004

File No 333-118706

Exhibit 99.3 to Form 8-K dated May 15 2001

File No 1-10042

Exhibit to Form 8-K dated June 11 2007

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K dated March 26 2009

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K dated July 22 1998

File No 1-10042

Exhibit 102f to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2004 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 102g to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2004 File No 1-10042
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Page Number or

Exhibit Incorporation by
Number Description Reference to

4.7d Global Security for the 6.35% Senior Notes due Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K dated June 11 2007

2017 File No 1.10042

4.7e Global Security for the 8.50% Senior Notes due Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K dated March 26 2009

2019 File No 1.10042

4.7f Global Security for the 5.5% Senior Notes due Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K dated June 10 2011

2041 File No 1-10042

4.7g Global Security for the 4.15% Senior Notes due Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K dated January 2013

2043 File No 1-10042

Material Contracts

10.1a Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of May Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated May 2011

2011 among Atmos Energy Corporation the File No 1. 10042

Lenders from time to time parties thereto The

Royal Bank of Scotland plc as Administrative

Agent Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment

Bank as Syndication Agent Bank of America

N.A U.S Bank National Association and Wells

Fargo Bank N.A as Co-Documentation Agents

10.1b Second Amendment to Revolving Credit Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated December

Agreement made and entered into as of 2012 File No 1-10042

December 2012 by and among Atmos Energy

Corporation Texas and Virginia corporation

the several banks and other financial institutions

from time to time party thereto the Lenders
and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc in its

capacity as Administrative Agent for the Lenders

10.1c Third Amendment to Revolving Credit Exhibit 10.11 to Form 8-K dated August 22 2013

Agreement made and entered into as of File No 1-10042

August 22 2013 by and among Atmos Energy

Corporation Texas and Virginia corporation

the several banks and other financial institutions

from time to time party thereto the Lenders
and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc in its

capacity as Administrative Agent for the Lenders

10.2a Accelerated Share Buyback Agreement with Exhibit 10.6a to Form 10-K for fiscal year

Goldman Sachs Co Master Confirmation ended September 30 2010 File No 1-10042

dated July 2010

10.2b Accelerated Share Buyback Agreement with Exhibit 10.6b to Form 10-K for fiscal year

Goldman Sachs Co Supplemental
ended September 30 2010 File No 1-10042

Confirmation dated July 2010

10.3a Guaranty of Algonquin Power Utilities Corp Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated May 12 2011

dated May 12 2011 1i1eNo 1-10042

10.3b Guaranty of Algonquin Power Utilities Corp Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated August 2012

dated August 2012 File No 1-10042

Executive Compensation Plans and

Arrangements

10.4a Form of Atmos Energy Corporation Change in Exhibit 10.7a to Form 10-K for fiscal year

Control Severance Agreement Tier ended September 30 2010 File No 1-10042
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Exhibit

Number

10.4b Form of Atmos Energy Corporation Change in

Control Severance Agreement Tier II

10.5a Atmos Energy Corporation Executive Retiree

Life Plan

l0.5b Amendment No to the Atmos Energy

Corporation Executive Retiree Life Plan

10.6a Atmos Energy Corporation
Annual Incentive

Plan for Management as amended and restated

February 10 2011

l0.6b Amendment No to the Atmos Energy

Corporation
Annual Incentive Plan for

Management as amended and restated

February 10 2011

10.6c Amendment No to the Atmos Energy

Corporation Annual Incentive Plan for

Management as amended and restated

February 10 2011

10.7a Atmos Energy Corporation Supplemental

Executive Benefits Plan Amended and Restated

in its Entirety August 2007

10.7b Form of Individual Trust Agreement for the

Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan

10.8a Atmos Energy Corporation Supplemental

Executive Retirement Plan As Amended and

Restated Effective as of November 12 2009

10.8b Atmos Energy Corporation
Performance-Based

Supplemental
Executive Benefits Plan Trust

Agreement Effective Date December 2000

10.9 Atmos Energy Corporation Account Balance

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

Effective Date August 2009

10 l0a Mini-Med/Dental Benefit Extension Agreement

dated October 1994

10 10b Amendment No to Mini-Med/Dental Benefit

Extension Agreement dated August 14 2001

10.10c Amendment No to Mini-Med/Dental Benefit

Extension Agreement dated December 31 2002

10.11 Atmos Energy Corporation Equity Incentive and

Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee

Directors Amended and Restated as of

January 12012

10.12 Atmos Energy Corporation Outside Directors

Stock-for-Fee Plan Amended and Restated as of

October 2009

10.13a Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term

Incentive Plan as amended and restated

February 10 2011

Page Number or

Incorporation by

Reference to

Exhibit 10.7b to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2010 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.31 to Form 10-K for fiscal year
ended

September 30 1997 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.3 1a to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 1997 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.14 to Form 10-K for fiscal year
ended

September 30 2011 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.8b to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2012 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.8a to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2008 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q for quarter ended

December 31 2000 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.10b to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2010 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for quarter
ended

31 2000 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.10c to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2010 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.28f to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2001 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.28g to Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2001 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for quarter ended

1ecember 31 2002 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for quarter ended

December 31 2011 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 10.13 to Form 10-K for fiscal year ended

September 30 2010 File No 1-10042

Exhibit 99.1 to Form S-8 dated October 28 2011

File No 333-177593

Description
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Page Number or
Exhibit

Incorporation by
Number Description Reference to

10 l3b Form of Award Agreement of Time-Lapse

Restricted Stock Units under the Atmos Energy

Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan

i0.13c Form of Award Agreement of Performance-

Based Restricted Stock Units under the Atmos

Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive

Plan

12 Statement of computation of ratio of earnings to

fixed charges

Other Exhibits as indicated

21 Subsidiaries of the registrant

23.1 Consent of independent registered public

accounting firm Ernst Young LLP

24 Power of Attorney Signature page of Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended September 30 2013

31 Rule 3a- 14a/i 5d- 14a Certifications

32 Section 1350 Certifications

Interactive Data File

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

i01.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

Linkbase

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

Linkbase

This exhibit constitutes management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement

These certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 by the Companys Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K will not be deemed to

be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by the

Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 except to the extent that

the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference
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